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Item 2.01. Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

On January 29, 2015, Endo International plc (“Endo”) filed a Current Report on Form 8-K to report that Endo completed the merger with Auxilium
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Auxilium”) on January 29, 2015 whereby, pursuant to the Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated

November 17, 2014 (the “Merger Agreement”), among Auxilium, Endo, Endo U.S. Inc., a Delaware corporation and indirect subsidiary of Endo (“HoldCo”),
and Avalon Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and direct subsidiary of HoldCo (“Merger Sub”), Merger Sub merged with and into Auxilium, with
Auxilium continuing as the surviving entity and as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Endo (the “Merger”).

Endo is filing this amendment to the January 29, 2015 Current Report to include the financial information required by Item 9.01.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
(@) Financial statements of business acquired.
The audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and

December 31, 2012 and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income (Loss), Stockholder’s Equity and Cash Flows for the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and accompanying notes, are attached as exhibit 99.1.

The unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2014

and December 31, 2013 and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income (Loss), Stockholder’s Equity and Cash Flows for the
nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and accompanying notes, are attached as exhibit 99.2.

(b)  Pro forma financial information.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and for the year ended December 31, 2013
are attached as Exhibit 99.3 and are included for your reference.

(d)  Exhibits.

Exhibit No. Description

23.1 Consent of Independent Auditors

99.1 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income (Loss),
Stockholder’s Equity and Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and accompanying notes

99.2 Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income (Loss),
Stockholder’s Equity and Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and accompanying notes

99.3 Unaudited pro forma combined financial statements as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and for the year ended

December 31, 2013
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ENDO INTERNATIONAL PLC
(Registrant)

By: /s/ CAROLINE B. MANOGUE

Name: Caroline B. Manogue

Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Legal
Officer

Dated: February 27, 2015



Exhibit No.

23.1
99.1

99.2

99.3

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description
Consent of Independent Auditors
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of

December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income (Loss),
Stockholder’s Equity and Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and accompanying notes

Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income (Loss),
Stockholder’s Equity and Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and accompanying notes

Unaudited pro forma combined financial statements as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and for the year ended
December 31, 2013



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-4, Amendment No. 1 (No. 333-200301) of Endo International
PLC of our report dated February 28, 2014, relating to the financial statements, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Auxilium
Pharmaceutical Inc., which appears in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A of Endo International PLC dated February 27, 2015.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 27, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To Board of Directors and Stockholders of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, of
shareholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
1992 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these
financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on these financial statements, and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Item 9A Controls and Procedures, management has excluded Actient Holdings, LLC (“Actient”) from its assessment of internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2013. We have also
excluded Actient from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Actient is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., whose
total assets and total revenues represent approximately 66% and 27%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 28, 2014



Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, trade, net
Accounts receivable, other
Inventories, current

AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Deferred tax asset
Total current assets
Inventories, non-current
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue, current portion
Deferred rent, current portion
Current portion of term loan
Contingent consideration, current
Total current liabilities
Term loan, long-term portion
Senior Convertible Notes
Deferred revenue, long-term portion
Deferred rent, long-term portion

Contingent consideration, long-term portion

Deferred tax liability

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding

Common stock, $0.01 par value per share; authorized 120,000,000 shares; issued 49,744,521 and 49,419,104 shares at

December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Treasury stock at cost: 145,058 and 136,405 shares at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2013 2012
$ 47,749 $ 35,857
23,437 121,573
89,407 55,859
7,050 1,685
42,498 22,134
13,714 3,762
14,737 530
238,592 241,400
54,561 49,697
35,270 29,220
749,452 0
104,146 0
19,155 7,605
$1,201,176 $ 327,922
$ 940 $ 3,565
121,964 80,740
2,059 11,835
1,185 936
13,609 0
56,741 0
196,498 97,076
241,536 0
293,747 0
24,678 26,288
7,528 4,140
161,903 0
23,821 530
949,711 128,034
0 0
497 494
594,970 525,354
(340,180)  (322,115)
(3,490) (3,337)
(332) (508)
251,465 199,888
$1,201,176 $ 327,922




Net revenues
Operating expenses™:
Cost of goods sold
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Amortization of purchased intangibles
Contingent consideration
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense
Other income, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic

Diluted

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Shares used to compute net income (loss) per common share:

Basic
Diluted

* includes the following amounts of stock-based compensation expense:

Cost of goods sold
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
$ 400,715 $ 395,281 $ 264,315
112,015 78,337 55,662
50,211 45,932 61,948
250,190 185,535 179,887
44,988 0 0
11,396 0 0
468,800 309,804 297,497
(68,085) 85,477 (33,182)
(28,655) (39) (236)
378 506 502
(96,362) 85,944 (32,916)
78,297 0 0
$ (18,065 $ 85944 $  (32,916)
$ 037) $ 176 $ (0.69)
$ 037) $ 174§ (0.69)
49,337,724 48,770,229 47,886,672
49,337,724 49,277,570 47,886,672
$ 154  $ 84 $ 65
2,757 2,919 3,184
12,611 12,004 14,029

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In thousands)

Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Total
Comprehensive income (loss)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

$(18,065) $85944 $(32,916)

105 249 (237)
71 (22) (5)
176 227 (242)

$(17,889) $86,171 $(33,158)




AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Balance, January 1, 2013

Equity component of Senior Convertible Notes

Deferred tax benefit related to issuance of
Senior Convertible Notes

Convertible Note Hedge

Sale of warrants

Issuance of warrants in business acquisition

Exercise of common stock options

Employee Stock Plan Purchases

Issuance of restricted stock

Cancellation of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation

Proceeds from Board of Directors stock
purchases

Treasury stock acquisition

Comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 2013

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
Year Ended December 31, 2013

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated

C stock Additional Treasury Stock other
paid-in Accumulated comprehensive
Shares Amount capital deficit Shares Cost loss Total
49,419,104 $ 494 $525,354 $ (322,115) 136,405 $(3,337) $ (508) $199,888
0 0 64,361 0 0 0 0 64,361
0 0 1,253 0 0 0 0 1,253
0 0 (70,000) 0 0 0 0 (70,000)
0 0 41,475 0 0 0 0 41,475
0 0 12,000 0 0 0 0 12,000
149,304 1 1,319 0 0 0 0 1,320
129,755 1 1,877 0 0 0 0 1,878
10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 —
(250) 0 0 0 0 0 0 —
33,190 0 17,269 0 0 0 0 17,269
3,418 0 62 0 0 0 0 62
0 0 0 0 8,653 (153) 0 (153)
0 0 0 0 0 0 176 176
0 0 0 (18,065) 0 0 0 (18,065)
49,744,521 $ 497  $594,970  $ (340,180) 145,058  $(3,490) $ (332)  $251,465

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2011

Exercise of common stock options

Employee Stock Purchase Plan purchases

Issuance of restricted stock

Proceeds from Board of Directors stock
purchases

Stock based compensation

Treasury stock acquisition

Other comprehensive income

Net income

Balance, December 31, 2012

AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

Year Ended December 31, 2012

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated
C stock Additional Treasury stock other
paid-in Accumulated comprehensive
Shares Amount capital deficit Shares Cost loss Total
48,236,137 $ 482 $495949 $ (408,059) 131,591 $(3,239) $ (735) 84,398
960,864 10 10,497 0 0 0 0 10,507
153,260 2 2,522 0 0 0 0 2,524
43,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4,956 0 106 0 0 0 0 106
20,187 0 16,280 0 0 0 0 16,280
0 0 0 0 4,814 (98) 0 (98)
0 0 0 0 0 0 227 227
0 0 0 85,944 0 0 0 85,944
49,419,104 494 525,354 (322,115) 136,405  (3,337) (508) 199,888

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2010

Exercise of common stock options

Employee Stock Purchase Plan purchases

Proceeds from Board of Directors stock
purchases

Stock based compensation

Cancellation of restricted shares

Treasury stock acquisition

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 2011

AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
Year Ended December 31, 2011

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated
C stock Additional Treasury stock other
paid-in Accumulated comprehensive
Shares A capital deficit Shares Cost loss Total
47,904,563 $ 479 $472,665 $ (375,143) 123,539 $(3,065) $ (493) $ 94,443
270,453 3 2,907 0 0 0 0 2,910
55,292 1 921 0 0 0 0 922
7,205 0 134 0 0 0 0 134
1,750 0 19,322 0 0 0 0 19,322
(3,126) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 8,052 (174) 0 (174)
0 0 0 0 0 0 (242) (242)
0 0 0 (32,916) 0 0 0  (32,916)
48,236,137 $ 482 495,949 (408,059) 131,591  (3,239) $ (735) $ 84,398

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Amoritization of purchased intangibles
Amoritization of debt discount and issuance costs
Contingent consideration
Release of valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable
Increase in inventories
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses, other current assets and other assets
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in deferred rent
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property and equipment

Purchases of short-term investments
Redemptions of short-term investments

Sales and redemptions of long-term investments
Purchases of other assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of term loan, net of issuance costs
Repayment of term loan

Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt, net of issuance costs
Payments of contingent consideration

Purchase of convertible note hedge

Proceeds from sale of warrants

Employee Stock Purchase Plan purchases

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

Proceeds from Board of Directors stock purchases

Purchases of treasury stock

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental data:

Business acquisitions:
Fair value of assets acquired, net of cash acquired
Purchase consideration representing compensation
Fair value of liabilities assumed and contingent consideration
Fair value of warrants isssued
Net cash paid for acquisitions

Interest paid

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ (18,065) $ 85944  $ (32,916)
10,873 18,089 8,002
15,522 15,007 17,278
44,988 0 0
13,618 0 0
11,396 0 0
(77,919) 0 0
(13,276) (12,404) (11,607)
(1,890) (17,455) (12,256)
2,340 (2,372) (4,926)
11,509 2,185 25,754
(11,385) (89,814) 42,220
433 (1,461) (850)
(11,856) (2,281) 30,699
(620,493) 0 0
(10,386) (8,762) (6,644)
(76,995) (191,496) (156,370)
175,078 186,723 39,372
1,600 1,100 400
0 0 (1,900)
(531,196) (12,435) (125,142)
262,852 0 0
(9,617) 0 0
338,921 0 0
(11,762) 0 0
(70,000) 0 0
41,475 0 0
1,878 2,524 922
1,320 10,507 2,910
62 106 134
(153) (98) (174)
554,976 13,039 3,792
(32) 1) (21)
11,892 (1,678) (90,672)
35,857 37,535 128,207
$ 47,749 $ 35,857 $ 37,535
$ 958,158 0 0
8,309 0 0
(333,974) 0 0
(12,000) 0 0
$ 620,493 0 0
$ 12,582 0 0




AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(1) Organization and Description of Business

(a) The Company

Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. along with its subsidiaries, or the “Company” is a specialty biopharmaceutical company with a focus on developing
and marketing products to predominantly specialist audiences.

The Company currently markets 12 products (including one product with two indications) in the urology, orthopedic, respiratory and other areas in the
U.S. and, where indicated below, internationally through our respective collaborators:

»  Testim 1% (testosterone gel), a topical TRT for the treatment of hypogonadism

. Ferring International Center S.A. (“Ferring”) markets Testim in certain countries of the EU and Paladin Labs Inc. (“Paladin”) (which is in
the process of being acquired by Endo Health Solutions Inc. (“Endo”) markets Testim in Canada

+ TESTOPEL, a long-acting implantable TRT product

* STENDRA, a new first-line oral therapy for ED, for which the Company also has Canadian marketing rights, launched in the U.S. in January
2014,

*  Edex the leading branded non-oral drug for ED

*  Osbon ErecAid, the leading vacuum device for treating ED

e Striant®, a buccal TRT

*  XIAFLEX for the treatment of adult DC patients with a palpable cord

. Swedish Orphan Biovitrium AB (“Sobi”) has marketing rights for XIAPEX® (the European Union “EU”) tradename for collagenase
clostridium histolyticum) in 71 Eurasian and African countries;

. Asahi Kasei Pharma Corporation (“Asahi Kasei”) has development and commercial rights for XIAFLEX in Japan; and
. Actelion Pharmaceuticals Ltd (“Actelion”) has development and commercial rights for XIAFLEX in Canada, Australia and Brazil

*  XIAFLEX for the treatment of PD in men with a palpable plaque and a curvature deformity of thirty degrees or greater at the start of therapy
which was launched in the U.S. in January 2014 and is the first and only FDA-approved non-surgical treatment for PD

»  Five non-promoted products, including the following two respiratory products:
. Theo-24® for the treatment of COPD and asthma; and
. Semprex-D® for the treatment of seasonal allergic rhinitis.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(1) Organization and Description of Business (Continued)
For the period covered by this Report, our pipeline included:
Regulatory Review:

+  The Company submitted in December 2013 a supplemental Biologics License Application (“sBLA”) to the FDA approval of XIAFLEX for the
treatment of multiple DC cords concurrently.

*  The Company’s strategic partner, VIVUS, Inc. (“VIVUS”) submitted in November 2013 a request for a label expansion for an approximately 15-
minute onset of action efficacy claim for STENDRA.

Phase 2:

»  XIAFLEX for the treatment of edematous fibrosclerotic panniculopathy (“EFP”), commonly known as cellulite, with a Phase 2a trial having
commenced in October 2013.

»  XIAFLEX for the treatment of Adhesive Capsulitis, commonly known as Frozen Shoulder syndrome, with a Phase 2b trial having commenced in
December 2013.

Testosterone

* In 2013, the Company conducted initial clinical studies for a potential high concentration testosterone gel product. However, the Company does
not believe that the clinical results from such studies and current market conditions warrant further development for this product candidate at this
time.

(b) Liquidity

The Company commenced operations in the fourth quarter of 1999. The Company has been dependent upon external financing, including primarily
bank borrowings and private and public sales of securities, to fund operations. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had an accumulated deficit of
approximately $340,180.

While the Company believes that its current investment balances, the proceeds from the term loan borrowings and convertible notes offering discussed
in Note 12 and 13, respectively, and expected future operating cash inflows are sufficient for the Company to fund operations for the next twelve months, the
Company may require additional financing in the future to execute its intended business strategy. There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to
obtain additional debt or equity financing on terms acceptable to the Company, when and if needed. Failure to raise needed funds on satisfactory terms could
have a material impact on the Company’s business, operating results or financial condition.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain amounts in the consolidated financial statements for prior periods have
been reclassified to conform to current presentation.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

(c) Translation of Foreign Financial Statements

The Company established a foreign subsidiary in the United Kingdom in 2000, which uses the pound sterling as its functional currency. Assets and
liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiary are translated at the year-end rate of exchange. The statements of operations and cash flows for this subsidiary
are translated at the average rate of exchange for the year. Gains or losses from translating foreign currency financial statements are accumulated in other
comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity.

(d) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, restricted cash deposits and
long-term investments are stated at fair value. Due to their short-term maturity, the carrying amounts of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
expenses approximate fair value.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(e) Revenue Recognition

Net revenues for the three years ended December 31, 2013 comprise the following:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Testim revenues—
Net U.S. product sales $206,240 $233,441 $205,061
International revenues 4,933 4,039 2,842
211,173 237,480 207,903
XIAFLEX revenues—
Net U.S. product sales 62,535 55,174 44,009
International revenues 17,605 102,627 12,403
80,140 157,801 56,412
Other net U.S. revenue
TESTOPEL 59,975 0 0
Edex 21,884 0 0
Other 27,543 0 0
109,402 0 0
Total net revenues $400,715 $395,281 $264,315

Net U.S. revenues shown in the above table represent the product sales of the Company within the U.S., net of allowances provided on such sales.
International revenues represent the amortization of deferred up-front and milestone payments the Company has received on its out-licensing agreements,
together with royalties earned on product sales by the licensees.

Revenue is recognized when the following revenue recognition criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; the selling price is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured.

U.S. product sales—

In the U.S., the Company’s products are sold to wholesalers, which are provided fees for service based on shipment activity. The product return policies
of the Company permit product returns during a specified period, dependent on the specific product, prior to the product’s expiration date until a certain
number of months subsequent to the expiration date. Future product returns are estimated based on historical experience of the Company. The Company
accrues the contractual rebates per unit of product for each individual payor plan using the most recent historically invoiced plan prescription volumes,
adjusted for each individual plan’s prescription growth or contraction. In addition, the Company provides coupons to physicians for use with Testim
prescriptions as promotional incentives and the Company established in September 2011 a co-pay assistance program for XIAFLEX prescriptions. A contract
service provider is utilized to process and pay claims to patients for actual coupon usage. All revenue from product sales are recorded net of the applicable
provisions for
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wholesaler management fees, returns, rebates, and discounts in the same period the related sales are recorded. As products of the Company become more
widely used and as the Company continues to add managed care and PBMs, actual results may differ from the Company’s previous estimates. To date,
differences between Company estimates and actual experience have not resulted in any material adjustments to its operating results.

In the first quarter of 2012, the Company recorded a correction of an error in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 that resulted
from an understatement of the accrual for government health plan charge-backs. This correction reduced Net revenues and Net income reported for the year
ended December 31, 2012 in the amount of $820. Management believes this adjustment is not material to the Company’s results of operations for 2012 and
2011.

In the first quarter of 2011, the Company began recognizing revenue for XIAFLEX product shipments at the time of delivery of XIAFLEX to the
Company’s U.S. customers, which are primarily a limited number of wholesalers, specialty pharmacies and specialty distributors who ship the product on an
as needed basis to individual healthcare providers. In contrast, prior to 2011 the recognition of revenue and related product costs for XIAFLEX product
shipments was deferred until those wholesalers, specialty pharmacies and specialty distributors shipped product to physicians for administration to patients
because the Company could not initially assess the flow of XIAFLEX through its distribution channel as it was new to the marketplace. As a result of this
change in revenue recognition, net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 include a benefit of $1,804 (representing revenue previously deferred, net
of allowances of $59) and the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 includes a benefit of $1,743, or $0.04 per share (representing the net revenue
benefit partially offset by the related cost of goods sold).

Collaboration and out-license agreements—

International contract revenues shown in the above table represent the amortization of deferred up-front, milestone payments and royalty payments
previously received under the collaboration and out-licensing agreements. These agreements contain multiple elements. The Company evaluates all
deliverables within an arrangement to determine whether or not each deliverable has stand-alone value to its partners. Based on this evaluation, deliverables
are separated into units of accounting. Several deliverables may be combined into a single unit of accounting in order to establish stand-alone value.
Arrangement consideration is allocated to each unit of accounting based on estimated selling price. For units of accounting for which delivery has been made
and there is no further performance obligations, revenue is recognized when the related consideration is fixed and determinable and collectability is
reasonably assured. Where the Company has continuing performance obligations, revenue is recognized over the performance period. In the case of license,
development and marketing deliverables, such deliverables are normally combined into a single unit of accounting. The related consideration is recognized as
revenue over the term of the arrangement. In addition, unless evidence suggests otherwise, revenue from consideration received is recognized on a straight-
line basis over the expected period of the arrangement during which continuing performance obligations exist. If the estimated term of the arrangement
changes, a cumulative catch-up adjustment on the date of such change is recorded under the contingency-adjusted performance model of accounting in order
to reflect the revised contract term.
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As part of the Pfizer Agreement, the Company received up front and milestone cash payments from Pfizer. The agreement with the Company’s licensor
for XIAFLEX, BioSpecifics, required that the Company pay a portion of this amount to them. These amounts were recorded as deferred revenues and
deferred costs, respectively, on the Company’s balance sheet at the time paid and the Company was required under U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) to amortize the deferred revenues and deferred costs into its income statement over the course of the Pfizer collaboration agreement.
The Company originally estimated that the life of the Pfizer Agreement would be 20 years. When the agreement to mutually terminate the collaboration was
reached, with a termination date of April 24, 2013, the balance of the deferred revenues and costs that existed at that time on the Company’s balance sheet
was required to be adjusted to record the cumulative impact of the revised, shorter life of the agreement.

At September 30, 2012 the balance of deferred revenues related to the Pfizer Agreement was $103,404 and the balance of the deferred costs was
$9,311. In the fourth quarter of 2012 the Company recorded $93,601 in revenue and $8,429 in cost of goods sold as the amortization of these deferred
revenues and costs, respectively. Had the Company not reached agreement with Pfizer to mutually terminate the Pfizer Agreement, it would have recognized
$1,593 and $143 of revenue and costs, respectively. Therefore, the impact of this change in estimate of the life of the Pfizer Agreement was an increase in
2012 revenues of $92,008, cost of goods sold of $8,285 and net income of $83,723, or $1.70 per share, fully diluted (representing the incremental $92,008 in
deferred revenues less the incremental $8,285 in deferred costs). The remaining deferred revenue and deferred cost balances of $9,803 and $883, respectively,

were amortized into the Company’s income statement in 2013.

In addition, in the case of contingent consideration related to this single unit of accounting is earned during the performance period, the Company will
record as revenue a cumulative catch-up adjustment on the date the contingent consideration is earned for the period of time since contract commencement
through the date the milestone.

Customer concentration—

The following individual customers each accounted for at least 10% of total product shipments for any of the respective periods:

Years Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
AmerisourceBergen Corporation 29% 23% 23%
Cardinal Health, Inc. 25% 34% 35%
McKesson Corporaton _27% _34% _33%

Bl%  91%  _ow%

(f) Cash Equivalents, Short-term and Long-term Investments

Investments classified as Cash equivalents, Short-term investments and Long-term investments are considered to be “available for sale”. Cash
equivalents include only securities having a maturity of
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three months or less at the time of purchase. These investments are carried at fair value and unrealized gains and losses on them are recorded as a separate
component of Stockholders’ equity in Accumulated other comprehensive loss. All realized gains and losses on these investments are recognized in results of

operations.

(g) Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable, trade consist of amounts due from wholesalers for the purchase of products. Ongoing credit evaluations of customers are
performed and collateral is generally not required.

Accounts receivable, trade are net of allowances for cash discounts, actual returns and bad debts of $2,985 and $1,384 at December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

The following individual customers each accounted for at least 10% of accounts receivable, trade on either of the respective dates:

December 31,
2013 2012
AmerisourceBergen Corporation 47% 35%
Cardinal Health, Inc. 15% 23%
McKesson Corporaton 24% 34%
86% 92%

(h) Inventories

The Company operates production facilities for XIAFLEX and TESTOPEL. All other products are supplied to the Company under agreements with
various contract manufacturers. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory costs for the Company’s
internal manufacturing operations assume full absorption of direct and indirect manufacturing costs and normal capacity utilization. Excess or idle capacity
costs, resulting from the plant utilization below normal capacity, if incurred, are recognized as Cost of goods sold in the period incurred. To date, there have
been no excess or idle capacity charges.

Inventory costs are based on the Company’s judgment of net realizable value considering probable future commercial use and net realizable value.
Inventories produced prior to approval are expensed unless management believes it is probable that the inventory will be salable. The Company continually
evaluates and provides reserves for inventory on hand that is in excess of expected future demand or that is not expected to meet approved or anticipated
specifications. Inventories expected to be utilized in the next 12-month period are classified as current, and inventories expected to be utilized beyond that
period are classified as non-current. In determining the classification of inventory, the Company considers a number of factors, including historical sales
experience and trends, wholesaler inventory levels, estimates of future sales growth and forecasts of demand provided by the Company’s collaboration

partners.
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(i) Concentration of Supply

The Company has limited sources of supply for raw materials for its products. The Company attempts to mitigate the risk of supply interruption by
maintaining adequate safety stock of raw materials and by scheduling production runs to create safety stock of finished goods. The Company evaluates
secondary sources of supply for all its raw materials and finished goods. The Company does not have any long-term minimum commitments for finished
goods production or raw materials (see Note 14).

(j) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and costs of improvements are capitalized.
Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of the related assets. Amortization of leasehold improvements is
recognized using the straight-line method based on the shorter of the estimated useful life of the related assets or the remaining lease term.

(k) Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill

Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable or its useful life has declined, the
Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets for potential impairment or it’s remaining useful life. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.

Goodwill is tested annually or more frequently if changes in circumstance or the occurrence of events suggests impairment may exist. To determine if
there is goodwill impairment, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying amount. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the fair value of the goodwill is less than the carrying amount of the goodwill. In the Company’s
specific circumstances, the balance of Goodwill has been assigned to the Company’s single reporting unit, which is the single operating segment by which the
chief decision maker manages the Company. For purposes of assessing the impairment of goodwill, the Company has selected the date of November 30 for its
annual testing and uses its market capitalization as an input to its determination of fair value.

Included in Other assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 is the unamortized balance of the license agreement payment to BioSpecifics, associated
with the up-front and milestone payments received under the out-licensing agreements with Actelion, Asahi Kasei, and, for 2012, Pfizer (see Note 10). These
payments are being amortized over the estimated life of the related agreement. In addition, as discussed Note 2(e) above and Note 10, the Company recorded
in 2012 a change in estimate of the Pfizer Agreement deferred cost to reflect its revised term.
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(1) Contingent Consideration

Contingent consideration was recorded on the balance sheet at the acquisition date fair value based on the consideration expected to be transferred,
discounted to present value of such payments. The discount rate is determined at the time of measurement in accordance with accepted valuation methods.
Each period thereafter, the fair value of contingent consideration is remeasured at the estimated fair value at each reporting period with the change in fair
value recognized as income or expense in operating income. Increases or decreases in fair value of contingent consideration can result from updates to
assumptions such as the expected timing or probability of achieving the specified milestones, changes in projected revenues and related royalty payments or
changes in discount rates. Significant judgment is employed in determining these assumptions as of the acquisition date and for each subsequent period.
Updates to assumptions could have a significant impact on Company’s results of operations in any given period. Actual results may differ from estimates.

(m) Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs include salaries and related expenses for development personnel and fees and costs paid to external service providers.
These costs also include certain costs of operation of the Horsham manufacturing facilities for development of a larger scale manufacturing process and other
projects. Costs of external service providers include both clinical trial costs and the costs associated with non-clinical support activities such as toxicology
testing, manufacturing process development and regulatory affairs. External service providers include contract research organizations, contract manufacturers,
toxicology laboratories, physician investigators and academic collaborators. Research and development costs, including the cost of product licenses prior to
regulatory approval, are charged to expense as incurred.

(n) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset-and-liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss
and tax credit carryforwards. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the balance sheet date using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
the period such tax rate changes are enacted. Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are classified as income tax expense.
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(o) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures the compensation costs for all share-based awards made to the Company’s employees and directors, including stock options
and employee stock purchases under the Company’s employee stock purchase plan, based on fair values on the date of grant. The fair value of stock options is
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Pre-vesting forfeitures are estimated in the determination of total stock-based compensation cost
based on Company experience. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is expensed ratably over the requisite service period as
compensation expense in the consolidated statement of operations. For awards that limit performance requirements to continuing service, the Company uses
the straight-line method to amortize compensation cost for the full award to expense over their vesting period. For awards with other performance
requirements, the graded vesting method of amortization is utilized under which the cost of each vesting tranche of an award is amortized to expense over the
period from grant to vesting date.

(p) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances
from non-owner sources, including foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities. The Company’s
comprehensive income (loss) is presented in Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

(q) Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic income (loss) per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
income (loss) per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and, if there is net income during the
period, the dilutive impact of common stock equivalents outstanding during the period. Common stock equivalents are measured using the treasury stock
method.
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The following is a reconciliation of net income and weighted average common shares outstanding for purposes of calculating basic and diluted income
per common share.

Years Ended December 31,

Basic income (loss) per share: 2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ (18,065) $ 85944 $ (32,916)
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 49,369,405 48,802,870 47,913,012
Weighted-average unvested restricted common shares subject to

forfeitureshares 31,681 32,641 26,340
Shares used in calculating basic net income (loss) per common

share 49,337,724 48,770,229 47,886,672
Basic net income (loss) per common share $ (0.37) $ 1.76 $ (0.69)

Years Ended December 31,

Diluted income (loss) per share: 2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ (18,065) $ 85,944 $ (32,916)
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 49,369,405 48,802,870 47,913,012
Weighted-average unvested restricted common shares subject to

forfeitureshares 31,681 32,641 26,340
Incremental shares from assumed conversions of stock

compensations plans 0 507,341 0
Shares used in calculating diluted net income (loss) per common

share 49,337,724 49,277,570 47,886,672
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ (0.37) $ 1.74 $ (0.69)

Diluted net income per common share is computed giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities. The potentially dilutive shares include outstanding
stock options and awards, outstanding warrants, and incremental shares issuable upon conversion of the 2018 Convertible Notes (See Note 13, Senior
Convertible Notes). The following weighted-average number of stock options and awards were antidilutive and, therefore, excluded from the computation of
diluted net income per common share for the year ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011: 6,488,298; 5,983,597 and 5,180,266, respectively.

The Company has 1,250,000 warrants outstanding issued in connection with the acquisition of Actient as discussed in Note (3) and 14,481,950
warrants sold in connection with the issuance of convertible debt as discussed in Note (13). The warrants are not considered in calculating the total dilutive
weighted average shares outstanding until the price of the Company’s common stock exceeds the strike price of the warrants. When the market price of the
Company’s common stock exceeds the strike price of the warrants, the effect of the additional shares that may be issued upon exercise of the warrants will be
included in total dilutive weighted average shares outstanding using the treasury stock method if the impact of their inclusion is dilutive.
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It is the current intent and policy of the Company to settle conversions of the 2018 Convertible Notes through combination settlement, which involves
repayment of the principal amount in cash and any excess of the conversion value over the principle amount (the “conversion spread”) in shares of common
stock. Therefore, only the impact of the conversion spread will be included in total dilutive weighted average shares outstanding using the treasury stock
method. As such, the 2018 Convertible Notes will have no impact on diluted per share results until the price of the Company’s common stock exceeds the
conversion price.

The call options to purchase the Company’s common stock, which were purchased to hedge against potential dilution upon conversion of the 2018
Convertible Notes, as discussed in Note (13), are not considered in calculating the total dilutive weighted average shares outstanding, as their effect would be
anti-dilutive. Upon exercise, the call options will mitigate the dilutive effect of the 2018 Convertible Notes.

(r) Segment Information

The Company is managed and operated as one business. The entire business is managed by a single management team that reports to the chief
executive officer. The Company does not operate separate lines of business or separate business entities with respect to any of its product candidates.
Accordingly, the Company does not prepare discrete financial information with respect to separate product areas and does not have separately reportable
segments.

(s) Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, included in selling, general and administrative expenses, are charged to expense as incurred. Advertising expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $10,746, $16,877, and $17,669, respectively.

(t) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of prior years’ data have been made to conform to the current year presentation.

(u) New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) on income taxes, which provides
guidance on the financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss, or tax credit
carryforward exists. This guidance is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2014. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of this guidance
will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued an ASU on reporting of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income. This guidance,
which is effective for fiscal years beginning
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after December 15, 2012, requires companies to provide information about amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by
component (the respective line items of the income statement). The Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2013 and its adoption did not have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2011, the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting guidance on disclosures about offsetting assets and liabilities. The guidance
requires an entity to disclose both gross and net information about financial instruments and derivative instruments that are eligible for offset in the
consolidated balance sheet or subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement. In January 2013, the FASB clarified that this
guidance applies only to derivatives, repurchase agreements and reverse purchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions
that are either offset in accordance with specific criteria contained in the accounting guidance or subject to a master netting arrangement or similar agreement.
The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those annual periods. The Company
adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2013 and its adoption did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

(3) Business Acquisitions
(a) Actient

The Company completed the acquisition of Actient on April 26, 2013 to expand its specialty therapeutic offerings and expects to benefit from greater
leverage in its commercial infrastructure and significant cross-selling opportunities. The total consideration for Actient included base cash consideration of
$585,000 plus adjustments for working capital and cash acquired, contingent consideration based on future sales of certain acquired products, and the
issuance of 1,250,000 warrants to purchase the Company common stock. The Company funded the cash payments with cash on hand and a $225,000 senior
secured term loan (the “Term Loan”) (see Note 12).

The following table summarizes the fair value of the total consideration at April 26, 2013:

Total
Acquisition-
Date
Fair value
Base cash consideration $ 585,000
Cash and working capital adjustment 14,863
Contingent consideration 40,969
Warrants 12,000
Total consideration 652,832
Consideration representing compensation (8,309)
Consideration assigned to net assets acquired $ 644,523

The above consideration representing compensation is the amount payable to former management of Actient upon completion of their retention period
with the Company. This amount was amortized to expense by the Company as compensation cost over such retention period which ended during 2013.
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The above contingent consideration represents a risk adjusted net present value relating to the following cash payments on achievement of the
following sales milestones for Actient urology products as defined in the purchase agreement:

e $15 million if cumulative net sales of Actient’s urology products from and after the closing equal $150 million;

*  $10 million if cumulative net sales of Actient’s urology products during the twelve-month period commencing May 1, 2013 exceed $150 million;
and

*  $25 million if cumulative net sales of Actient’s urology products during the twenty four month-period commencing May 1, 2013 exceed $300
million.

The warrants issued in the acquisition have a strike price of $17.80 and a 10 year life. The fair value assigned to the warrants was determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model, applying an expected term of 10 years equal to the life of the warrants, the Company’s historical volatility of 50% as the
expected volatility, a 10 year risk-free interest of 1.70% and an expected zero percent dividend yield. In accordance with governing accounting guidance, the
Company concluded that the warrants were indexed to our stock and therefore they have been classified as an equity instrument.

The transaction was accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed were recorded at fair value, with the remaining purchase price recorded as goodwill.

As of December 31, 2013, except for certain tax matters, the Company has finalized the valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities of Actient. These
fair values included in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2013 are based on the best estimates of management. The completion and filing of federal and
state tax returns for the various purchased entities of Actient may result in adjustments to the carrying value of Actient’s assets and liabilities. Any
adjustments to the preliminary fair values will
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be made as soon as practicable but no later than one year from the April 26, 2013 acquisition date. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values
of the net assets acquired.

(@
(b)

Cash
Accounts recievable, trade
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Property and equipment
Purchased intangibles
Goodwill
Other long-term assets

Total assets acquired
Contingent consideration assumed
Other liabilities assumed
Deferred tax liabilities

Total net assets acquired

Amounts
Recognized as of
Acquisition Date Measurement
(as previously Period
reported)(a) Adjustments(b)
$ 11,514 $ —
25,631 (120)
21,704 —
4,061 (488)
3,028 (652)
667,000 —
113,369 (9,223)
6,116 (768)
852,423 (11,251)
(72,900) (8,785)
(27,306) 1,305
(104,537) 15,574
$ 647,680 $ (3,157)

As previously reported in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013.

The measurement period adjustments primarily reflect revisions of the fair value of the contingent consideration, the valuation of deferred tax liabilities
and and the residual amount assignable to goodwill.

Amounts

Recognized as of
December 31,2013

(as adjusted)

$

11,514
25,511
21,704

3,573
2,376
667,000
104,146
5,348

841,172

(81,685)
(26,001)
(88,963)

644,523

As discussed in Note 11, the deferred tax liabilities as shown in the table above will serve as reversible temporary differences that give rise to future

taxable income and, therefore, they serve as a source of income that permits the recognition of certain existing deferred tax assets of the Company. As a result
the valuation period adjustments of these amounts, the Company revised its original estimates of the associated tax benefit. The resulting revisions of tax
benefits and the net income reported for the quarters ended June 30 and September 30, 2013 are presented in Note 18.

The purchased intangibles represent acquired product rights. The costs of these purchased product rights are being amortized to income on a straight-

line basis over the below disclosed estimated lives and are tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
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not be recovered. The following is a summary of the fair value assigned to the product rights acquired and the amortization period assigned to these rights.

Estimated

Fair value life in years

TESTOPEL $491,000 12
Edex 70,000 11
Timm Medical 23,000 10
Striant 8,000 10
Theo-24 39,000 9
Semprex-D 32,000 10
Other products 4,000 2

Total $667,000

The contingent consideration assumed is earn-out consideration relating to acquisitions that were previously undertaken by Actient and principally
represent royalties on future sales of certain Actient products. Of the amount shown in the above summary of net assets, $60,848 and $15,752 represent
royalties payable on future sales of TESTOPEL and Edex, respectively. The TESTOPEL obligation is a 12% royalty payable on net sales of TESTOPEL
through December 31, 2017, at which time such royalty obligation ceases. The Edex obligation is a 15% royalty payable on annual net sales in excess of
$20,000. The Edex obligation will cease upon a generic market launch of a competitive product. The remaining amount of contingent consideration represent
6% to 15% royalty obligations on various Actient products, of which approximately $4,000 of such royalty obligation ceased in July 2013 and were paid, and
certain milestone obligations associated with the Company launch of implantable TRT products defined in Actient’s purchase agreements.

The difference between the total consideration and the fair value of the net assets acquired was recorded to Goodwill in the Consolidated balance sheet.
This goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
principally representing the tax attributes of the acquisition and certain operational synergies. Approximately $430,000 of the intangibles and Goodwill are
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

In accordance with the relevant accounting guidance, goodwill is not amortized. However, it must be assessed for impairment using fair value
measurement techniques on an annual basis or more frequently if facts and circumstances warrant such a review. The balance of Goodwill has been assigned
to the Company’s single reporting unit, which is the single operating segment by which the chief decision maker manages the Company. For purposes of
assessing the impairment of goodwill, the Company uses its market capitalization as an input to its determination of fair value. If the carrying amount of the
net assets of the Company exceeds the fair value, then a goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any.
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The operating results of Actient are reported in the Company’s financial statements beginning on April 26, 2013. The following table provides pro
forma results of operations for 2013 and 2012, as if Actient had been acquired as of January 1, 2012, and both the initial Term Loan borrowing of $225,000,
and the 2018 Convertible Notes, used to fund the transaction had also occurred on January 1, 2012. The pro forma results include certain purchase accounting
adjustments such as the estimated changes in depreciation and amortization expense on the acquired tangible and intangible assets. However, pro forma
results do not include any anticipated cost savings or other effects of the integration of Actient. Accordingly, such amounts are not necessarily indicative of
the results if the acquisition had occurred on the dates indicated or which may occur in the future.

Unaudited pro forma
consolidated results

Year ended December 31,
2013 2012

Net revenues $449,854 $510,165
Net income (loss) attributable to the Company $(71,544) $ 41,948
Net income (loss) per common share-

Basic $ (145 $ 086

Diluted $ (1.45) $ 085

(b) STENDRA

On October 10, 2013, the Company and VIVUS entered into a license and commercialization agreement (the “STENDRA License Agreement”) and
commercial supply agreement (the “STENDRA Supply Agreement”). Under the STENDRA License Agreement, the Company was granted the exclusive
right to commercialize VIVUS’s pharmaceutical product STENDRA for the treatment of any urological disease or condition in humans, including male
erectile dysfunction, in the US and Canada and their respective territories (the “STENDRA Territory”). The Company paid to VIVUS a one-time license fee
of $30,000 and $2,144 reimbursement of certain expenditures previously incurred. As discussed below, the STENDRA License Agreement also provides for a
regulatory milestone payment and sales-based royalty and milestones payments to be made by the Company. Subject to each party’s termination rights, the
STENDRA License Agreement will remain in effect until the later of, on a country by country basis, (i) 10 years from the date STENDRA launches in such
country, and (ii) the expiration of the last to expire patent covering the Product in such country. Upon the expiration of the term of the STENDRA License
Agreement, the license grant by VIVUS to the Company will become fully paid-up, royalty-free, perpetual and irrevocable.

Under the STENDRA Supply Agreement, VIVUS will be the exclusive supplier to the Company for STENDRA under the terms of the STENDRA
License Agreement. Under the STENDRA Supply Agreement, VIVUS transferred certain of its inventory of STENDRA to the Company at no charge to be
used solely for sampling purposes. The Company will pay to VIVUS its manufacturing cost plus a certain percentage mark up for each unit of STENDRA.
Subject to each party’s termination rights, the term of the STENDRA Supply Agreement will remain until December 31, 2018. At a time selected by the
Company, but no later than the third anniversary of the effective date of the STENDRA License Agreement, the Company may elect to transfer control of the
supply chain for STENDRA to itself or its designee (the “Supply Chain Transfer”). The STENDRA Supply Agreement will automatically
terminate upon the completion of the Supply Chain Transfer. A summary of certain terms of the STENDRA Supply Agreement is provided below.
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(3) Business Acquisitions (Continued)

These agreements were accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the assets acquired under the
STENDRA License Agreement and the related STENDRA Supply Agreement were recorded at fair value. The valuation of consideration and the assets
acquired was completed as of December 31, 2013. The following table summarizes the fair value of the total consideration and the estimated fair values of the
net assets acquired at October 10, 2013.

Total
Acquisition-
Date
Fair value
Consideration:
Base cash consideration $ 32,144
Contingent consideration 96,356
Total consideration allocated to net assets acquired $ 128,500
Assets acquired:
Sample inventory $ 1,060
STENDRA product rights 127,440
Total assets acquired $ 128,500

STENDRA product rights are being amortized to income on a straight-line basis over a seven year estimated life. The unamortized cost of this asset is
tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recovered. The STENDRA sample inventory is being
expensed as used.

The above contingent consideration represents a risk adjusted net present value relating to the following cash payments on achievement of the
following milestones and royalty payments as defined in the STENDRA License Agreement:
»  $15,000 regulatory milestone payment to VIVUS if the FDA approves the STENDRA label expansion discussed below;
*  $255,000 in potential milestone payments to VIVUS based on the achievement of certain net sales targets by the Company; and
» royalty payments to VIVUS based on tiered percentages of the aggregate annual net sales of the Product in the Territory on a quarterly basis.
VIVUS will be responsible for conducting any post-regulatory approval studies that are required by the FDA. The costs of conducting such studies
shall be shared equally, up to a maximum additional aggregate payment by the Company of $1,856, and once such maximum is reached, VIVUS will be
solely responsible for such costs. Any additional post-regulatory approval studies that the Company determines to conduct with respect to the Product will be

conducted by the Company at its sole expense. At VIVUS’s sole cost and expense, VIVUS shall be responsible for preparing and filing with the FDA the
appropriate documents to obtain a label expansion for the Product referencing a specific
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time of onset. VIVUS shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain approval of such label expansion filing. The Company will be solely responsible
for commercializing STENDRA in the STENDRA Territory during the term of the STENDRA License Agreement, subject to its annual marketing plans, and
will be solely responsible for all costs and expenses associated with such commercialization activities.

The Company will make royalty payments to VIVUS based on tiered percentages of the aggregate annual net sales of STENDRA in the STENDRA
Territory on a quarterly basis. The percentage of the Company’s aggregate annual net sales to be paid to VIVUS increases in accordance with the achievement
of specified thresholds of aggregate annual net sales of the Product in the Territory. At the lowest tier, the royalty payable is in the range of 5% to 10% and, at
the highest tier, the royalty payable is in the range of 15% to 20%. If the Company’s net sales of STENDRA in a country are reduced by certain amounts
following the entry of a generic product to the market, royalty payments will be reduced by an amount that will be a function of the degree to which the
VIVUS and the Company agree the market for STENDRA has been reduced. The Company may also make royalty payments and, if a certain annual sales
threshold is met, a milestone payment to VIVUS in satisfaction of VIVUS’s payment obligations to Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation (“MTPC”) set
forth in an agreement between MTPC and VIVUS, as amended, pursuant to which MTPC granted VIVUS certain intellectual property rights relating to the
Product in exchange for certain royalty and milestone payments to MTPC. Should any royalties be payable to MTPC, they will be in a range of 4% to 7%.
The maximum amount payable for the future milestone (assuming there are no sales anywhere outside of the United States) is $6,000 and is payable only if
annual sales exceed a certain threshold.

STENDRA Commercial Supply—

Under the STENDRA Supply Agreement, VIVUS will manufacture STENDRA, directly or through one or more third party subcontractors. VIVUS
currently obtains STENDRA solely from MTPC and will continue to obtain product supply solely from MTPC (who will have an obligation to supply
VIVUS until June 30, 2015) unless and until VIVUS qualifies with the FDA a third party manufacturer who is able to manufacture STENDRA in accordance
with required specifications and applicable laws. The Company will purchase all of its requirements for the Product from VIVUS, subject to the supply chain
transfer described above. For 2015 and each subsequent year during the term, should the Company fail to purchase an agreed minimum amount of the Product
from VIVUS, it will reimburse VIVUS for the shortfall as it relates to VIVUS’s out-of-pocket costs to acquire certain raw materials needed to manufacture
STENDRA.

On a pro forma basis assuming the Company had acquired STENDRA as of the April 27, 2012 (the date of its FDA approval), the Company would
have recorded additional expenses for the accretion of contingent consideration and amortization of STENDRA product rights amounting to $25,440 and
$19,937 for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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(4) Merger, Transition and Restructuring Costs

As discussed in Note (2), $8,309 of the Actient purchase consideration represents compensation payable to former Actient management upon
completion of their retention period with the Company. This amount was recorded as a prepaid asset as of the date of the acquisition and was amortized to
expense as compensation cost in selling, general and administrative expenses over such retention period which ended in 2013. As of December 31, 2013, all
of this merger consideration has been expensed.

In connection with the acquisition of Actient, the Company undertook actions to realign its sales, sales support, and management activities and staffing
which included severance benefits to former Actient employees. For former Actient employees that have agreed to continue employment with the Company
for a merger transition period, the severance payable upon completion of their retention period is being expensed in selling, general and administrative
expenses over their respective retention period. All severance obligations are expected to amount to $6,060, of which $5,584 has been expensed and $2,267
had been paid during 2013. These actions are expected to be completed by March 31, 2014.

The Company incurred a total of $15,714 in transaction and integration costs to complete its 2013 business acquisitions, of which $15,489 is included
in selling, general and administrative expenses and $225 is included in cost of goods sold.

(5) Fair Value Measurement

As of December 31, 2013, the Company held certain investments that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The following
tables present the Company’s fair value hierarchy for these financial assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31, 2013

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 47,749 $47,749 $ 0 $ 0
Short-term investments 23,437 8,430 15,007 0
Total financial assets $ 71,186 $56,179 $15,007 —
Liabilities
Contingent consideration $218,644 $ 0 $ 0 $218,644
December 31, 2012
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,857 $35,857 $ 0 $ 0
Short-term investments 121,573 31,459 90,114 0
Long-term investments:
Auction rate securities 1,442 0 0 1,442
Total financial assets $158,872 $67,316 $90,114 $ 1,442
Liabilities
Contingent consideration $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
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(5) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)
Financial assets

The Company considers its short-term investments to be “available for sale” and accordingly classifies them as current, as management can sell these
investments at any time at their option. The cost basis of short-term investments held at September 30, 2013 approximated the fair value of these securities.
Related unrealized gains and losses are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the equity section of the
accompanying balance sheet. The amount of unrealized loss on short-term investments amounted to $250 as of December 31, 2013.

Fair value for Level 1 is based on quoted market prices. Fair value for Level 2 is based on quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are
observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets. Inputs are obtained from various
sources including market participants, dealers and brokers. The securities classified as Level 3 are auction rate securities that are not actively traded. The
Company determined the fair value of these securities based on a discounted cash flow model which incorporated a discount period, coupon rate, liquidity

discount and coupon history. In determining the fair value, the Company also considered the rating of the securities by investment rating agencies and
whether the securities were backed by the United States government.

The following table summarizes the changes in the financial assets measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2012 (in thousands):

Years ended

December 31,
Long -term investments 2013 2012
Beginning balance $ 1,442 $ 2,371
Transfers into Level 3 0 0
Redemption of securities by issurer (1,528) (1,100)
Unrealized gain- included in other comprehensive income 86 171
Ending balance $ 0 $ 1,442
Total realized loss on sale of securities included in Investment income (loss), netfor the
period $ (72) $ 0

Long-term investments at December 31, 2012 consisted of auction-rate securities (“ARS”) with original maturities ranging up to 40 years. ARS have
interest reset dates of 28 or 35 days. The reset date is the date in which the underlying interest rate is revised based on a Dutch auction and the underlying
security may be sold. Since February 2008, the auctions for these securities have failed. Since the Company is unable to predict when the market for these
securities will recover, these investments are classified as long-term. These investments are carried at fair value which was below cost. The unrealized loss on
these investments at December 31, 2012 was included in Accumulated other comprehensive loss since the Company had concluded that such losses are
temporary in nature. In 2013, the Company sold these assets at a loss of $72.
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There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Contingent consideration

The Level 3 liability is contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Actient and STENDRA described in Note 3. The range of the
undiscounted amounts of contingent consideration ultimately payable is principally dependent on future sales of the products acquired. Fair value is
determined based on assumptions and projections relevant to revenues and discounted cash flow model using a risk-adjusted discount rate of 14% and 18%
for Actient and STENDRA, respectively. Assumptions include the expected value of royalties and milestone payments due on estimated settlement dates,
volatility of product supply, demand and prices, and the Company’s cost of money. The Company assesses these assumptions on an ongoing basis as
additional information impacting the assumptions is obtained. A 1% change in this discount rate would have a $4.5 million change in the contingent
consideration liability. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration related to the updated assumptions and estimates are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations.

The table below provides a roll forward of the fair value of contingent consideration since the Actient and STENDRA acquisition dates.

Contingent consideration Actient STENDRA Total
Fair value at date of Actient acquisition, April 26, 2013 $122,654 $122,654
Fair value at date of STENDRA acquisition, October 10, 2013 $ 96,356 96,356
Change in contingent consideration charged to operations 9,552 1,844 11,396
Payments of contingent consideration (11,762) 0 (11,762)
Ending balance, December 31, 2013 $120,444 $ 98,200 $218,644
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Cash and cash equivalents include only securities having a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase. At December 31, 2013 and 2012,
the composition and duration of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments was as follows:

December 31, 2013

Duration of Duration of
one year one year to
Fair value or less two years
Cash and cash equilvalents:
Demand deposits $ 29,822 $ 29,822 $ 0
Money market accounts 17,927 17,927 0
$ 47,749 $ 47,749 $ 0
Short-term investments:
U.S. Treasury securities $ 8,430 $ 6,928 $ 1,502
Commercial paper 3,200 3,200 0
Corporate notes 8,738 7,891 847
U.S. government agency obligations 3,069 2,287 782
$ 23,437 $ 20,306 $ 3,131
December 31, 2012
Duration of Duration of
one year one year to
Fair value or less two years
Cash and cash equilvalents:
Demand deposits $ 980 $ 980 $ 0
Money market accounts 34,877 34,877 0
$ 35,857 $ 35,857 $ 0
Short-term investments:
U.S. Treasury securities $ 31,459 $ 23,360 $ 8,099
Commercial paper 39,185 39,185 0
Corporate notes 23,040 22,558 482
U.S. government agency obligations 26,489 24,214 2,275
Certificate of deposit 1,400 1,400 0
$121,573 $ 110,717 $ 10,856

The Company considers its short-term investments to be “available for sale” and accordingly classifies them as current, as management can sell these
investments at any time at their option. The cost basis of short-term investments held at December 31, 2013 and 2012 approximated the fair value of these
securities. Related unrealized gains and losses are recorded as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income loss in the equity section of the
accompanying balance sheet. The amount of unrealized loss on short-term investments amounted to $250 and $197 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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(7) Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

Raw materials
‘Work-in-process
Finished goods

Inventories, current
Inventories, non-current

(8) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:

Office furniture, computer equipment and software
Manufacturing equipment

Laboratory equipment

Leasehold improvements

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Construction-in-progress

December 31,

2013 2012

$ 6,680 $ 8,183
71,890 53,037
18,489 10,611
97,059 71,831
42,498 22,134

$54,561 $49,697

Estimated December 31,
useful life 2013 2012
3 to 5 years $ 22,017 $ 20,565
3 to 10 years 7,270 5,996
7 years 8,556 8,062
lease term 22,895 17,824
60,738 52,447
(30,510) (30,833)
30,228 21,614
5,042 7,606

$ 35,270 $ 29,220

Depreciation expense was $9,180, $9,165, and $6,957 for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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(9) Intangible assets

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2013 represent the product rights received in the Actient and STENDRA acquisitions described in Note (3). The
accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2013 and the amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 of these assets amounted to $44,988.
Future estimated amortization expense related to these purchased intangibles for the next five years is expected to be as follows.

Amortization
Years ending December 31, expense
2014 $ 78,547
2015 77,186
2016 76,547
2017 76,547
2018 76,547

(10) Collaboration and License Agreements
(a) BioSpecifics

In June 2004, the Company entered into a development and license agreement with BioSpecifics and amended such agreement in May 2005, December
2005, December 2008 and August 2011 (the “BioSpecifics Agreement”). Under the BioSpecifics Agreement, the Company was granted exclusive worldwide
rights to develop, market and sell certain products containing BioSpecifics’s enzyme XIAFLEX. The Company’s licensed rights concern the development and
commercialization of products, other than dermal formulations labeled for topical administration, and currently, the Company’s licensed rights cover the
indications of Dupuytren’s, Peyronie’s, Frozen Shoulder syndrome and cellulite. The Company may further expand the BioSpecifics Agreement, at its option,
to cover other indications as they are developed by the Company or BioSpecifics.

The BioSpecifics Agreement extends, on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, for the longer of the patent life, the expiration of any
regulatory exclusivity period or 12 years. Either party may terminate the BioSpecifics Agreement as a result of the other party’s breach or bankruptcy. The
Company may terminate the BioSpecifics Agreement with 90 days written notice.

The Company is responsible, at its own cost and expense, for developing the formulation and finished dosage form of products and arranging for the
clinical supply of products.

The Company must pay BioSpecifics on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis a specified percentage within a range of 5% to 15% of net
sales for products covered by the BioSpecifics Agreement. This royalty applies to net sales of the Company or its sublicensees, including Actelion, Asahi
Kasei, Pfizer and Sobi. Under the December 2008 amendment to the license with BioSpecifics, which became effective upon execution of the Pfizer
Agreement, the Company has paid BioSpecifics 8.5% of the up-front and regulatory milestone payments received from Pfizer. The Company will also owe
BioSpecifics 8.5% of any future regulatory or commercial milestone payments received from Sobi (or any successor or subsequent licensee). In addition, the
Company has paid BioSpecifics 5.0% of the payments received from Actelion and Asahi Kasei during 2012 and 2011 and will owe BioSpecifics a specified
percentage within a range of 5% to 15%, dependent on the licensed indication, of any future
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regulatory or commercial milestone payments received from Actelion and Asahi Kasei. In addition, the Company must pay BioSpecifics an amount equal to a
specified mark-up on the cost of goods related to supply of XIAFLEX (which mark-up is capped at a specified percentage within the range of 5% to 15% of
the cost of goods of XIAFLEX for the applicable country) for products sold by the Company or its sublicensees, including Actelion, Asahi Kasei, Pfizer and
Sobi.

Royalties paid to BioSpecifics on the up-front and milestones payments received under the Actelion Agreement, the Asahi Agreement, the Pfizer
Agreement and the Sobi Agreement (all described below) are being amortized on a straight-line basis to Cost of goods sold over the estimated life of each
respective contract. When contingent milestones are earned, the Company records as Cost of goods sold a cumulative catch-up adjustment for the amount
payable to BioSpecifics on the date each milestone is earned for the period of time since contract commencement through the date the milestone. In addition,
as discussed in Notes 2(e) and 10(d), the Company and Pfizer mutually terminated the Pfizer Agreement, effective April 24, 2013. As a result, the Company
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2012 a change in estimate of the unamortized payments related to the Pfizer Agreement in order to reflect its revised term as
described in Note 2(e). At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the unamortized balance of $1,210 and $2,138, respectively, is included in Other assets.

Finally, the Company is obligated to make contingent milestone payments upon the filing of regulatory applications and receipt of regulatory approval.
As aresult of the U.S. approval of XIAFLEX for Dupuytren’s on February 2, 2010, the Company paid BioSpecifics $1,000. In January 2013, the Company
exercised its option to include cellulite as an additional indication by making a license fee payment to BioSpecifics of $500. Also in January 2013, the
Company paid BioSpecifics $1,000 upon the acceptance by the FDA of our sBLA for XIAFLEX for the treatment of PD. As a result of the U.S. approval of
XIAFLEX for Peyronie’s on December 6, 2013, the Company paid BioSpecifics $2,000. Each of these payments was recorded as research and development
expense. Additional contingent milestones payments that the Company may be obligated to pay BioSpecifics for product currently in development amount to
$3,000. The option exercise fee for each additional medical indication is $500.

(b) Actelion

On February 22, 2012, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement (the “Actelion Agreement”) with Actelion. Under the Actelion Agreement,
the Company granted Actelion exclusive rights to develop and commercialize XIAFLEX for the treatment of Dupuytren’s contracture and Peyronie’s disease
in Canada, Australia, Brazil and Mexico (the “Actelion Territory”) upon receipt of the applicable regulatory approvals. Actelion was also granted the right of
first negotiation to obtain exclusive rights to commercialize any new XIAFLEX indications in the Actelion Territory during the term of the Actelion
Agreement. Actelion is primarily responsible for the applicable regulatory and commercialization activities for XIAFLEX in these countries. The Company
will be responsible for all clinical and commercial drug manufacturing and supply. Actelion is responsible for clinical development activities and associated
costs corresponding to any additional trials required for the Actelion Territory. In 2013, Actelion notified the Company that it intended to no longer pursue
commercialization of XIAFLEX in Mexico. The Company has agreed to waive any further milestone payments in connection with Mexico as the Company
and Actelion formulate a transition arrangement with respect to Mexico.
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The Company received an up-front payment of $10,000 from Actelion upon contract signing. The Company has been granted approval of XIAFLEX
for the treatment of Dupuytren’s contracture in adults with a palpable cord in Canada and Australia in July 2012 and 2013, respectively. As a result of these
approval milestones, Actelion paid the Company $500 for each approval milestone. In addition to these payments, Actelion may also make up to $53,500 in
potential payments, with $11,000 tied to regulatory, pricing, and reimbursement milestone payments and $42,500 tied to achievement of aggregate annual
sales thresholds. Actelion will obtain the product exclusively from the Company at a supply price equal to the Company’s prevailing manufacturing cost at
the time of the applicable order, plus a specified, tiered mark-up, provided that Actelion’s cost is subject to a specified cap. In addition, the Actelion
Agreement provides for quarterly royalty payments based on tiered, double-digit percentages of the aggregate annual net sales of XIAFLEX in these
countries. The royalty percentage tiers feature royalty percentages within the ranges of 15-25%, 20-30%, and 25-35%. The applicable royalty percentage
increases upon the achievement of a specified threshold of aggregate annual net sales of XIAFLEX and decreases if a generic to XIAFLEX is marketed in
these countries.

Subject to each party’s termination rights, the term of the Actelion Agreement extends on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis from the
date of the Actelion Agreement until the last to occur of (i) the date on which the product is no longer covered by a valid claim of a patent or patent
application controlled by the Company in such country, (ii) the 15th anniversary of the first commercial sale of the product in such country after receipt of
required regulatory approvals, (iii) the achievement of a specified market share of generic versions of the product in such country or (iv) the loss of certain
marketing rights or data exclusivity in such country.

For accounting purposes, the Company has determined that the Actelion Agreement requires several deliverables, including development and
commercialization rights, and manufacturing and product supply. In accordance with the accounting guidance on revenue recognition for multiple-element
agreements, the product supply element of the Actelion Agreement meets the criteria for separation. Therefore, it will be treated as a single unit of accounting
and, accordingly, the supply price of product shipped to Actelion, together with associated royalties on net sales of the product, will be recognized as revenue
for the supply element when earned. All other deliverables under the contract are being accounted for as one unit of accounting since each of these elements
does not have stand-alone value to Actelion. The up-front payment and milestone payments received from Actelion and all potential future milestone
payments are considered to relate to this one combined unit of accounting and will be amortized to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the
Actelion Agreement, which is estimated to be 18 years. When milestones are earned, the Company will record as revenue a cumulative catch-up adjustment
on the date each milestone is earned for the period of time since contract commencement through the date of the milestone. The resulting amortization of the
payments received from Actelion included in Net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were $634 and $486, respectively.

The Company paid BioSpecifics $599 for its share of the up-front and milestone payments received from Actelion.
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(c) Asahi Kasei

In March 2011, the Company entered into a development, commercialization and supply agreement with Asahi Kasei (the “Asahi Agreement”). Under
the Asahi Agreement, the Company granted Asahi Kasei the exclusive right to develop and commercialize XIAFLEX for the treatment of Dupuytren’s and
Peyronie’s in Japan. Asahi Kasei also was granted the right of first negotiation to obtain exclusive rights to commercialize any new XIAFLEX indications in
Japan during the term of the Agreement. In addition to an up-front payment of $15,000 that the Company received in March 2011, Asahi Kasei may make up
to $247,000 in potential payments, with $37,000 tied to development and regulatory milestones and $210,000 tied to in achievement of aggregate annual net
sales thresholds. In addition, the Asahi Agreement provides for quarterly royalty payments based on tiered, double-digit percentages of the aggregate annual
net sales of XIAFLEX in Japan. Subject to the requirement that Asahi Kasei make certain specified minimum royalty payments, the royalty percentage tiers
feature royalty percentages within the ranges of 30-40% and 35-45%. The applicable royalty percentage increases from tier to tier upon the achievement of a
specified threshold of aggregate annual net sales of XIAFLEX and decreases if a generic to XIAFLEX is marketed in Japan.

Under the Asahi Agreement, Asahi Kasei is responsible for the all clinical development, regulatory and commercialization activities for the Japanese
market and the Company will be reimbursed for all costs it may incur in connection with these activities. The Company is responsible for all clinical and
commercial manufacturing and supply of XIAFLEX for the Japanese market. Subject to each party’s termination rights, the term of the Asahi Agreement
extends on a product-by-product basis from the date of the agreement until the last to occur of (i) the date on which the product is no longer covered by a
valid claim of a patent, (ii) the 15th anniversary of the first commercial sale of the product, or (iii) the entry of a generic to XIAFLEX in the Japanese market.

For accounting purposes, the Company has determined that the Asahi Agreement includes multiple deliverables, including development and
commercialization rights and manufacturing and product supply. In accordance with the accounting guidance on revenue recognition for multiple-element
agreements, the product supply element of the Asahi Agreement meets the criteria for separation. Therefore, it is being treated as a single unit of accounting
and, accordingly, the associated royalties on net sales of the product will be recognized as revenue when earned. All other deliverables under the contract are
being accounted for as one unit of accounting since each of these elements does not have stand-alone value to Asahi Kasei. The up-front payment received
from Asahi Kasei and all potential future milestone payments are considered to relate to this one combined unit of accounting and will be amortized to
revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the Asahi Agreement, which is estimated to be 20 years. When future milestones are earned, the Company will
record as revenue a cumulative catch-up adjustment on the date each milestone is earned for the period of time since contract commencement through the date
the milestone. The resulting amortization of the up-front payment received from Asahi Kasei included in Net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011 was $750, $750 and $563, respectively.

The Company paid BioSpecifics $750 for its share of the up-front payment received from Asahi Kasei.
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(d) Pfizer

In December 2008, the Company entered into a development, commercialization and supply agreement with Pfizer. Under the Pfizer Agreement, the
Company granted to Pfizer the right to develop and commercialize, with the right to sublicense, XIAPEX (EU tradename for XIAFLEX) for the treatment of
Peyronie’s and Dupuytren’s in the 27 member countries of the EU as it existed as of the effective date of the Pfizer Agreement (Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria,
Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the
Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden and the U.K.), as well as Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bosnia &
Herzegovina, Croatia, Georgia, Iceland, Kazakhstan, Kirghiz Republic, Macedonia, Moldova, Montenegro, Norway, Serbia, Switzerland, Tajikistan, Turkey
and Uzbekistan (the “Pfizer Territory”). As of December 31, 2012, Pfizer received marketing authorization by the European Commission on February 28,
2011 and XIAPEX is now available in Austria, Denmark, Finland, Norway, Spain, Switzerland, Sweden, and the UK.

On November 6, 2012, the Company and Pfizer (together with the Company, the “Parties”) entered into an amendment (the “Pfizer Amendment”) to
the Pfizer Agreement in which the Parties agreed to mutually terminate the Pfizer Agreement, effective April 23, 2013 (the Termination Date”). On March 28,
2013, the Company and Pfizer entered into a transition services agreement (the “Transition Services Agreement”) relating to the transition from Pfizer to the
Company of the development and commercialization activities related to XIAPEX for the treatment of Dupuytren’s and, if approved, for the treatment of
Peyronie’s. Notwithstanding the Pfizer Amendment, the Transition Services Agreement provided, and set out schedules, for, among other matters, an orderly
transition of regulatory approvals and licenses, packaging and labeling responsibilities, distribution activities, pharmacovigilance obligations, recall
obligations, product testing activities, ongoing clinical trial activities and redesign of packaging.

A summary of certain terms of the Transition Services Agreement is set forth below:

»  Pfizer assigned to the Company the ongoing management and continued performance of certain clinical trials for XIAPEX, including the transfer
of data, effective May 31, 2013.

»  Until July 31, 2013, Pfizer continued to sell in the Territory any of its XIAPEX inventories that remained on hand and paid to the Company any
commercialization payments due under the original Pfizer Agreement.

+  Pfizer and the Company cooperated in working toward the transfer of the EU and the Swiss marketing authorizations to the Company. The EU
marketing authorization has now been transferred to the Company and the Swiss marketing authorization has now been transferred to Medius AG
on our behalf. In addition to Pfizer’s selling of its own inventory, Pfizer distributed XIAPEX on behalf of the Company until July 31, 2013.

»  Pfizer agreed to package and label XIAPEX bulk product, manufactured by the Company, for the Company’s distribution in the Territory to the
extent ordered by the Company by April 5, 2013. (Such order was placed with Pfizer.) The Company has packaging and labeling responsibility
for all subsequent production of XIAPEX.
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»  After February 28, 2014, Pfizer will not provide any further support to the Company with respect to the supply of XIAPEX.

*  The term of the Transition Services Agreement commenced on March 28, 2013 and ends on April 24, 2014; provided that the rights and
obligations of Pfizer and the Company that expressly terminate on a date prior to April 24, 2014, will terminate on such date.

For accounting purposes, the Company determined that the Pfizer Agreement includes multiple deliverables, including development and
commercialization rights and manufacturing and product supply. In accordance with the accounting guidance on revenue recognition for multiple-element
agreements, the product supply element of the Pfizer Agreement meets the criteria for separation. Therefore, it was treated as a single unit of accounting and,
accordingly, the associated royalties on net sales of the product were recognized as revenue when earned. All other deliverables under the contract are being
accounted for as one unit of accounting since each of these elements does not have stand-alone value to Pfizer. The up-front payment of $75,000 under the
Pfizer Agreement and milestones earned which amounted to $60,000 were considered to relate to this one combined unit of accounting and were being
amortized to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the Pfizer agreement, which was estimated to be 20 years prior to the Pfizer Amendment. When
milestones were earned, the Company recorded as revenue a cumulative catch-up adjustment on the date each milestone was earned for the period of time
since contract commencement through the date the milestone.

For purposes of recording deferred revenue, the up-front payment from Pfizer received in December 2008 was reduced by initial transaction costs of
$3,656 and the milestone earned in April 2011 was reduced by certain development and regulatory costs of $3,909 that Pfizer was contractually allowed to
recoup upon achievement of the milestone. The resulting amortization of the up-front and milestone payments received from Pfizer Agreement for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were as follows $9,803, $98,380 (including the cumulative catch-up adjustment resulting from the Pfizer
Amendment), and $11,191 (including $4,810 of cumulative catch-up adjustments on milestone earned), respectively.

(e) Sobi

On July 15, 2013, the Company and Sobi announced that they had entered into a collaboration agreement (the “Sobi Agreement”). Under the Sobi
Agreement, Sobi was granted the right to develop and commercialize XIAPEX (the European Union tradename for XIAFLEX) for the treatment in humans of
Peyronie’s disease, if approved, and Dupuytren’s contracture in 28 European Union member countries, Switzerland, Norway, Iceland, 18 Central Eastern
Europe/Commonwealth of Independent countries, including Russia and Turkey, and 22 Middle Eastern & North African countries (the “Sobi Territory”).
Under the Sobi Agreement, Sobi is responsible for the all development costs specific to the Sobi Territory and the Company will be responsible for
development costs not specific to the Sobi Territory. In addition, Sobi is solely responsible for costs associated with obtaining and maintaining regulatory
approval for XIAPEX in the Sobi Territory as well as post-regulatory approval filing date development activities. The Company is responsible for all clinical
and commercial manufacturing and supply of XIAPEX for the Sobi Territory.
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Under the terms of the Sobi Agreement, the Company expects to receive significant tiered royalties, within the range of 55-65%, 50-60% and 45-55%
based on sales of XIAPEX in the Sobi Territory, which include payment for product supply. The tiered royalty percentages will decrease by approximately
10% upon the occurrence of certain manufacturing milestones or July 1, 2016, whichever is earlier. Additionally, Sobi could make up to $40 million in
potential sales milestone payments to the Company.

Subject to each party’s termination rights, the term of the Sobi Agreement extends on a product-by-product basis from the date of the Sobi Agreement
until the 10th anniversary of the date of the Sobi Agreement. The term of the Sobi Agreement will be automatically extended for sequential two year periods
unless a notice of non-renewal is provided in writing to the other party at least six months prior to expiration of the then current term.

For accounting purposes, the Company has determined that the Sobi Agreement includes multiple deliverables, including development and
commercialization rights and manufacturing and product supply. In accordance with the accounting guidance on revenue recognition for multiple-element
agreements, the product supply element of the Sobi Agreement meets the criteria for separation. Therefore, it is being treated as a single unit of accounting
and, accordingly, the associated royalties on net sales of the product will be recognized as revenue when earned. All other deliverables under the contract are
being accounted for as one unit of accounting since each of these elements does not have stand-alone value to Sobi. All potential future milestone payments
are considered to relate to this one combined unit of accounting and will be amortized to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the Sobi Agreement.
When future milestones are earned, the Company will record as revenue a cumulative catch-up adjustment on the date each milestone is earned for the period
of time since contract commencement through the date of the milestone.

() FCB

In May 2000, Bentley Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Bentley”) granted the Company an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing license to make and sell
products incorporating its patented transdermal gel formulation technology that contains testosterone (the “May 2000 License”). The Company produces
Testim under the May 2000 License. The term of the May 2000 License is determined on a country-by-country basis and extends until the later of patent right
expiration in a country or 10 years from the date of first commercial sale. Under this agreement, the Company was required to make up-front and milestone
payments upon contract signing, the decision to develop the underlying product, and the receipt of FDA approval. In June 2008, CPEX Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(“CPEX”) was spun out of Bentley and became the assignee of certain Bentley assets, including the license agreement governing the May 2000 License and
patents we licensed under that agreement. In April 2011, CPEX was acquired by FCB I Holdings Inc. (“FCB”), a newly formed company which is controlled
by Footstar Corporation, and the licensed patents were assigned to FCB. The rights and obligations under the license agreement described above inure to FCB
and continue to be effective, as will the Company’s rights and obligations thereunder.
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Under the May 2000 License, the Company is obligated to make quarterly royalty payments to FCB based on tiered percentages of the annual net sales
of Testim. For net sales of Testim in countries in which FCB holds an applicable enforceable patent, the royalty percentage is within the range of 5-15% for
annual net sales per country in the U.S. and Canada and, in all other countries, is equal to a single digit percentage plus a portion of certain additional
payments received by us for the sale of Testim. For net sales of Testim in countries in which FCB does not hold an applicable enforceable patent, the royalty
percentage is a single digit percentage, the precise value of which is dependent upon whether FCB holds any applicable enforceable patents in other countries
at the applicable time of sale.

Each party may terminate the May 2000 License as a result of the other party’s bankruptcy, provided that FCB may not so terminate the May 2000
License so long as it continues to receive royalty payments from us under the May 2000 License. The Company may terminate the May 2000 License as a
result of FCB’s breach or dissolution or cessation of operations. FCB may terminate the May 2000 License as a result of material non-payment by us that
continues for thirty days after FCB provides notice of such non-payment.

(g) Ferring

In November 2008, the Company entered into a distribution and license agreement with Ferring. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company appointed
Ferring as its exclusive distributor of Testim in certain European countries. The Company also granted Ferring an exclusive, royalty-bearing license to import,
market, sell and distribute Testim in these countries. The exclusive appointment and license commenced on a country-by-country basis upon the transfer of
the relevant marketing authorizations from Ipsen. Ferring is required to purchase all Testim supply from us and to make certain sales milestone and quarterly
royalty payments. Such royalty payments are based on a single digit percentage of net sales of Testim on a country-by-country basis. The precise applicable
royalty percentage is greater for net sales in countries where Testim is covered by an applicable valid patent. In addition, Ferring made to the Company up-
front and milestone payments upon the transfer to it of the marketing authorizations in each European country within the territory which totaled $6,200, and
may make up to an aggregate of $30,000 in additional milestone payments based on the initial achievement of specified increasing annual net sales
milestones. The payments received from Ferring were deferred and are being recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the contract term which is
estimated to be 120 months. When earned by the Company in future periods, additional milestone payments achieved will be amortized over the estimated
life of the contract. The resulting amortization included in Net revenues for years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $636, $636, and $636,
respectively.

(h) Paladin

The Company entered into a license and distribution agreement with Paladin in December 2006. Under this agreement, Paladin was granted an
exclusive license to use and sell Testim in Canada. The terms of this agreement require Paladin to purchase all Testim supply from the Company. Paladin has
made payments amounting to $1,000 and may pay the Company up to an aggregate of $5,000 in additional milestone payments based on the initial
achievement of specified increasing annual net sales milestones. In addition, under the Paladin Agreement, Paladin is obligated to make quarterly royalty
payments to the Company on net sales in Canada in an amount equal to the royalty payments the Company is obligated to make to FCB under the terms of the
May 2000 License. The payments received from Paladin are being recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the contract term
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which is estimated to be 192 months. When earned by the Company in future periods, additional milestone payments achieved will be amortized over the life
of the contract. The resulting amortization included in Net revenues for years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 amounted to $62, $62, and $177,
respectively.

(i) Co-promotion Agreement with GlaxoSmithKline LL.C

On May 18, 2012, the Company and GlaxoSmithKline LLC (“GSK™) entered into a co-promotion agreement (the “GSK Agreement”). Under the GSK
Agreement, the Company granted to GSK the exclusive right to co-promote the sale of Testim in the U.S. and its territories and possessions (the “GSK
Territory™). Subject to certain rights of early termination, the GSK Agreement would terminate on September 30, 2015. GSK began promoting Testim using a
sizeable established field sales force in the U.S. in mid-July 2012.

On a quarterly basis, the Company agreed to pay GSK a promotional payment equal to 65% of incremental net sales above a baseline established under
the GSK Agreement. If the GSK Agreement is not terminated prior to September 30, 2015, then, in addition to the promotional payments, the Company was,
under certain circumstances, make post-expiration payments to GSK for up to the following two years. The Company believed that the GSK Agreement
would extend to its full term through September 30, 2015 and, in such case, it would be obligated to make post-expiration payments to GSK. Such post-
expiration payments were estimated and accrued in Selling, general and administrative expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the GSK Agreement.
The amount of this expense recorded during the year ended December 31, 2012 was $815. On July 31, 2013, the Company and GSK agreed to mutually
terminate their co-promotion agreement for the sale of Testim. As a result, the Company reversed to income in 2013 the accrual recorded in 2012 for post-
expiration obligations to GSK.

(g) STENDRA

On October 10, 2013, the Company and VIVUS entered into STENDRA License Agreement. This license and commercialization agreement for
STENDRA is described in Note (3)(b).
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(11) Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
Payroll and related expenses $ 20,435 $15,048
Royalty expenses 11,638 10,949
Research and development expenses 6,206 2,972
Sales and marketing expenses 15,283 8,017
Rebates, discounts and returns accrual 52,044 38,066
Interest 2,406 0
Other 13,952 5,688

$121,964 $80,740

(12) Term Loan

In order to partially fund a portion of the costs and related expenses of the acquisition of Actient described in Note (3), the Company entered into a
Term Loan agreement with a syndicate of banks to borrow $225,000 in principal value. In September 2013, the Company borrowed an additional $50,000
under the Term Loan agreement. The original issue discount together with issuance costs of the Term Loan, amounting to $12,148, is being accreted to
Interest expense over the stated term of the Term Loan agreement and the unamortized balance has been deducted from the Term Loan balance shown in the
Balance Sheet.

The Term Loan is collateralized by a first priority security interest on certain real and all personal property of the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries including (i) a pledge of all of the equity interests held by the Company and such subsidiaries and (ii) a lien encumbering all intellectual property
owned by the Company and such subsidiaries. The obligations of the Company and such subsidiaries under the Term Loan agreement are unconditionally
cross guaranteed by the Company and such subsidiaries.

The Term Loan principal must be repaid in equal quarterly installments of 1.25% per quarter commencing on June 30, 2013, with the remainder of the
borrowings to be paid on the maturity date of April 26, 2017, unless otherwise prepaid prior to such date in accordance with the terms of the Term Loan. The
principal amount outstanding is subject to mandatory prepayment from excess positive cash flow and upon the happening of certain events including:

(i) receipt of net cash proceeds from dispositions; (ii) receipt of net cash proceeds from the sale or issuance of debt or equity; and (iii) receipt of proceeds
from casualty and condemnation events, in each case subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the Term Loan. The Company can elect loans to
bear interest at a rate equal to either Base Rate (as defined in the agreement) or LIBOR, plus a margin. The Base Rate interest rate margin is 4.00% and the
LIBOR interest rate margin is 5.00%. The Term Loan agreement also establishes a floor rate for both the Base Rate and LIBOR options. As of the date
hereof, the Company has elected to base the interest rate of the borrowings on LIBOR. As of December 31, 2013, the total interest rate on the Term Loan
principal was 6.25%.
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The Term Loan contains no financial covenants but contains usual and customary operating and restrictive covenants for a facility of this type. Events
of default under the Term Loan are also usual and customary for transactions of this type. As of December 31, 2013, the Company was in compliance with
Term Loan covenants.

Aggregate maturities of the Term Loan as of December 31, 2013 are as follows:

2014 $ 13,609
2015 13,609
2016 13,609
2017 224,555
2018 —
Thereafter —
$265,383

(13) Senior Convertible Notes

In January 2013, the Company issued $350 million aggregate principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes, in a registered public offering. Interest is
payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15, commencing on July 15, 2013.

The 2018 Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations that will rank senior in right of payment to any future indebtedness of the Company that
is expressly subordinated in right of payment, will rank equal in right of payment to any unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated, will rank
effectively junior in right of payment to any future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness, and will rank
structurally junior to any indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of the Company’s subsidiaries. Prior to July 15, 2018, the 2018
Convertible Notes are convertible only upon certain specified events. The initial conversion rate for the 2018 Convertible Notes is 41.3770 shares of common
stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes, representing an initial effective conversion price of approximately $24.17 per share of
common stock. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment for certain events as outlined in the indenture governing the 2018 Convertible Notes, but will not
be adjusted for accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company received net proceeds of $310,396 from issuance of the 2018 Convertible Notes, net of $11,079 debt issuance costs and net payments of
$28,525 related to its hedge transactions. The debt issuance costs have been allocated on a pro-rata basis to the debt ($8,975) and equity ($2,104) components
of the transaction. The debt component of the issuance costs is included in Other assets and is being accreted to interest expense over the stated term of the
2018 Convertible Notes. The equity component was netted against the proceeds and included in additional paid-in capital.

The Company may not redeem the 2018 Convertible Notes prior to maturity. However, in the event of a fundamental change, as defined in the
indenture, the holders of the 2018 Convertible Notes may require us to purchase all or a portion of their 2018 Convertible Notes at a purchase price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the repurchase date. Holders who convert their 2018
Convertible Notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change, as defined in the indenture, may be entitled to a make-whole premium in the form
of an increase in the conversion rate.

F-44



AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(13) Senior Convertible Notes (Continued)

Prior to July 15, 2018, the 2018 Convertible Notes are convertible only under the following circumstances: (1) during any fiscal quarter commencing
after March 31, 2013 (and only during such fiscal quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Company common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether
or not consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is greater than
or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any 10 consecutive trading
day period (the “2018 Convertible Notes Measurement Period”) in which, for each trading day of such 2018 Convertible Notes Measurement Period, the
trading price per $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Convertible Notes on such trading day was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of
the Company’s common stock on such trading day and the applicable conversion rate on such trading day; or (3) upon the occurrence of specified
distributions and corporate events. As of December 31, 2013, none of the conditions allowing holders of the 2018 Convertible Notes to convert had been met.

In accordance with the governing accounting guidance, the Company determined that the embedded conversion option in the 2018 Convertible Notes is
not required to be separately accounted for as a derivative. However, since the 2018 Convertible Notes are within the scope of the accounting guidance for
debt with conversion and other options, the Company is required to separate the 2018 Convertible Notes into a liability component and equity component.
The carrying amount of the liability component is calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar liability (including any embedded features other than the
conversion option) that does not have an associated equity component. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the embedded conversion
option is determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the initial proceeds ascribed to the 2018 Convertible Notes as a whole. The
excess of the principal amount of the liability component over its carrying amount is amortized to interest cost over the expected life of a similar liability that
does not have an associated equity component using the effective interest method. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the
conditions for equity classification in the accounting guidance for contracts in an entity’s own equity.

The Company has determined that a 5.0% effective interest rate is appropriate to calculate the accretion of the bond discount, which is being recorded
as interest expense over the stated term of the 2018 Convertible Notes. (The amount by which interest expense, calculated using the effective interest rate of
5.0%, exceeds the interest expense related to the coupon rate of 1.5% is non-cash interest expense.) The effective rate is based on the interest rate for a similar
instrument that does not have a conversion feature. The Company may be required to pay additional interest upon occurrence of certain events as outlined in
the indenture governing the 2018 Convertible Notes. As of December 31, 2013, the remaining term of the 2018 Convertible Notes is 4.5 years.

Upon conversion of a note, holders of the 2018 Convertible Notes will receive up to the principal amount of the converted note in cash and any excess
conversion value (conversion spread) in shares of our common stock. The amount of cash and the number of shares of the Company’s common stock, if any,
will be based on a 60 trading day observation period as described in the indenture. As described in Note (1), Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, the
conversion spread will be included in the denominator for the computation of diluted net income per common share, using the treasury stock method, if the
effect is dilutive.
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As discussed above, to hedge against potential dilution upon conversion of the 2018 Convertible Notes, the Company purchased call options on its
common stock. The call options give the Company the right to purchase up to 14,481,950 shares of its common stock at $24.17 per share subject to certain
adjustments that correspond to the potential adjustments to the conversion rate for the 2018 Convertible Notes. The Company paid an aggregate of $70,000 to
purchase these call options. The call options will expire on July 15, 2018, unless earlier terminated or exercised. To reduce the cost of the hedge, in a separate
transaction, the Company sold warrants. These warrants give the holder the right to purchase up to 14,481,950 shares of common stock of the Company at
$27.36 per share, subject to certain adjustments. These warrants will be exercisable and will expire in equal installments for a period of 140 trading days
beginning on October 15, 2018. The Company received an aggregate of $41,475 from the sale of these warrants. In accordance with governing accounting
guidance, the Company concluded that the call options and warrants were indexed to our stock. Therefore, the call options and warrants were classified as
equity instruments and will not be marked to market prospectively unless certain conditions occur. The net amount of $28,525 was recorded as a reduction to
additional paid-in capital. The settlement terms of the call options provide for net share settlement and the settlement terms of the warrants provide for net
share or cash settlement at the option of the Company.

(14) Commitments and Contingencies
(a) Leases

On January 1, 2013, the Company commenced the lease of a new corporate headquarters in Chesterbrook, Pennsylvania. The initial term of the lease is
132 months. The Company has an option to extend the lease term for two additional five-year periods at fair market rental value determined in accordance
with the provisions of the lease. The lease provides, for the first year of the lease, the abatement of rent payments (subject to the Company’s obligation to
repay the unamortized portion of the abated amounts on terms specified in the lease in the event of early termination or an uncured default by the Company)
and, thereafter, escalating minimum monthly rent payments. In addition to rent obligations, the Company will be responsible for certain costs and charges
specified in the lease, including certain operating expenses, utility expenses, and maintenance and repair costs relating to the facility, taxes, and insurance.
The Company, subject to certain limitations described in the lease, has the right of first offer commencing on and after January 1, 2016, to lease all or a part of
the approximately 10,000 rentable square feet in a building adjacent to the leased facility. The landlord provided a tenant improvement allowance of $3,204
for improvements to the facility. The Company will record the cost of the improvements as a fixed asset and the allowance as a deferred rent credit.

The Company also leased office space in Malvern, Pennsylvania (its previously headquarters) under noncancellable operating leases that expired in
2013 and its Horsham, Pennsylvania manufacturing facility under noncancellable operating leases that expires in 2017, respectively. As a result of the
decision to move to the new Chesterbrook headquarters facility, the Company accrued in 2012 an abandonment charge totaling $1,905, representing the
remaining rent obligations under the Malvern lease and the advancement of amortization of the Malvern leasehold improvements. The lease
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agreement for the manufacturing facility in Horsham, Pennsylvania has an initial term ending January 1, 2017 and may be extended for two consecutive five-
year periods. Supporting warehouse, laboratory and office space in Horsham are also leased under noncancellable operating leases that will expire in 2017
and 2022, respectively. These leases include periods of free rent and escalating minimum rent payments, and provide allowances to improve the leased facility
and other lease incentives.

The Company records rent expense for the minimum lease payments on a straight-line basis over the noncancellable lease term. The Company has
recorded the cost of the improvements as a fixed asset and the allowance as a deferred rent credit. The Company amortizes the leasehold improvement asset
over the shorter of the life of the improvements or the remaining life of the lease. The Company amortizes the deferred rent credit as a reduction of rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. The Company also leases office equipment and automobiles. Rent expense was $5,732, $6,063, and
$4,924 for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

As security deposits for the leases of the new corporate headquarters and the Horsham manufacturing facility, the Company maintains bank letters of
credit in the amount of $456 and $1,900, respectively. These bank deposits are included in Other long-term assets at December 31, 2013.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases for manufacturing facilities, office space, equipment and automobiles as of
January 1, 2014, together with the obligations under the lease of new corporate headquarters, are as follows:

January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 $ 7,739
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 $ 7,557
January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 $ 7,519
January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 $ 3,497
January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 $ 2,918
January 1, 2019 and thereafter $12,916

(b) Supply Agreements
Testim

The Company has supply agreements for the production of Testim with Contract Pharmaceuticals Limited Canada (“CPL”) and with DPT Laboratories,
Ltd. (“DPT”) which expire on July 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015, respectively. Under the agreement, DPT is required to manufacture, and the Company is
required to purchase, a specified percentage of the Company’s annual requirements for Testim. The Company owns packaging equipment that is used by DPT
in Testim production and was placed in service at the end of 2003. The equipment is being amortized over its expected future life. With the Company’s
consent, the packaging equipment may be used by DPT to produce products for other customers of DPT, provided DPT pays the Company a royalty and gives
the Company manufacturing priority.
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XIAFLEX

On June 26, 2008, the Company entered into a supply agreement with Jubilant HollisterStier Laboratories LLC (“JHS™), pursuant to which JHS fills
and lyophilizes the XIAFLEX bulk drug substance manufactured by the Company and produces sterile diluent. The agreement sets forth specifications,
specific services, timelines, pricing, and responsibilities of the parties. It was effective for an initial term of three years and is automatically renewed
thereafter for subsequent two year terms, unless or until either party provides notification prior to expiration of the then current term of the contract.

The Company is required to purchase a specified percentage of its total forecasted volume of XIAFLEX from JHS each year. This purchase obligation
is only relieved in the event that JHS is not able to supply XIAFLEX within the timeframe established under such forecasts. In the event the Company does
not order forecasted batches, it is responsible for the aggregate amounts of components and raw materials purchased by JHS to manufacture XIAFLEX for the
first twelve (12) months in each forecast, unless JHS is unable to supply XIAFLEX in a timely manner. The Supply Agreement provides for cross-
indemnification of the parties with JHS’s indemnification obligation to the Company for third party claims being limited to $5,000.

The Company currently is the sole supplier of the active pharmaceutical ingredient for commercial supply of XIAFLEX, but it is currently in the
process of qualifying a new secondary manufacturer for XIAFLEX.

STENDRA

On October 10, 2013, the Company and VIVUS entered into STENDRA Supply Agreement. This supply agreement for STENDRA is described in
Note (3)(b).

(c) Litigation
Hatch-Waxman Litigation

Testim, XIAFLEX, TESTOPEL, Edex®, and the Company’s other marketed pharmaceutical products are approved under the provisions of the U.S.
Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act that renders each susceptible to potential competition from generic manufacturers via the Abbreviated New Drug Application
(“ANDA”) procedure or the 505(b)(2) New Drug Application (“505(b)(2) NDA”) procedure. Generic manufacturers can sell their products at prices much
lower than those charged by the innovative pharmaceutical companies who have incurred substantial expenses associated with the research and development
of the drug product.

The ANDA procedure and the 505(b)(2) NDA procedure include provisions allowing generic manufacturers to challenge the effectiveness of the
innovator’s patent protection long before the generic manufacturer actually commercializes their products through the paragraph IV certification procedure. In
recent years, generic manufacturers have used paragraph I'V certifications extensively to challenge patents on a wide array of innovative pharmaceuticals, and
the Company expects this trend to continue and to implicate drug products with even relatively small total revenues.

TESTOPEL and Edex and certain other of the Company’s products do not currently have any patent protection and, as a result, potential competitors
face fewer barriers in introducing competing products. Therefore, the Company must rely on trade secrets and other unpatented proprietary information in
order to obtain a competitive advantage, which the Company may be unable to do.
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While the Company attempts to protect its proprietary information as trade secrets effectively, it cannot guarantee that the measures it has taken will provide
effective protection for its proprietary information. It is possible that the Company’s competitors will independently develop products that compete with
TESTOPEL and Edex and certain other of the Company’s products.

Upsher-Smith Litigations

On or about December 28, 2012, the Company and FCB became aware of a notice from Upsher-Smith that advised us and FCB of Upsher-Smith’s
filing of the Upsher-Smith NDA. This Paragraph IV certification notice refers to the 10 U.S. patents, covering Testim, that are listed in the Orange Book.
These 10 patents are owned by FCB and are exclusively licensed to Auxilium and will expire between 2023 and 2025. Upsher-Smith may seek to have any
drug approved under the Upsher-Smith NDA as a generic or branded generic version of Testim. On January 28, 2013, the Company and FCB filed a lawsuit
in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against Upsher-Smith for infringement of FCB’s 10 patents listed in the Orange Book as
covering Testim® 1% testosterone gel (“Delaware Upsher-Smith 505(b)(2) NDA Litigation”). A hearing on Upsher-Smith’s previously filed motion for
summary judgment was held on June 28, 2013, and by request of the Court, the parties submitted additional briefing in the weeks following the hearing. On
December 4, 2013, the Court granted Upsher-Smith’s motion for summary judgment, and the Court entered a final judgment of non-infringement in favor of
Upsher-Smith on December 30, 2013. On January 24, 2014, the Company filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit in Washington, D.C. appealing the final judgment of non-infringement entered by the United States District Court for the District of Delaware.

The Upsher-Smith NDA was granted tentative approval by the FDA on August 16, 2013 with a brand name VogelxoTM. With the granting of Upsher-
Smith’s summary judgment motion and the finding of non-infringement, the FDA may now make the approval final, at which time Upsher-Smith will be
permitted to launch its testosterone gel product, whether or not such final approval is accompanied by a therapeutic equivalence rating.

On March 26, 2013, the Company submitted a Citizen’s Petition to the FDA with respect to the Upsher-Smith NDA referencing Testim in particular,
and generic testosterone gels in general. The Company requested that, in the event of FDA approval of the Upsher-Smith NDA, the FDA: (i) refrain from
designating Upsher-Smith’s testosterone gel as therapeutically equivalent to Testim and (ii) require that the label for the Upsher-Smith testosterone gel state
that the product is not interchangeable with other testosterone transdermal gels. Since any such approval by the FDA would be pursuant to a 505(b)(2) NDA
and not pursuant to an ANDA, it is unclear at this time whether such an Upsher-Smith product would receive a therapeutically equivalent rating to Testim or a
different rating.

Although the FDA has not yet substantively replied to this Citizen Petition, the FDA did communicate to us that it has not yet resolved the issues raised
in the Citizen Petition. The therapeutic equivalence rating may determine whether the Upsher-Smith product, Vogelxo, if launched, would be launched as a
generic, a branded generic, or simply another branded competitor in the TRT gel market. It is unclear at this time when the FDA will substantively respond to
the Company’s Citizen Petition. The Company is exploring options to respond to the threat posed to Testim and its revenue by any launch ofUpsher-Smith’s
testosterone gel product, whatever the therapeutic equivalence rating. The effect of any such product is not yet known.
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Now that Upsher-Smith has prevailed in the Delaware Upsher-Smith 505(b)(2) NDA Litigation, it could launch a 1% testosterone gel product using
Testim as the reference drug immediately, if finally approved by the FDA. It is unclear whether any such potentially approved Upsher-Smith product would
receive a therapeutically equivalent rating to, and thus be freely substitutable for, Testim, or if it would receive a different rating to, and perhaps not be freely
substitutable for, Testim. Any such Upsher-Smith product, whatever the rating, could have a materially adverse impact on the Company’s Testim revenues,
but the Company believes that a product with a therapeutically equivalent rating could likely have a more severe materially adverse impact on its Testim
revenues. The introduction of a generic or different version of Testim at any time, whatever the rating could significantly and potentially permanently reduce
the revenue the Company derives from Testim. The Company’s strategies to mitigate the effects of such a generic or different version of Testim may not be
effective. A significant reduction in the Company’s Testim revenue could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and
financial condition, including without limitation, the Company’s liquidity and net working capital and could materially and adversely affect its ability to
execute on its short and long-term business plans.

Upsher-Smith ANDA Litigation

Separate from the Delaware Upsher-Smith 505(b)(2) NDA Litigation described above, the Company is also currently engaged in litigation with
Upsher-Smith in Federal court in Delaware regarding Upsher-Smith’s attempts to bring a testosterone gel product to market via an ANDA using Testim as its
reference listed drug. Upsher-Smith will not be able to lawfully launch a generic or branded generic version of Testim via an ANDA in the U.S. without the
necessary approval from the FDA.

In October 2008, the Company and its licensor, CPEX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (FCB’s predecessor in interest to Testim), received notice that Upsher-
Smith filed an ANDA containing a paragraph IV certification seeking approval from the FDA to market a generic version of Testim prior to the January 2025
expiration of the ‘968 Patent. Shortly after, the Company sued Upsher-Smith in the U.S. District Court of Delaware (the “Delaware Upsher-Smith ANDA
Litigation”). Although it would seem unlikely based on (i) the FDA’s public statements in its responses to the Citizen’s Petitions submitted by each of us and
AbbVie and (ii) Upsher-Smith’s public stance that its generic product has different penetration enhancers than Testim, the FDA could approve the generic
product proposed in Upsher-Smith’s ANDA. Although administratively closed in December 2011, the Delaware Upsher-Smith ANDA Litigation has not been
dismissed or finally resolved and could also result in a finding that Upsher-Smith’s proposed testosterone product does not infringe the ‘968 Patent or that the
‘968 Patent is invalid and/or unenforceable. All discovery obligations of the parties continue to be in effect. In April 2012, The Company and FCB received a
notice from Upsher-Smith in connection with its ANDA advising us and FCB of Upsher-Smith’s Paragraph IV certification relating to the eight additional
patents listed in the Orange Book in addition to the ‘968 patent-in-suit, and asserting that Upsher-Smith does not believe that the product for which it is
seeking approval infringes any of the Orange Book listed Testim patents and that those patents are invalid. A 10th U.S. patent issued to FCB on May 15, 2012
and was listed in the Orange Book.
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ANDA Litigation with Actavis

On May 24, 2012, the Company and FCB filed a lawsuit against Actavis (then known as Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) for infringement of FCB’s 10
patents listed in the Orange Book as covering Testim® 1% testosterone gel (the “Actavis Litigation”). The lawsuit was filed in the United States District
Court for the District of New Jersey on May 23, 2012 in response to a notice letter, dated April 12, 2012, sent by Actavis Laboratories, Inc. (NV) regarding its
filing with the FDA of an ANDA for a generic 1% testosterone gel product. This letter also stated that the ANDA contained Paragraph IV certifications with
respect to the nine patents listed in the Orange Book on that date as covering Testim. The Company’s lawsuit filed against Actavis involves those nine patents,
as well as a 10th patent covering Testim that was issued on May 15, 2012 and is listed in the Orange Book.

An adverse outcome in the Delaware Upsher-Smith ANDA Litigation, the Actavis Litigation, or any other such legal action, could result in one or more
generic or branded generic versions of Testim being launched in the U.S. immediately after such adverse outcome and before the expiration of the last to
expire of the 10 Orange Book patents relating to Testim in January 2025. Now that Upsher-Smith has prevailed in the Delaware Upsher-Smith 505(b)(2)
NDA Litigation, it could launch a 1% testosterone gel product using Testim as the reference drug immediately, if approved by the FDA. It is unclear whether
any such potentially approved Upsher-Smith product would receive a therapeutically equivalent rating to, and thus be freely substitutable for, Testim, or if it
would receive a different rating to, and perhaps not be freely substitutable for, Testim. Any such Upsher-Smith product, whatever the rating, could have a
materially adverse impact on the Company’s Testim revenues, but the Company believes that a product with a therapeutically equivalent rating could likely
have a more severe materially adverse impact on its Testim revenues. The introduction of a generic or different version of Testim at any time, whatever the
rating, or the introduction of a generic or different version of AbbVie’s AndroGel franchise (which could be on or before August 2015) or of any other
branded TRT gel could significantly and potentially permanently reduce the revenue the Company derives from Testim. A significant reduction in the
Company’s Testim revenue could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition, including without limitation, its
liquidity and net working capital and could materially and adversely affect its ability to execute on its short and long-term business plans.

Other Matters

The Company is party to various actions and claims arising in the normal course of business. The Company believes that amounts accrued for awards
or assessments in connection with all such matters are adequate and that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position or the manner in which the Company conducts its business. However, there exists a reasonable possibility of loss in excess of
the amounts accrued, the amount of which cannot currently be estimated. While the Company does not believe that the amount of such excess loss could be
material to the Company’s financial position, any such loss could have a material adverse effect on Company’s results of operations or the manner in which
the Company conducts its business in the period(s) during which the underlying matters are resolved.
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The income tax benefit (expense) is as follows.

Years Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federal $ 0 $0 $0
State (270)
Foreign ﬂ) . _
(354) _ 0 _ 0
Deferred
Federal 76,411
State 2,020
Foreign 220.0 _ .
78,651 _ 0 _ 0
Valuation allowance - _
Income tax benefit (expense) $78,297 $0.0 $0.0
A reconciliation of the United States Federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows.
Years Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Federal income tax statutory rate 34.00% 34.00% 34.00%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 1.91% 1.21% 4.78%
Permanent Items -2.20% 1.56% -4.59%
Contingent consideration -2.54% 0.00% 0.00%
Tax Credits 3.05% -4.28% 21.42%
Other -0.51% -1.07% -0.74%
Valuation allowance 47.54% -31.42% -54.87%
Effective income tax rate 81.25% 0.0% 0.0%
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The components of the net deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

December 31,
2013 2012
Gross deferred tax assets—

Net operating losses $ 36,208 $ 33,013
Orphan Drug Credit 55,888 52,330
Research and development credit 2,091 1,103
Depreciation and amortization 2,894 523
Accruals and reserves 32,031 19,266
Deferred revenue 9,320 10,730
Stock compensation 21,511 16,588
Other temporary differences 1,219 1,034
161,162 134,587

Gross deferred tax liabilities—Outside basis difference (77,761) 0
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance (92,460) (134,587)
Net deferred tax liability $ (9,059) $ 0

Since inception through March 31, 2013, the Company has maintained a full valuation allowance equal to its cumulative net deferred tax assets given
its history of operating losses. During 2013, in conjunction with the accounting associated with the Actient acquisition described in Note (3)(a), the Company
recorded deferred tax liabilities related principally to outside tax basis differences in acquired subsidiaries. These deferred tax liabilities will serve as
reversible temporary differences that give rise to future taxable income and, therefore, they serve as a source of income that permits the recognition of certain
existing deferred tax assets of the Company. Solely on this basis, management determined that it is more likely than not that a portion of its valuation
allowance was no longer required. As a result of the release of the valuation allowance, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $77,919 in the consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 and an additional tax benefit of $1,253 in Additional paid-in capital related to the 2018
Convertible Notes. In addition to the benefit of the release of the valuation allowance, the Company recorded for the year ended December 31, 2013 a current
provision of $270 for income taxes on current income and a benefit of $512 related to the realization of current year losses in certain state jurisdictions. Also,
the Company recorded an $84 expense on current income and a benefit of $220 related to the recognition of deferred tax items the UK.

Additionally, as a result of the purchase accounting adjustments discussed above, the Company established deferred tax liabilities of $9,279 for certain
state jurisdictions. These deferred tax liabilities relate principally to outside tax basis differences in acquired subsidiaries in jurisdictions in which there are no
offsetting deferred tax assets. In addition, the Company has a deferred tax asset in the amount of $220 in the UK.
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Because the Actient acquisition deferred tax liabilities are provisional amounts that are subject to the finalization of the purchase accounting, this tax
benefit may be revised during the acquisition measurement period as explained in Note (3). Since the Company has only looked to reversible taxable
differences and feasible tax-planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, a portion of its deferred tax assets are not more likely than
not to be utilized and remain offset by a valuation allowance. On a quarterly basis, management assesses whether it remains more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. In the event the Company determines at a future time that it would realize additional deferred tax assets, the Company
will decrease its deferred tax asset valuation allowance and record an income tax benefit in the period when the Company makes such determination.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had Federal tax return net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $135,924 which will expire in 2020
through 2031, if not utilized, and of which $42,881 is a result of windfall stock compensation deductions. Included in this number is $14,467 of Federal net
operating losses from the Actient acquisition. Similar to the Auxilium net operating losses, these losses are subject to potential limitation due to ownership
changes. The recorded deferred tax asset for net operating losses shown in the above table is net of these windfall stock compensation deductions which,
when realized, will be recorded directly to Additional paid-in capital. The Federal Orphan Drug and research and development credits of $57,979 at
December 31, 2013 shown in the above table will expire in 2020 through 2033, if not utilized.

In addition, the Company had overall state tax return net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $136,213, of which $86,324 relate to
Pennsylvania, which expire in 2013 through 2033 if not utilized, and which include windfall stock compensation deductions. Included in the state operating
loss amount is approximately $3,013 of losses from the Actient acquisition, a portion of which has been used during the year. Future utilization of
Pennsylvania net operating loss carryforwards is limited to the greater of 25% of Pennsylvania taxable income or $4,000 per year for tax years ending before
Janaury 1, 2015. Thereafter, future utilization of Pennsylvania net operating loss carryforwards is limited to the greater of 30% of Pennsylvania taxable
income or $5,000 per year.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Act”) provides for a limitation on the annual use of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards following certain
ownership changes (as defined by the Act) that could limit the Company’s ability to utilize these carryforwards. Generally, a change in ownership of a
company of greater than 50% within a three-year period results in an annual limitation on that company’s ability to utilize its carryforwards from the tax
periods prior to the ownership change. The Company has conducted a study to determine whether it has experienced any ownership changes, as defined by
the Act. As aresult of the study, the Company has concluded that it has undergone multiple ownership changes in previous years. Accordingly, the
Company’s ability to utilize the aforementioned carryforwards will be limited on an annual basis. The Company believes that such limitations may result in
approximately $10,700 and $9,400 of Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, respectively, expiring prior to utilization. Additionally, the Company
believes $521 of its Federal research and development credits will be limited.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S., local tax jurisdictions in the U.S. and the U.K. During the current year, the IRS
opened and closed an audit of the 2010 tax year that resulted in no changes. Presently, the Company has not been contacted by any state tax jurisdictions for
examination of its income tax returns for open periods. As the Company has generated losses for each tax year since inception (except for 2009, 2011, 2012
and 2013), all of its prior tax years are open to examination.
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As of December 31, 2013, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was $6,499. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if
recognized, would affect the effective tax rate as of December 31, 2013 is $0. Any increase or decrease to the gross unrecognized tax benefit would result in a
corresponding increase or decrease to the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.

Unrecognized tax benefits for the three years ended December 31, 2013 were:

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Unrecognized Tax benefits beginning of year $3,443 $3,372 $3,196
Gross change for current year positions 331 71 75
Increase for prior period positions associated business combinations 2,725 0 101
Decrease for prior period positions 0 0 0
Decrease due to settlements and payments 0 0 0
Decrease due to statute expirations 0 0 0
Unrecognized tax benefits end of year $6,499 $3,443 $3,372

The Company does not believe the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease significantly over the next twelve months.

In connection with the adoption of stock-based compensation guidance in 2006, the Company elected to follow the with-and-without approach to
determine the sequence in which deductions and NOL carryforwards are utilized. Accordingly, no tax benefit related to stock options was recognized in any
year as a result of the utilization of NOL carryforwards to offset any taxable income. The table of deferred tax assets shown above does not include certain
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 that arose directly from tax deductions related to equity compensation in excess of compensation
recognized for book purposes. Additionally, paid in capital will be increased by approximately $15,165 if and when such deferred tax assets are ultimately
realized.

(16) Employee Stock Benefit Plans
(a) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the Company’s 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), as approved by the stockholders of the Company, employees may purchase
shares of the Company’s common stock at a 15% discount through payroll deductions. Employees may contribute up to 10% of their compensation to the
ESPP. The purchase price is 85% of the fair value per share of common stock on the date the purchase period begins or the date on which the purchase period
ends, whichever is lower. The ESPP restricts the maximum number of shares that an employee may purchase to 15,000 shares during each semi-annual
purchase period and to $25,000 worth of common stock during each year. In June 2011, January 2012, June 2012, December 2012, July 2013 and December
2103, employees purchased 55,292, 47,210, 55,015, 51,035, 47,210, 66,458 and 63,297 shares of common stock at a price of $16.6600, $16.8215, $16.8300,
$15.7585, $14.4755, and $14.4755 per share, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, there were 148,153 shares available for future grant under the ESPP.
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(b) Stock Options and Stock Awards

Under the Company’s 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, amended and restated December 1, 2009, (the “2004 Plan”), as approved by the stockholders of
the Company, qualified and nonqualified stock options and stock awards may be granted to employees, non-employee directors and service providers. In June
2012, the stockholders approved the increase of shares authorized for issuance under the 2004 Plan to 15,800,000. The Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”) administers the 2004 Plan and has delegated to each of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer the authority to grant stock options to newly hired employees and promoted employees below the Vice President level within
specified parameters. The members of the Board of Directors may annually elect to receive all, or a designated portion, of their fees in the form of common
stock instead of cash. The shares issued pursuant to such elections by Board members are issued under the 2004 Plan. During the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, such issuances amounted to 3,418,4,956 and 7,205 shares having an aggregate fair value of $62, $106, and $134 , respectively, on the
dates of issuance. Otherwise, the Company has, to date, granted only nonqualified stock options and restricted stock awards under the 2004 Plan. The
Company issues new shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options or vesting of stack awards. At December 31, 2013, there were 2,956,403 shares
available for future grants under the 2004 Plan.

(c) General Stock Option Information

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to 100% of the market value of the common stock on the date of grant, and generally have a 10-
year contractual term and vest no later than four years from the date of grant (with some providing for automatic vesting upon a change of control of the
Company). The following tables summarize stock option activity for the three years ended December 31, 2013:

2013 2012 2011
Options outstanding:

Outstanding at beginning of period 6,626,176 7,262,718 6,136,249
Granted 1,245,069 1,829,884 2,157,689
Exercised (149,304) (960,864) (270,453)
Cancelled (376,406) (1,505,562) (760,767)

Outstanding at end of period 7,345,535 6,626,176 7,262,718

Exercisable at end of period 4,090,046 3,258,010 3,873,844

Weighted average exercise prices:

Outstanding at beginning of period $ 2250 $ 22.53 $ 2346
Granted 17.70 20.07 20.07
Exercised 8.85 10.93 10.76
Cancelled 25.18 27.10 27.18

Outstanding at end of period 21.82 22.50 22.53

Exercisable at end of period 23.60 23.42 21.34
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company granted standard non-qualified stock options to employees and directors to purchase shares of
the Company’s common stock pursuant to the 2004 Plan. The options expire ten years from date of grant and their exercise prices represent the closing price
of the common stock of the Company on the respective dates that the options were granted. The standard non-qualified stock options granted to employees
vest no later than four years from the grant date, assuming continued employment of the grantee.

Of the options cancelled during 2013, 191,190 represented unvested options forfeited with an average exercise price of $22.37 and 185,216 represented
vested options cancelled with a weighted average exercise price of $28.07. The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and of exercisable options as
of December 31, 2013 was $14,589 and $8,303, respectively. These aggregate intrinsic values represent the total pretax intrinsic value, based on the
Company’s stock closing price of $20.73 as of December 31, 2013, that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their
options as of that date.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $2,923, $9,287 and $2,368, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, the
weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding options and of exercisable options was 6.82 and 5.61 years, respectively.

The total number of in-the-money options exercisable as of December 31, 2013 was 1,893,570.

(d) Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PRSUs”)

During 2013, the Company granted a total of 140,550 PRSUs to certain officers. The average grant date fair value of these awards is $17.59. The right
to receive shares of common stock will be earned (subject to vesting) upon attainment of two performance goals, weighted as follows: 50% weighting on
attaining a specified level of net income for the year ending December 31, 2013 and 50% weighting based upon the timing of approval, and labelling
required, by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) for the supplemental Biologic License Application (“sBLA”) for XIAFLEX for Peyronie’s.
Upon ultimate vesting, each PSRU is converted into one share of the common stock of the Company. The number of PRSUs earned amounted to 70,225 that
vested 33% on February 18, 2014 with an equal amount vesting on the first anniversary and the remainder of the units vesting on the second anniversary of
this date. The remainder of the original awards has been cancelled.
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The following table summarizes the PSRU activity for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Nonvested PSRU’s:
At beginning of period 140,400
Granted 140,550
Vested (16,637)
Cancelled (89,980)
At end of period 174,333
Weighted average grant date fair value:
At beginning of period $ 19.51
Granted 18.18
Vested 19.51
Cancelled 19.51
At end of period 18.44

(e) Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)
In addition stock options, the Company grants RSUs to directors and employees. These RSUs generally vest ratably over three years at one year

intervals from the grant date. Upon vesting, RSU is converted into one share of the common stock of the Company. The following table summarizes the
restricted common stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Nonvested shares:

At beginning of period 45,661
Granted 308,810
Vested (16,553)
Cancelled (19,030)

At end of period 318,888

Weighted average grant date fair value:

At beginning of period $ 2240
Granted 17.65
Vested 23.58
Cancelled 19.22

At end of period 17.93
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(16) Employee Stock Benefit Plans (Continued)
(f) Restricted Stock

The compensation cost of restricted stock awards is determined by their intrinsic value on the grant date. The following table summarizes the restricted
common stock activity for the three years ended December 31, 2013:

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Nonvested shares:
At beginning of period 48,700 13,752 50,828
Granted 10,000 43,700 0
Vested (36,990) (8,752) (33,950)
Cancelled (250) 0 (3,126)
At end of period 21,460 48,700 13,752
Weighted average grant date fair value:
At beginning of period $ 23.76 $ 27.08 $ 26.21
Granted 14.37 23.76 0
Vested 24.27 27.76 2591
Cancelled 24.62 0.00 28.50
At end of period 18.50 23.76 27.08

(g) Valuation and Expense Information

Total stock-based compensation expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 amounted to $15,522, $15,007 and $17,278
respectively. Stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of inventory amounted to $6,613 and $4,866 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company measures the cost of share-based compensation awards at fair value on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model and applying the
assumptions in the following table. For awards granted during the three years ended December 31, 2013, the expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility of the Company. The Company uses the simplified calculation of expected option life prescribed in the guidance issued by the Securities and
Exchange Commission because the Company’s history is inadequate to determine a reasonable estimate of the option life. The dividend yield is determined
based on the Company’s history to date and management’s estimate of dividends over the option life. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of the grant.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(16) Employee Stock Benefit Plans (Continued)

Years Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Weighted average assumptions:

Expected life of options (in years) 6.27 6.26 6.28
Risk-free interest rate 1.24% 1.05% 2.00%
Expected volatility 48.69% 50.66% 50.68%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

The weighted-average grant date fair value of the options issued in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $8.47, $9.85 and $10.20, respectively. As of
December 31, 2013, there was approximately $23,029 of total unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to all share-based payments that will be
recognized over the weighted-average period of 2.23 years. Future grants will add to this total, whereas future amortization and the vesting of existing grants
will reduce this total.

(17) Common Stock and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
(a) Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 120,000,000 shares of common stock, with a par value of $0.01 per share.

(b) Common stock reserved for future issuance

The following table summarizes common shares reserved for issuance at December 31, 2013 on the exercise or conversion of:

Common stock options—

Issued and outstanding 7,345,535
Available for future grant 2,956,404
Available for issuance under ESPP 148,153
Issued and outstanding RSUs and PRSUs 493,221
Senior convertible notes 19,188,575
Senior convertible note warrants 28,963,900
Actient warrants 1,250,000
Total shares reserved for future issuance 60,345,788

(c) Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a par value of $0.01 per share. No preferred stock is issued or
outstanding.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(18) Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information:

2013
1st Qtr 2nd Qtr** 3rd Qtr** 4th Qtr

Net revenues $ 66,172 $ 100,519 $ 108,140 $ 125,884
Cost of goods sold* 15,089 27,216 33,553 36,157
Research and development expenses* 11,858 13,626 11,816 12,911
Selling, general and administrative expenses* 44,310 74,894 62,809 68,177
Amortization of purchased intangibles 0 10,895 15,085 19,007
Contingent consideration 0 2,258 4,671 4,467
Income (loss) from operations (5,085) (28,370) (19,794) (14,835)
Income (loss) before income taxes (8,160) (35,270) (28,602) (24,330)
Income tax benefit 0 77,919 0 378
Net income (loss) (8,160) 42,650 (28,602) (23,952)
Net income (loss) per common share(1):

Basic (0.17) 0.87 (0.58) (0.48)

Diluted (0.17) 0.86 (0.58) (0.48)
Shares used to compute net income (loss) per common share:

Basic 49,247,332 49,280,151 49,384,637 49,422,505

Diluted 49,247,332 49,583,377 49,384,637 49,422,505

* includes the following amounts of stock-based compensation expense:

Cost of goods sold $ 30 $ 38 $ 39 $ 47
Research and development 698 704 675 680
Selling, general and administrative 3,031 3,475 2,656 3,449

**  As discussed in Note (3)(a), the amounts of income tax benefit, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per common share have been revised from those
reported in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30 and September 30, 2013 to retroactively reflect changes to
the Actient business combination accounting during the measurement period.

2012
1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr

Net revenues $ 73,606 $ 78,171 $ 71,043 $ 172,461
Cost of goods sold* 16,602 17,804 15,849 28,081
Research and development expenses* 11,993 10,186 10,591 13,161
Selling, general and administrative expenses* 46,946 42,585 55,344 40,660
Income (loss) from operations (1,935) 7,596 (10,741) 90,509
Income (loss) before income taxes (1,748) 7,724 (10,488) 90,456
Income tax benefit (expense) 0 0 0 0
Net income (loss) (1,748) 7,724 (10,488) 90,456
Net income (loss) per common share(1):

Basic (0.04) 0.16 (0.21) 1.84

Diluted (0.04) 0.16 (0.21) 1.83
Shares used to compute net income (loss) per common share:

Basic 48,250,572 48,575,418 49,078,321 49,168,676

Diluted 48,250,572 49,172,212 49,078,321 49,543,039

* includes the following amounts of stock-based compensation expense:

Cost of goods sold $ 20 $ 14 $ 15 $ 27
Research and development 607 767 836 874
Selling, general and administrative 3,051 3,174 2,989 2,994

(1) The sum of the quarterly loss per share amounts may differ from the full year amount due to changes in the number of shares outstanding during the
year.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, trade, net
Accounts receivable, other
Inventories, current
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred tax asset
Total current assets
Inventories, non-current
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue, current portion
Deferred rent, current portion
Current portion of term loan
Contingent consideration, current
Total current liabilities
Term loan, long-term portion
Senior convertible notes
Deferred revenue, long-term portion
Deferred rent, long-term portion
Contingent consideration, long-term portion
Deferred tax liability
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Series A Junior Participating Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 1,500,000 shares authorized; no shares
issued or outstanding
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share; 3,500,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 51,022,025 and 49,744,521 shares issued;
50,839,809 and 49,599,463 shares outstanding at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Treasury stock at cost, 182,216 and 145,058 shares at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

1

September 30, December 31,
2014 2013
$ 74,029 $ 47,749
3,844 23,437
81,930 89,407
23,806 7,050
56,527 42,498
7,153 13,714
14,737 14,737
262,026 238,592
56,828 54,561
33,780 35,270
677,094 749,452
98,160 104,146
17,092 19,155
$ 1,144,980 $1,201,176
$ 24,599 $ 940
114,977 121,964
2,622 2,059
1,439 1,185
16,926 13,609
47,434 56,741
207,997 196,498
278,412 241,536
302,404 293,747
31,357 24,678
6,440 7,528
132,972 161,903
23,521 23,821
983,103 949,711
0 0
0 0
0 0
510 497
631,292 594,970
(465,302) (340,180)
(4,515) (3,490)
(108) (332)
161,877 251,465
$ 1,144,980 $1,201,176




AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Net revenues $ 109,624 $ 108,140 $ 281,161 $ 274,831
Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold 25,713 33,553 73,901 75,858

Research and development 11,222 11,816 33,519 37,300

Selling, general and administrative 72,492 62,809 219,713 182,013

Amortization of purchased intangibles 19,713 15,085 59,444 25,980

Intangible asset impairment 16,514 — 16,514 —

Contingent consideration (12,834) 4,671 (25,515) 6,929

Total operating expenses 132,820 127,934 377,576 328,080

Loss from operations (23,196) (19,794) (96,415) (53,249)
Interest expense (9,577) (8,912) (28,610) (19,050)
Other income, net 22 105 22 268
Loss before income taxes (32,751) (28,601) (125,003) (72,031)
Income tax benefit (expense) 101 — (119) 77,920
Net income (loss) $ (32,650) $ (28,601) $ (125,122) $ 5,889
Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic $ (0.65) $ (0.58) $ (2.49) $ 0.12

Diluted $ (0.65) $ (0.58) $ (2.49) $ 0.12
Shares used to compute net income (loss) per common share:

Basic 50,403,556 49,384,637 50,151,393 49,304,543

Diluted 50,403,556 49,384,637 50,151,393 49,611,260

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Net income (loss) $ (326500 $  (28,601) $ (125,122) 5,889
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gains on investments, net of tax 165 41 224 171
Foreign currency translation adjustment — 14 — 27)
Total 165 55 224 144
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (32,485) (28,546) $ (124,898) 6,033

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, January 1, 2014
Exercise of common stock options
Cancellation of restricted stock
Stock-based compensation
Employee Stock Plan Purchases
Treasury stock acquisition
Comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance, September 30, 2014

AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands, except share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Accumulated
Additional other
C stock paid-in Accumulated Treasury stock comprehensive
Shares Amount capital deficit Shares Cost loss Total

49744521 $ 497 $594970 $ (340,180) 145058 $(3,490) $ (332) $ 251,465
1,040,121 10 21,264 0 0 0 0 21,274
(549) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
161,492 2 13,755 0 0 0 0 13,757
76,440 1 1,303 0 0 0 0 1,304
0 0 0 0 37158  (1,025) 0 (1,025)
0 0 0 0 0 0 224 224
0 0 0 (125,122) 0 0 0 (125122)
51,022,025 $ 510 $631,292 $ (465,302) 182,216 $(4,515) $ (108) $ 161,877

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and asset impairment
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of purchased intangibles
Intangible asset impairment charge
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Contingent consideration
Payment of contingent consideration and accreted interest
Release of valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Inventory obsolescence reserve
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Increase in inventory
Decrease in prepaid expenses, other current assets and other assets
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in deferred rent
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Business acquisition, net of cash acquired

Purchases of property and equipment

Purchases of short-term investments

Redemptions of short-term investments

Sales and redemptions of long-term investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of term loan, net of issuance costs

Repayment of term loan

Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt, net of issuance costs

Payments of contingent consideration

Purchase of convertible note hedge

Proceeds from sale of warrants

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

Proceeds from employee stock plan purchases

Purchases of treasury stock

Other

Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Business acquisition:
Fair value of assets acquired, net of cash acquired
Purchase consideration representing compensation
Fair value of liabilities assumed and contingent consideration
Fair value of warrants issued
Net cash paid for acquisition

Interest paid

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Nine Months ended September 30,

2014 2013
(125,122)  $ 5,889
8,813 7,943
12,633 11,346
59,444 25,980
16,514 0
12,185 9,657
(25,515) 6,929
(244) 0
— (78,458)
6,200 0
(9,279) 4,198
(21,401) (3,611)
7,258 5,121
17,245 15,306
7,242 (10,864)
(834) 303
(34,861) (261)
— (588,349)
(7,468) (7,786)
(22,240) (73,218)
42,057 164,428
— 1,600
12,349 (503,325)
48,222 262,852
(10,089) (6,215)
0 338,921
(10,923) (9,339)
0 (70,000)
0 41,475
21,274 409
1,304 962
(1,025) (139)
29 47
48,792 558,973
— (237)
26,280 55,150
47,749 35,857
74,029 $ 91,007
— $ 848,261
— 8,309
— (256,221)
— (12,000)
— $ 588,349
17,735 $ 8,289



AUXILIUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
September 30, 2014
(Unaudited)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries (the “Company”), and have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and
pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pertaining to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this
“Report”). Certain disclosures required for complete annual financial statements are not included herein. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The information at September 30, 2014 and for the respective three and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013 is unaudited but includes all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) which, in the opinion of the
Company’s management, are necessary to state fairly the financial information set forth herein. The December 31, 2013 balance sheet amounts and
disclosures included herein have been derived from the Company’s December 31, 2013 audited consolidated financial statements. The interim results are not
necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full fiscal year. These unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”)
filed with the SEC.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

(c) Revenue Recognition

Net revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 comprise the following:

Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
XIAFLEX revenues-
Net U.S. revenues 34,623 15,882 77,513 42,800
International revenues 4,025 1,676 10,367 14,344
38,648 17,558 87,880 57,144
Testim revenues-
Net U.S. revenues—brand $ 15,291 $ 50,701 $ 38,088 $ 149,166
Net U.S. revenues — authorized generic 10,877 — 24,197 —
International revenues 668 1,604 2,455 2,987
26,836 52,305 64,740 152,153
Other net U.S. revenues-
TESTOPEL 20,194 20,636 56,384 35,018
STENDRA 9,310 — 27,032 —
Edex 7,018 7,958 20,006 12,990
Other 7,618 9,683 25,119 17,526
44,140 38,277 128,541 65,534
Total net revenues $ 109,624 $ 108,140 $ 281,161 $ 274,831




Net U.S. revenues shown in the above table represent the product sales of the Company within the U.S., net of allowances provided on such sales. In
addition, net distributable profits earned pursuant to a Distribution and Supply Agreement (the “AG Agreement”) entered into with Prasco, LLC (“Prasco”)
are also included in net U.S. revenues in the above table. International revenues represent the amortization of deferred up-front and milestone payments the
Company has received on its out-licensing agreements, together with royalties earned on product sales by the licensees.

Revenue is recognized when the following revenue recognition criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; the selling price is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured.

In the U.S., the Company’s products are sold to wholesalers, which are provided fees for service based on shipment activity. The product return policies
of the Company permit product returns during a specified period, dependent on the specific product, prior to the product’s expiration date until a certain
number of months subsequent to the expiration date. Future product returns are estimated based on historical experience of the Company. The Company
accrues the contractual rebates per unit of product for each individual payor plan using the most recent historically invoiced plan prescription volumes,
adjusted for each individual plan’s prescription growth or contraction. In addition, the Company provides coupons to physicians for use with Testim and
STENDRA prescriptions as promotional incentives and the Company established in September 2011 a co-pay assistance program for XIAFLEX (collagenase
clostridium histolyticum or “CCH”) prescriptions. A contract service provider is utilized to process and pay claims to patients for actual coupon usage. All
revenue from product sales are recorded net of the applicable provisions for wholesaler management fees, returns, rebates, and discounts in the same period
the related sales are recorded. As products of the Company become more widely used and as the Company continues to add managed care and pharmacy
benefit managers, actual results may differ from the Company’s previous estimates. Any adjustment resulting from differences between the Company’s
estimates and actual results will be recorded as a charge or credit to revenue, as appropriate.

XIAFLEX for the treatment of Peyronie’s Disease (“PD”) is the first and only FDA-approved non-surgical treatment for PD in men with a palpable
plaque and a curvature deformity of >30° at the start of therapy and was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in December 2013.
The Company launched XIAFLEX for PD in January 2014 and revenue from sales is recognized when title and risk of loss transfers to the customers, who
are specialty distributors, specialty pharmacies and wholesalers. The Company has determined that it has the ability to make reasonable estimates of product
returns in order to recognize revenue at the time that title and risk of loss transfers to the customer based on the following factors: (i) the Company has
sufficient historical experience with XIAFLEX for Dupuytren’s contracture (“DC”), which is the same drug and is distributed through the same distribution
channels as XIAFLEX for PD; (ii) due to the price of XIAFLEX for PD and a limited patient population, the Company’s customers have not built up
significant levels of inventory; and (iii) the Company believes there is limited risk of return of inventory in the channel due to expiration based on the shelf
life of inventory in the channel.

STENDRA, a new first-line oral therapy for erectile dysfunction (“ED”) approved by the FDA in April 2012, was in-licensed from VIVUS, Inc.
(“VIVUS?”) in October 2013. The Company launched STENDRA in the U.S. in January 2014 and revenue from sales is recognized when title and risk of loss
transfers to the customers, who are wholesalers. The Company has determined that it has the ability to make reasonable estimates of STENDRA product
returns in order to recognize revenue at the time that title and risk of loss transfers to the customer based on the following factors: (i) the Company has
sufficient historical experience with its other products, including Testim, which the Company distributes through the same distribution channels and which is
prescribed by a similar physician customer base (i.e. primarily urologists and primary care physicians); (ii) the fact that STENDRA is entering a well-
established market and has experienced strong initial demand; (iii) the efficacy and label of STENDRA, which the Company believes provides a competitive
advantage over the other products in the ED market and (iv) the Company believes there is limited risk of return of inventory in the channel due to expiration
based on forecast demand and the shelf life of inventory in the channel.

On June 9, 2014, the Company authorized Prasco to commence purchasing, distributing and selling an authorized generic version of Testim (the
“Generic Testosterone Product™) in the United States of America and its territories and possessions pursuant to the AG Agreement entered into by the parties.
Prasco commenced initial commercialization activities for the Generic Testosterone Product on June 9, 2014 and commenced shipping the Generic
Testosterone Product on June 10, 2014. During the term of the AG Agreement, Prasco will pay the Company a price agreed to by the parties for the Generic
Testosterone Product. Any such price will remain



unchanged for an initial period of time and may thereafter be adjusted based on changes to costs and materials. The Company recognizes revenue from
shipments to Prasco at the invoice supply price and the related cost of product sales when title and risk of loss transfers, which is generally at the time of
shipment. The Company is also entitled to receive a significant percentage of the net distributable profits on sales of the Generic Testosterone Product by
Prasco, which the Company recognizes as net revenues when Prasco reports to the Company the net distributable profits from the ultimate sale of the Generic
Testosterone Product. The Company has recorded all net distributable profits reported by Prasco for the nine months ended September 30, 2014. Any
adjustments to the net distributable profits related to Prasco’s estimated sales discounts and other deductions are recognized in the period Prasco reports the
amounts to the Company. Receivables for product sold to Prasco as well the Company’s share of net distributable profits under the AG Agreement are
included within Account Receivable, Other on the Company’s Consolidated balance sheet.

(d) Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic income (loss) per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
income (loss) per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and, if there is net income during the
period, the dilutive impact of common stock equivalents outstanding during the period. Common stock equivalents are measured using the treasury stock
method. Because the inclusion of potential common stock would be anti-dilutive for periods with a net loss, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net
loss per share for these periods.

The following is a reconciliation of net income (loss) and weighted average common shares outstanding for purposes of calculating basic and diluted
net income (loss) per common share.

Basic income (loss) per share:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ (32,650) $ (28,601) $ (125,122) $ 5,889
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 50,424,935 49,408,597 50,171,079 49,339,449
Weighted-average unvested restricted common shares subject to forfeiture (21,379) (23,960) (19,686) (34,906)
Shares used in calculating basic net income (loss) per common share 50,403,556 49,384,637 50,151,393 49,304,543
Basic net income (loss) per common share $ (0.65) $ (0.58) $ (2.49) $ 0.12
Diluted income (loss) per share:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2014 2013 2014 2013

Numerator:
Net income (loss) $ (32,650) $ (28,601) $ (125,122) $ 5,889
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 50,424,935 49,408,597 50,171,079 49,339,449
Weighted-average unvested restricted common shares subject to forfeiture (21,379) (23,960) (19,686) (34,906)
Incremental shares from assumed conversions of stock compensation plans — — — 306,717
Shares used in calculating diluted net income (loss) per common share 50,403,556 49,384,637 50,151,393 49,611,260
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ (0.65) $ (0.58) $ (2.49) $ 0.12




Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities. Potentially dilutive shares include
outstanding stock options and awards, outstanding warrants, and incremental shares issuable upon conversion of 1.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018
(the “2018 Convertible Notes™) as described in Note (7). The following number of stock options and awards were antidilutive and, therefore, excluded from
the computation of diluted net income per common share as of September 30, 2014 and 2013: 7,588,324 and 6,920,292, respectively.

The Company has 1,250,000 warrants outstanding issued in connection with the acquisition of Actient as discussed in Note (2) and 14,481,950
warrants sold in connection with the issuance of convertible debt as discussed in Note (7). The warrants are not considered in calculating the total dilutive
weighted average shares outstanding until the price of the Company’s common stock exceeds the strike price of the warrants. When the market price of the
Company’s common stock exceeds the strike price of the warrants, the effect of the additional shares that may be issued upon exercise of the warrants will be
included in total dilutive weighted average shares outstanding using the treasury stock method if the impact of their inclusion is dilutive. For the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company’s average stock price, which was $21.20 and $23.52, respectively, exceeded the strike price of the
1,250,000 warrants issued in connection with the acquisition of Actient; however, these potentially dilutive shares were anti-dilutive as a result of a net loss
for the periods. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company’s average stock price did not exceed the strike price of the 1,250,000
warrants issued in connection with the acquisition of Actient. In addition, the Company’s average stock price for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013 did not exceed the strike price of the 14,481,950 warrants sold in connection with the issuance of the convertible debt.

If the proposed Endo Merger were not to close, it is the current intention of the Company to settle conversions of the 2018 Convertible Notes through
combination settlement, which involves repayment of the principal amount in cash and any excess of the conversion value over the principle amount (the
“conversion spread”) in shares of common stock. Therefore, only the impact of the conversion spread will be included in total dilutive weighted average
shares outstanding using the treasury stock method. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s average price of the
Company’s common stock did not exceed the conversion price; therefore, the 2018 Convertible Notes did not have any dilutive impact on per share results.

The call options to purchase the Company’s common stock, which were purchased to hedge against potential dilution upon conversion of the 2018
Convertible Notes, as discussed in Note (7), are not considered in calculating the total dilutive weighted average shares outstanding, as their effect would be
anti-dilutive. Upon exercise, the call options will mitigate the dilutive effect of the 2018 Convertible Notes.

(e) Change in Functional Currency

Effective January 1, 2014, the Company changed the functional currency of its Auxilium UK Ltd subsidiary from pounds sterling to the U.S. Dollar
(“USD?). Significant changes in economic facts and circumstances supported this change, including the Company’s recent collaboration agreement with
Swedish Orphan Biovitrium AB (“Sobi”), whereby transactions are settled in USD. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 830, Foreign
Currency Matters, this change was applied on a prospective basis and translation adjustments for prior periods will not be removed from equity. In addition,
translated amounts for nonmonetary assets at December 31, 2013 became the accounting basis for those assets in the period of the change.
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(f) New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) on income taxes, which provides
guidance on the financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss, or tax credit
carryforward exists. This guidance is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2014. The Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2014 and its
adoption did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which requires companies to recognize revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The standard will be effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2017 and early adoption is not permitted. The new standard permits
the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method on adoption. The Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, including which transition method it will adopt.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern, which requires management to evaluate
whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and provide related footnote disclosures. The guidance is effective
for annual and interim reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been
previously issued. The Company does not expect this standard to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

(g) Revisions to previously issued financial statements
Contingent Consideration

During the second quarter of 2014, the Company identified that it had incorrectly classified the fair value of a contingent sales milestone on its
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2014. Contingent consideration in the amount of $22,200 was classified as a current liability as of March 31,
2014; however, the amount should have been classified as a long term liability based on the Company’s calculation. The effect of the misclassification on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2014 was a $22,200 overstatement of current contingent consideration and an equivalent understatement of non-
current contingent consideration. The Company assessed this misclassification and concluded that it was not material to the Company’s financial statements
previously issued on its Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations and the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2014 were not affected by this misclassification and remain unchanged.

In addition, the Company determined that it had understated contingent consideration expense and contingent consideration liabilities by $4,200 for the
quarter ended March 31, 2014. This error was the result of using an incorrect revenue forecast to calculate the fair value of royalties included as part of the
Company’s contingent consideration liabilities. The error had the impact of understating contingent consideration expense by $4,200 on the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as well as the contingent consideration liability being understated by the
same amount ($1,800 short-term and $2,400 long-term) on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2014. This $4,200 error also had the effect of
understating net loss reported on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity as well as understating the net loss and contingent
consideration line items within net cash flows from operating activities on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows; however, it did not impact
total net cash provided by operating activities as reported on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The Company assessed this error and concluded that
it was not material to the Company’s financial statements previously issued on its Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2014. Additional expense
of $4,200 was recorded to contingent consideration on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations during the three months ended June 30, 2014 to
correct this error.

Business Combinations

In connection with the preparation of its consolidated financial statements for the second quarter of 2014, the Company identified prior period errors
related to its accounting for business combinations for the year ended December 31, 2013. As of June 30, 2014, the Company reclassified $5,400 from
Goodwill to Intangible Assets ($3,600) and Contingent Consideration ($1,800) on the balance sheet and adjusted certain related footnotes for these
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items. In addition, the Company recorded additional amortization expense of $380 on its Consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended
June 30, 2014 related to these items. These adjustments represent corrections to immaterial errors related to the classification of certain assets and liabilities as
well as the related amortization expense recorded in connection with the acquisitions of Actient and STENDRA. The Company has evaluated these items,
both individually and in the aggregate, in relation to the current period financial statements as well as the period in which they originated and concluded that
these adjustments are not material to any of the impacted periods. These adjustments were recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2014.

2. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS
(a) Actient

The Company completed the acquisition of Actient Holdings, LLC (“Actient”) on April 26, 2013 to expand its specialty therapeutic offerings and
expects to benefit from greater leverage in its commercial infrastructure and significant cross-selling opportunities. The total consideration for Actient
included base cash consideration of $585,000 plus adjustments for working capital and cash acquired, contingent consideration based on future sales of
certain acquired products, and the issuance of 1,250,000 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock. The Company funded the cash payments with
cash on hand and a $225,000 senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”) (see Note 7).

The following table summarizes the fair value of the total consideration at April 26, 2013:

Total
Acquisition-
Date
Fair value
Base cash consideration $ 585,000
Cash and working capital adjustment 14,863
Contingent consideration 40,569
Warrants 12,000
Total consideration 652,432
Consideration representing compensation (8,309)
Consideration assigned to net assets acquired $ 644,123

The above consideration representing compensation is the amount payable to former management of Actient upon completion of their retention period
with the Company. This amount was amortized to expense by the Company as compensation cost over such retention period which ended during 2013.

The above contingent consideration represents a risk adjusted net present value relating to cash payments on achievement of certain sales milestones for
Actient urology products as defined in the purchase agreement.

The warrants issued in the acquisition have a strike price of $17.80 and a 10 year life. In accordance with governing accounting guidance, the Company
concluded that the warrants were indexed to its stock and therefore they have been classified as an equity instrument.

The transaction was accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed were recorded at fair value, with the remaining purchase price recorded as goodwill.

As of the end of the measurement period and including the items described in footnote 1(g), the Company had finalized the valuation of the acquired
assets and liabilities of Actient. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

acquisition:

April 26, 2013

Cash $ 11,514
Accounts receivable, trade 25,511
Inventory 21,704
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,573
Property and equipment 2,376
Purchased intangibles 672,000
Goodwill 98,160
Other long-term assets 5,348
Total assets acquired 840,186
Contingent consideration assumed (81,685)
Other liabilities assumed (25,415)
Deferred tax liabilities (88,963)
Total net assets acquired $ 644,123
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In conjunction with the accounting associated with the Actient acquisition, the Company recorded deferred tax liabilities related principally to outside
tax basis differences in the acquired subsidiaries. These deferred tax liabilities will serve as reversible temporary differences that give rise to future taxable
income and, therefore, they serve as a source of income that permits the recognition of certain existing deferred tax assets of the Company. Solely on this
basis, management determined that it is more likely than not that a portion of its valuation allowance was no longer required. As a result of the release of the
valuation allowance, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $92,069 in its Consolidated statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30,
2013. Based upon completion of interim tax returns and other information made available to the Company subsequent to the filing of its 2013 second and
third quarter reports on Form 10-Q, and prior to the time the Company’s 2013 annual financial statements were filed with the SEC, the Company revised its
original estimates of the associated tax benefit. These revisions, which are reflected in this Report, resulted in the Company decreasing its income tax benefit
and net income by $14,149 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

The difference between the total consideration and the fair value of the net assets acquired was recorded to goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet.
This goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
principally representing the tax attributes of the acquisition and certain operational synergies. The above tables include immaterial adjustments for the items
described in footnote 1(g). Approximately $430,000 of the intangibles and goodwill are expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, the Company assesses the
impairment of long-lived assets for potential impairment. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of
an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. During the third
quarter of 2014, a significant customer of the Company’s Timm Medical device business communicated to the Company that it would not be renewing its
contract. As a result, the Company determined that the carrying value of the Timm Medical intangible asset exceeded its fair value and the Company recorded
an asset impairment charge of $16.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014. This charge was recorded to Intangible asset impairment on the
Company’s Consolidated statement of operations.

(b) STENDRA

On October 10, 2013, the Company and VIVUS entered into a license and commercialization agreement (the “STENDRA License Agreement”) and
commercial supply agreement (the “STENDRA Supply Agreement”). Under the STENDRA License Agreement, the Company was granted the exclusive
right to commercialize VIVUS’s pharmaceutical product, STENDRA, for the treatment of any urological disease or condition in humans, including male ED,
in the US and Canada and their respective territories. The Company paid to VIVUS a one-time license fee of $30,000 and $2,144 reimbursement of certain
expenditures previously incurred. The STENDRA License Agreement also provides for a regulatory milestone payment and sales-based royalty and
milestones payments to be made by the Company. Under the STENDRA Supply Agreement, VIVUS will be the exclusive supplier to the Company for
STENDRA under the terms of the STENDRA License Agreement.

These agreements were accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the assets acquired under the
STENDRA License Agreement and the related STENDRA Supply Agreement were recorded at fair value. The valuation of consideration and the assets
acquired was completed as of
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December 31, 2013. The following table summarizes the fair value of the total consideration and the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired at
October 10, 2013.

Total
Acquisition-
Date
Fair value
Consideration:
Base cash consideration $ 32,144
Contingent consideration 94,956
Total consideration allocated to net assets acquired $ 127,100
Assets acquired:
Sample inventory $ 1,060
STENDRA product rights 126,040
Total assets acquired $ 127,100

The above tables include immaterial adjustments for the items described in footnote 1(g). STENDRA product rights are being amortized to income on a
straight-line basis over a seven year estimated life. The unamortized cost of this asset is tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recovered. The STENDRA sample inventory is being expensed as used. The above contingent consideration represents a risk
adjusted net present value relating to cash payments on achievement of certain milestones and royalty payments as defined in the STENDRA License
Agreement. On September 18, 2014, the Company and VIVUS announced that the FDA approved a supplemental new drug application for STENDRA. This
approval triggered a $15,000 milestone payment to VIVUS, which the Company paid in October 2014. The present value of this $15,000 liability is included
within Contingent consideration, current on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2014.

3. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
September 2014 Restructuring Initiative

On September 9, 2014, the Company announced steps it is taking to reduce its costs and more fully support the Company’s goal to drive earnings
growth and build shareholder value. These steps are being launched after a comprehensive assessment of the Company’s broadened product portfolio and
current cost structure and what management believes to be the Company’s growth assets, commercial strengths, opportunities and challenges and the
Company’s manufacturing needs and capabilities. The Company’s restructuring initiatives includes reducing headcount by approximately 20%, realigning the
commercial organization from three into two sales forces, focusing its research and development efforts and expenditures and improving manufacturing
efficiency. Although the initial initiative targeted a reduction of approximately 30% of the Company’s headcount, approximately 33 employees who were
initially scheduled to be terminated on December 31, 2014 are now expected to remain with the Company until the closing of the merger with Endo
International plc (as described below). These 33 employees are primarily located in the Company’s manufacturing facilities and do not impact the original
$75 million of anticipated cost savings. The Company expects substantial completion of the restructuring by the end of 2014.

As a result of the September 2014 restructuring initiative, the Company incurred restructuring expenses during the three months ended September 30,
2014 of $9,259, consisting of $8,406 of employee severance and other benefit-related costs and a $853 non-cash impairment charge primarily related to the
abandonment of several capital projects. The Company anticipates there will be additional pre-tax restructuring expenses of approximately $100, primarily
attributable to contract termination fees which will be incurred throughout the remainder of 2014 and 2015. Of the restructuring costs recorded for the three
months ended September 30, 2014, $7,648 are included in Selling, general and administrative expense and $1,611 are included in Research and development
expense in the Company’s Consolidated statements of Operations.

As of September 30, 2014, the accrual related to the September 2014 restructuring was $8,026, which is included in Accrued expenses on the
Company’s Consolidated balance sheet. There was no such restructuring accrual for these actions as of December 31, 2013. Changes to this accrual for the
nine months ended September 30, 2014 were as follows:
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Employee-

Related Asset
Severance Impairment

Costs Charges Total
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ — $ — $ —
Plus: Restructuring charge 8,406 853 9,259
Less: payments made during the period (380) — (380)
Non-cash impairment — (853) (853)
Balance at September 30, 2014 $ 8,026 — 8,026

Actient Acquisition-Related Cost-Rationalization and Integration Initiatives

In connection with the acquisition of Actient, the Company undertook actions to realign its sales, sales support, and management activities and staffing,
which included severance benefits to former Actient employees. For former Actient employees that agreed to continue employment with the Company for a
merger transition period, the severance payable upon completion of their retention period is being expensed over their respective retention period. All
severance obligations are expected to amount to $5,818, of which $5,584 was recorded to selling, general and administrative expense during the year ended
December 31, 2013. The remaining severance payments will be made through the first quarter of 2015.

The following table summarizes the activity within the restructuring liability:

Employee-
Related
Severance
Costs

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 3,728
Plus: Restructuring charge 234
Less: payments made during the period (3,777)
Balance at September 30, 2014 $ 185

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

As of September 30, 2014, the Company held certain investments that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The following
tables present the Company’s fair value hierarchy for these financial assets as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

September 30, 2014

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Contingent Consideration

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Contingent consideration
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Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 74,029  $74,029 $ 0o $ 0
3,844 824 3,020 0
$ 77,873 $74,853 $ 3,020 0
$180,406  $ 0 $ 0  $180,406

December 31, 2013

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 47,749 $47,749 $ 0 $ 0
23,437 8,430 15,007 0
$ 71,186  $56,179  $15,007 0
$218,644 $ 0 $ 0 $218,644




Financial assets

The Company considers its short-term investments to be “available for sale” and accordingly classifies them as current, as management can sell these
investments at any time at their option. The cost basis of short-term investments held at September 30, 2014 approximated the fair value of these securities.
Related unrealized gains and losses are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the equity section of the
accompanying balance sheet. The amount of unrealized loss on short-term investments amounted to $27 as of September 30, 2014.

Fair value for Level 1 is based on quoted market prices. Fair value for Level 2 is based on quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are
observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets. Inputs are obtained from various
sources including market participants, dealers and brokers.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Contingent consideration

The Level 3 liability is contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Actient and STENDRA described in Note 2. The range of the
undiscounted amounts of contingent consideration ultimately payable is principally dependent on future sales of the products acquired. Fair value is
determined based on assumptions and projections relevant to revenues and a discounted cash flow model using a risk-adjusted discount rate of 13.6% and
15.0% for Actient and STENDRA, respectively. Assumptions include the expected value of royalties and milestone payments due on estimated settlement
dates, volatility of product supply, demand and prices, and the Company’s cost of money. The Company assesses these assumptions on an ongoing basis as
additional information impacting the assumptions is obtained. A 1% change in this discount rate would have a $3.8 million change in the contingent
consideration liability. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration related to the updated assumptions and estimates are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations.

The table below provides a roll forward of the fair value of contingent consideration.

Actient STENDRA Total
Contingent consideration
Ending balance, December 31, 2013 $120,444 $ 98,200 $218,644
Change in contingent consideration charged to operations (44,924) 19,409 (25,515)
Payments of contingent consideration (8,781) (2,142) (10,923)
Adjustments (400) (1,400) (1,800)
Ending balance, September 30, 2014 $ 66,339 $114,067 $180,406

The $1,800 of adjustments included in the above table is related to the items discussed in Note 1(g). The Company reduced $1,800 of Goodwill and
Contingent consideration on its Consolidated balance sheet related to business combination accounting for the Actient and STENDRA acquisitions.

Debt outstanding

The Company’s Term Loan and 2018 Convertible Notes are measured at amortized cost in the Company’s Consolidated balance sheets and not fair
value.

Management estimates that the fair value of the Term Loan outstanding at September 30, 2014 approximates its principal value of $305,051 based upon
market interest rates (a Level 2 fair value measurement). As of September 30, 2014, the principal balance outstanding of the Company’s 2018 Convertible
Notes is $350,000 with a carrying value of $302,404 and a fair value of approximately $464,548 based on active trading activity in this security (a Level 1
fair value measurement).
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5. INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following:

September 30, December 31,

2014 2013
Raw materials $ 7,838 $ 6,680
‘Work-in-process 81,489 71,890
Finished goods 24,028 18,489
113,355 97,059
Inventories, current 56,527 42,498
Inventories, non-current $ 56,828 $ 54,561

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recorded a $6,200 inventory charge to cost of goods sold related to excess Testim
branded inventory. The excess inventory charge resulted from the Company’s decision to launch the Generic Testosterone Product, which the Company
believes had the impact of decreasing the demand forecast for the branded Testim product.

6. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2014 2013

Payroll and related expenses $ 22,610 $ 20,435
Royalty expenses 10,156 11,638
Research and development expenses 4,779 6,206
Sales and marketing expenses 8,047 15,283
Rebates, discounts and returns accrual 49,844 52,044
Interest 1,094 2,406
Other 18,447 13,952

$ 114,977 $ 121,964

7. LONG-TERM DEBT
Term Loan

In order to partially fund a portion of the costs and related expenses of the acquisition of Actient described in Note (2), the Company entered into a
term loan agreement in April 2013 with a syndicate of banks to borrow $225,000 in principal value (the “Term Loan Agreement”). In September 2013 and
September 2014, the Company borrowed additional amounts of $50,000 each under the Term Loan Agreement. The original issue discount together with
issuance costs of the Term Loan, amounting to $13,926, is being accreted to Interest expense over the stated term of the Term Loan Agreement and the
unamortized balance has been deducted from the Term Loan balance shown in the Balance Sheet. The net carrying amount of the Term Loan as of
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, was $295,338 and $255,145, respectively.

The Term Loan principal must be repaid in equal quarterly installments of 1.25% per quarter commencing on June 30, 2013, with the remainder of the
borrowings to be paid on the maturity date of April 26, 2017, unless otherwise prepaid prior to such date in accordance with the terms of the Term Loan. The
Company can elect loans to bear interest at a rate equal to either Base Rate (as defined in the agreement) or LIBOR, plus a margin. Under the current terms of
the Term Loan Agreement, the Base Rate interest rate margin is 4.00% and the LIBOR interest rate margin is 5.00%. The Term Loan Agreement also
establishes a floor rate for both the Base Rate and LIBOR options. As of the date hereof, the Company has elected to base the interest rate of the borrowings
on LIBOR. As of September 30, 2014, the total interest rate on the Term Loan principal was 6.25%.

The Term Loan currently contains no financial covenants but contains usual and customary operating and restrictive covenants for a facility of this
type. Events of default under the Term Loan are also usual and customary for transactions of this type. As of September 30, 2014, the Company was in
compliance with Term Loan covenants and anticipates remaining compliant.
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The closing of the previously planned merger with QLT Inc. (“QLT”), as discussed in Note 10, would have been a “change of control,” as defined in the
Term Loan Agreement, and would have been prohibited by the provisions of the Term Loan Agreement. In addition, the de-listing of the Company’s common
stock would have been prohibited by the provisions of the Term Loan Agreement. On August 14, 2014, the Company entered into the Third Amendment
Agreement (the “Third Amendment Agreement”) with Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as administrative agent (“Agent”) and lenders holding more than
50% of the loans under the Term Loan Agreement pursuant to and under the Term Loan Agreement providing for, upon the satisfaction of the conditions
precedent set forth therein, certain amendments and modifications to the Term Loan Agreement. Now that the planned merger with QLT has been terminated,
this Third Amendment Agreement to the Credit Agreement will not become effective.

Senior Convertible Notes

In January 2013, the Company issued $350,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes, in a registered public offering. Interest is
payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15, commencing on July 15, 2013. The Company received net proceeds of $310,396 from issuance
of the 2018 Convertible Notes, which amount is net of $11,079 debt issuance costs and net payments of $28,525 related to its hedge transactions. The net
carrying amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, was $302,404 and $293,747, respectively.

The initial conversion rate for the 2018 Convertible Notes is 41.3770 shares of the Company’s common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2018
Convertible Notes, representing an initial effective conversion price of approximately $24.17 per share of the Company’s common stock. The conversion rate
is subject to adjustment for certain events as outlined in the indenture governing the 2018 Convertible Notes, but will not be adjusted for accrued and unpaid
interest. Prior to July 15, 2018, the 2018 Convertible Notes are convertible by the holders only under the following circumstances: (1) during any fiscal
quarter commencing after March 31, 2013 (and only during such fiscal quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Company common stock for at least 20
trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal
quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any 10
consecutive trading day period (the “2018 Convertible Notes Measurement Period”) in which, for each trading day of such 2018 Convertible Notes
Measurement Period, the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Convertible Notes on such trading day was less than 98% of the product of the
last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock on such trading day and the applicable conversion rate on such trading day; or (3) upon the
occurrence of specified distributions and corporate events.

As of September 30, 2014, neither the first or second condition for conversion had been met.

On June 27, 2014, the Company provided a notice to the trustee for the Convertible Senior Notes and the holders of the Convertible Senior Notes that,
in connection with the then-planned merger with QLT (the “QLT Merger”), the Convertible Senior Notes may be surrendered for conversion from the date
that is 70 scheduled trading days prior to the anticipated effective date of the QLT Merger until the date that is 35 trading days after the actual effective date of
the QLT Merger. A closing date for the QLT Merger was never announced and, as described below, the QLT Merger has now been terminated.

On October 14, 2014, the Company provided a notice to the trustee for the Convertible Senior Notes and the holders of the Convertible Senior Notes
that, in connection with the proposed merger with Endo International plc, as described below, the Convertible Senior Notes may be surrendered for
conversion from the date that is 70 scheduled trading days prior to the anticipated effective date of the merger (or, if later, the business day after the Company
gave notice of the merger with Endo International plc) until the date that is 35 trading days after the actual effective date of the merger or until the related
fundamental change purchase date, as defined in the indenture.

The Company may not redeem the 2018 Convertible Notes prior to maturity. However, in the event of a fundamental change, as defined in the
indenture, the holders of the 2018 Convertible Notes may require the Company to purchase all or a portion of its 2018 Convertible Notes at a purchase price
equal to 100% of the
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principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the repurchase date. Holders who convert their 2018 Convertible
Notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change, as defined in the indenture, may be entitled to a make-whole premium in the form of an increase
in the conversion rate.

In accordance with the governing accounting guidance, the Company determined that the embedded conversion option in the 2018 Convertible Notes is
not required to be separately accounted for as a derivative. However, since the 2018 Convertible Notes are within the scope of the accounting guidance for
debt with conversion and other options, the Company is required to separate the 2018 Convertible Notes into a liability component and equity component.
The carrying amount of the liability component is calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar liability (including any embedded features other than the
conversion option) that does not have an associated equity component. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the embedded conversion
option is determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the initial proceeds ascribed to the 2018 Convertible Notes as a whole. The
excess of the principal amount of the liability component over its carrying amount is amortized to interest cost over the expected life of a similar liability that
does not have an associated equity component using the effective interest method. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the
conditions for equity classification in the accounting guidance for contracts in an entity’s own equity.

Upon conversion of a note, holders of the 2018 Convertible Notes will receive up to the principal amount of the converted note in cash and any excess
conversion value (conversion spread) in shares of its common stock. The amount of cash and the number of shares of the Company’s common stock, if any,
will be based on a 60 trading day observation period as described in the indenture. As described in Note (1), the conversion spread will be included in the
denominator for the computation of diluted net income per common share, using the treasury stock method, if the effect is dilutive.

To hedge against potential dilution upon conversion of the 2018 Convertible Notes, the Company purchased call options on its common stock. The call
options give the Company the right to purchase up to 14,481,950 shares of its common stock at $24.17 per share subject to certain adjustments that
correspond to the potential adjustments to the conversion rate for the 2018 Convertible Notes. The Company paid an aggregate of $70,000 to purchase these
call options. The call options will expire on July 15, 2018, unless earlier terminated or exercised. To reduce the cost of the hedge, in a separate transaction, the
Company sold warrants. These warrants give the holder the right to purchase up to 14,481,950 shares of the Company’s common stock at $27.36 per share,
subject to certain adjustments. These warrants will be exercisable and will expire in equal installments for a period of 140 trading days beginning on
October 15, 2018. The Company received an aggregate of $41,475 from the sale of these warrants. In accordance with governing accounting guidance, the
Company concluded that the call options and warrants were indexed to its stock. Therefore, the call options and warrants were classified as equity instruments
and will not be marked to market prospectively unless certain conditions occur. The net amount of $28,525 was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in
capital. The settlement terms of the call options provide for net share settlement and the settlement terms of the warrants provide for net share or cash
settlement at the option of the Company.

8. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholder Rights Plan

On September 16, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) authorized and directed the issuance, and declared a dividend
distribution of one preferred share purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company to
purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company (the
“Preferred Stock™) at a price of $100.00 per one one-hundredth of a share of Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment as provided in the Rights Agreement (as
defined below). The dividend is payable to stockholders of record at the close of business on September 29, 2014. The description and terms of the Rights are
set forth in the Rights Agreement, dated as of September 17, 2014 and amended on October 8, 2014 (the “Rights Agreement”), between the Company and
Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc., as Rights Agent.

The Rights Agreement is intended to (i) reduce the risk of coercive two tiered, front end loaded or partial offers that may not offer fair value to all
stockholders, (ii) mitigate against market accumulators who through open market and/or private purchases may achieve a position of substantial influence or
control without paying to selling or remaining stockholders a fair control premium, and (iii) preserve the Board’s bargaining power and flexibility to

18



deal with third party acquirors and to otherwise seek to maximize values for all stockholders. The overall effect of the Rights Agreement and the issuance of
the Rights may be to render more difficult or discourage a merger, tender or exchange offer or other business combination involving the Company that is not
approved by the Board. The Rights Agreement is not intended to interfere with any merger, tender or exchange offer or other business combination approved
by the Board. Nor does the Rights Agreement prevent the Board from considering any offer that it considers to be in the best interest of the Company’s
stockholders.

The Company entered into Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 8, 2014 (the “Rights Agreement Amendment”), to the Rights Agreement. The Rights
Agreement Amendment provides that the Endo Merger Agreement and related transactions (described below in Note 10), including the consummation of the
Endo Merger and any related transactions, will not cause the Rights to become exercisable or cause any of the other protective features afforded to the
Company under the Rights Agreement to come into effect. Under the Rights Agreement Amendment, no party to the Endo Merger Agreement or the related
transactions shall be deemed to be the beneficial owner, as defined in the Rights Agreement, of any common shares held by any other party, solely by virtue
of the approval, execution, delivery, and/or the existence of the Endo Merger Agreement or the related transactions or the performance of such party’s rights
and obligations under the Endo Merger Agreement or the related transactions. The Rights Agreement Amendment further provides that all Rights established
under the Rights Agreement shall automatically expire immediately prior to the closing of the Endo Merger.

Equity Compensation Plan

Under the Company’s 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, and as approved by the stockholders of the Company (the “2004
Plan”), qualified and nonqualified stock options and stock awards may be granted to employees, non-employee directors and service providers. As of
September 30, 2014, the Company had granted non-qualified stock options and stock awards under the 2004 Plan and as of September 30, 2014, there were
4,268,129 shares available for future grants under the 2004 Plan.

(a) Stock Options

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company granted non-qualified stock options to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock pursuant to the 2004 Plan. Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to 100% of the market value of the common stock on the date of grant,
and generally have a 10-year contractual term and vest no later than four years from the date of grant (with some providing for automatic vesting upon a
change of control of the Company unless an acquirer in a change of control transaction assumes such outstanding option).

The following tables summarize stock option activity for the nine month period ended September 30, 2014:

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2014
Weighted
average
exercise

Stock options Shares price

Options outstanding:

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 7,345,535 $ 2182
Granted 1,307,865 27.50
Exercised (1,040,121) 20.66
Cancelled (805,275) 23.22

Outstanding at September 30, 2014 6,808,004 22.91

Exercisable at September 30, 2014 3,932,756 23.51

Aggregate intrinsic value of options was $50,046 which represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on the Company’s stock closing price of
$29.85 as of September 30, 2014, that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options as of that date.
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(b) Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PRSUs”)

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company granted a total of 217,600 PRSUs to certain senior management employees. The
PRSUs will be earned based on the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) as compared to a peer group of companies at the end of the performance
period, which performance period is January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2016. These PRSUs were granted with a weighted average grant date fair value of
$29.71 and the number of PRSUs reflected as granted represents the target number of shares that are eligible to vest subject to the attainment of the
performance goal. Depending on the outcome of the performance goal, a recipient may ultimately earn a number of shares greater or less than their target
number of shares granted, ranging from 0% to 150% of the PRSUs granted. Shares of the Company’s common stock are issued on a one-for-one basis for
each PRSU earned and participants vest in their PRSUs at the end of the performance period.

The fair value of the TSR PRSUs granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation and
utilized the following weighted average inputs and assumptions:

Closing stock price on grant date $27.70
Performance period starting price $20.36
Term of award (in years) 2.84
Volatility 38.29%
Risk-free interest rate 0.62%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Fair value per TSR PSU $29.71

The performance period starting price is measured as the average closing price over the last 20 trading days prior to the performance period start. The
Monte Carlo simulation model also assumed correlations of returns of the prices of the Company’s common stock and the common stocks of the comparator
group of companies and stock price volatilities of the comparator group of companies.

Compensation expense for the PRSUs is based upon the number and value of shares expected to vest and compensation expense is recognized over the
applicable vesting period. All compensation cost for the PRSUs will be recognized if the requisite service period is fulfilled, even if the market condition is
never satisfied. The following table summarizes the PSRU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2014:

Weighted-average
grant date fair

PRSUs value
Balance at December 31, 2013 174,333 $ 18.44
Granted 217,600 29.71
Vested (39,826) 18.74
Cancelled (113,285) 21.88
Balance at September 30, 2014 238,822 $ 27.22

(c) Restricted Stock Unit” (“RSUs”)

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company also granted RSUs to employees. These RSUs generally vest ratably over three years
at one year intervals from the grant date. Upon vesting, a RSU is converted into one share of the common stock of the Company. The following table
summarizes the RSU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2014:

Weighted-average
grant date fair

RSUs value
Balance at December 31, 2013 318,888 $ 17.93
Granted 366,313 29.10
Vested (99,468) 18.26
Cancelled (95,905) 24.94
Balance at September 30, 2014 489,828 $ 24.79
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(d) Restricted Stock Awards (“RSAs”)

RSAs are considered issued and outstanding at the time of grant, but are still subject to vesting and forfeiture. The compensation cost of restricted stock
awards is determined by their intrinsic value on the grant date. The following table summarizes the restricted common stock activity for the nine months
ended September 30, 2014:

Weighted-average
grant date fair

Restricted Stock value
Balance at December 31, 2013 21,460 $ 18.50
Granted 20,000 18.98
Vested (14,331) 16.88
Cancelled (549) 24.62
Balance at September 30, 2014 26,580 $ 19.89

(e) Valuation and Expense Information

The following aggregate stock-based compensation was included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Cost of goods sold $ 81 $ 39 $ 181 $ 107
Research and development 150 675 1,558 2,077
Selling, general and administrative 3,168 2,656 10,894 9,162
Total $ 3,399 $ 3,370 $ 12,633 $ 11,346

Stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of inventory amounted to $7,708 at September 30, 2014 and $6,613 at December 31, 2013. As of
September 30, 2014, the weighted-average period that unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to all share-based payments will be recognized
over was 2.0 years.

9. LITIGATION
Upsher-Smith NDA Litigation

On or about December 28, 2012, the Company and FCB I Holdings Inc. (“FCB”) became aware of a notice from Upsher-Smith Laboratories, Inc.
(“Upsher-Smith”) that advised the Company and FCB of Upsher-Smith’s filing of the Upsher-Smith NDA. This Paragraph IV certification notice refers to the
10 U.S. patents, covering Testim, that are listed in the Orange Book. These 10 patents are owned by FCB and are exclusively licensed to the Company and
will expire between 2023 and 2025. On January 28, 2013, the Company and FCB filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware against Upsher-Smith for infringement of FCB’s 10 patents listed in the Orange Book as covering Testim testosterone gel (“Delaware Upsher-Smith
505(b)(2) NDA Litigation”). On December 4, 2013, the Court granted Upsher-Smith’s motion for summary judgment, and the Court entered a final judgment
of non-infringement in favor of Upsher-Smith on December 30, 2013. On January 24, 2014, the Company filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit in Washington, D.C. (the “Appeals Court”) appealing the final judgment of non-infringement entered by the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware. On September 18, 2014, the Appeals Court granted the Company’s unopposed motion to dismiss the appeal. This
litigation is now concluded. Subsequent to the conclusion of this litigation, Upsher-Smith filed a motion with the District Court seeking reimbursement of its
legal fees by the Company.

The Upsher-Smith NDA was granted final approval by the FDA on June 4, 2014 with a brand name Vogelxo. On June 2, 2014, the FDA finally
approved Vogelxo, and, on or about July 2, 2014, Upsher-Smith launched Vogelxo and an authorized generic version of Vogelxo, known as testosterone gel.
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ANDA Litigation with Actavis

On May 24, 2012, the Company and FCB filed a lawsuit against Actavis, Inc. (“Actavis”) (then known as Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) for
infringement of FCB’s 10 patents listed in the Orange Book as covering Testim testosterone gel (the “Actavis Litigation”). The lawsuit was filed in the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey on May 23, 2012 in response to a notice letter, dated April 12, 2012, sent by Actavis Laboratories, Inc.
(NV) regarding its filing with the FDA of an ANDA for a generic 1% testosterone gel product. This letter also stated that the ANDA contained Paragraph IV
certifications with respect to the nine patents listed in the Orange Book on that date as covering Testim. The Company’s lawsuit filed against Actavis involves
those nine patents, as well as a 10th patent covering Testim that was issued on May 15, 2012 and is listed in the Orange Book. The trial commenced in
September 2014 and the parties are currently preparing and filing post-trial briefing and are preparing for closing arguments, which are currently scheduled
for November 18, 2014.

TRT Products Civil Litigation

As of October 27, 2014, the Company was involved in 66 individual civil actions related to its TRT products, Testim and TESTOPEL, wherein the
plaintiffs allege, among other things, bodily injury and, in some cases, wrongful death, based on theories of strict liability, fraud and inadequacy of the
product warning labels. The first complaint was served on the Company on February 27, 2014, shortly after the FDA announced that it had commenced a
safety investigation into TRT products. These lawsuits have been filed in certain federal and state courts. In several of the complaints filed against the
Company, the Company is named as a co-defendant with certain of its competitors who also sell TRT products such as AbbVie Inc., Eli Lilly and Company,
Endo, Actavis, Inc. and Pfizer, Inc., and in one lawsuit, McKesson Corporation (“McKesson”), a distributor of pharmaceutical products, including TRT, has
been named as a co-defendant.

DPT Laboratories, Inc. (“DPT”), a contract manufacturer of Testim, has also been named as a co-defendant in one current lawsuit. Pursuant to the terms
of the Company’s manufacturing agreement with DPT, the Company has acknowledged a duty to indemnify and defend DPT in this matter. In several of the
complaints filed against the Company, the Company is named as a co-defendant with its previous co-promotion partner, GlaxoSmithKline LLC (“GSK”).
Pursuant to the terms of the co-promotion agreement, the Company has acknowledged a duty to indemnify and defend GSK in these matters.

The Company has timely notified the carriers of those of its insurance policies with coverage it believes is applicable to the liability of the litigation
related to its TRT products. The Company’s primary insurer has acknowledged that it has a duty to defend and indemnify the Company with respect to the
allegations made in plaintiffs’ complaints as originally filed with the relevant courts; it has, however, reserved its rights to deny coverage on the basis of
certain allegations in the relevant complaints related to dishonest, fraudulent, malicious or intentionally wrongful acts.

Additionally, similar lawsuits have been filed against other manufacturers of TRT products. In some of these lawsuits, certain parties have moved to
request consolidation of various of the existing lawsuits into a multi-district litigation or MDL. On June 6, 2014, a Transfer Order was issued by the United
States Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation which created an industry-wide MDL in the Northern District of Illinois with Judge Kennelly presiding and
captioned as In re: Testosterone Replacement Therapy Products Liability Litigation (“TRT MDL”). The Transfer Order further ordered that certain lawsuits be
transferred to the TRT MDL, upon consent of the transferring court, for coordination or consolidation of pre-trial proceedings.

Based upon the number of similar complaints served on other manufacturers of TRT products, the Company believes it is reasonable to expect that the
Company will be named as a defendant and/or co-defendant in additional complaints.

None of the complaints allege specific damage amounts. The Company is investigating the underlying causes of actions upon which the complaints are
based. The Company filed a Motion to Dismiss in the first-filed case, in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California. Subsequently, the
plaintiff in that case voluntarily withdrew his lawsuit. The Company filed a similar motion in other matters.

22



ErecAid Civil Litigation

On August 7, 2014, a lawsuit was filed against the Company alleging that the Osbon ErecAid Manual Vacuum Therapy System has caused injury to the
plaintiffs based on theories of strict liability, design defect, failure to warn and loss of consortium. The Company was served on October 20, 2014. The
Company is investigating the underlying cause of action upon which the complaint is based and intends to vigorously defend against this civil action.

Slate and Actient Indemnification Matters

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of our wholly-owned subsidiary Actient in April of 2013, Actient entered into a merger agreement (the “Slate
Merger Agreement”), dated December 19, 2011, by and among Slate Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Slate”), Slate Pharmaceuticals Acquisition Corp., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Actient, and Douglas E. Eckert, solely in his capacity as the representative of the former Slate stockholders and warrant holders (the
“Slate Representative”). The Slate Merger Agreement provided for, among other things, indemnification of Actient in the event that Slate breached certain of
its representations and warranties in the Slate Merger Agreement. The Slate Merger Agreement also provided for, among other things, certain earn-out
payments to be made to the former Slate stockholders on a quarterly basis based upon the revenue generated by sales of TESTOPEL (the “Slate Earn-Out
Payments”). Pursuant to the terms of the Slate Merger Agreement, the Slate Earn-Out Payments are subject to offset in order to satisfy amounts that may be
due Actient under the relevant indemnification provisions of the Slate Merger Agreement. The Slate Earn-Out Payment due for the quarter ended March 31,
2014 was approximately $3.8 million (the “2014 Q1 Slate Earn-Out”), the Slate Earn-Out Payment due for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 was
approximately $0.5 million (the “2014 Q2 Slate Earn-Out™) and the Slate Earn-Out Payment due for the quarter ended September 30, 2014 was
approximately $2.4 million (the “2014 Q3 Slate Earn-Out”, and, collectively with the 2014 Q1 Slate Earn-Out and the 2014 Q2 Slate Earn-Out, the “2014
Slate Earn-Outs”).

On or about April 16, 2014, a complaint was filed against the Company alleging, among other things, that the development, design, testing, labeling,
packaging, promoting, advertising, marketing, distribution and selling of certain prescription medications, including TESTOPEL, directly and proximately
resulted in damages suffered by the plaintiffs (the “Amerson Action”). The Company believes that certain costs, including amounts in respect of defense,
settlement, or court awarded damages, related to the matters alleged in the Amerson Action, as well as any complaints filed against the Company, or any of its
affiliates or business partners that may have recourse against the Company for costs related to such complaints, properly would entitle the Company, as the
ultimate parent of Actient, to indemnification pursuant to relevant provisions of the Slate Merger Agreement. Consequently, Actient withheld the 2014 Q1
Slate Earn-Out from the former Slate stockholders and paid such amounts into a third party escrow account to be held until the matters set forth in the
Amerson Action, and any complaints making similar allegations that may be filed against the Company, any of its affiliates or business partners that may have
recourse against the Company for costs related to such complaints, are resolved. Since the time of the Amerson Action, the Company has been named in six
additional complaints related to TESTOPEL alleging causes of actions similar to those set forth in the Amerson Action.

On July 24, 2014, the Slate Representative filed a lawsuit in the Delaware Chancery Court, in the State of Delaware docketed as CA9940 against the
Company alleging that the withholding and payment into escrow of the 2014 Q1 Earn-Out was a breach of the Slate Merger Agreement and seeking
immediate payment of these funds to the Slate stockholders, declaratory judgment that the Company is not permitted to withhold future payments, and
unspecified other damages.

Pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Actient Merger Agreement”), dated as of April 26, 2013, by and among Actient Holdings
LLC (“Actient”), the Company, Opal Acquisition, LLC, GTCR Fund IX/B, L.P., and GTCR Fund IX/A, L.P,, solely in its capacity as representative (the
“Actient Representative”), the former stockholders of Actient agreed to indemnify the Company for the breach of any representations and warranties in the
Actient Merger Agreement. The indemnification obligations were secured by, among other things, $25 million (the “Actient Escrow Funds™) held in escrow
and due to be potentially released on September 30, 2014 as well as by potential future milestone payments.

On May 20, 2014, as supplemented by a letter dated August 29, 2014, the Company made an indemnification claim against the Actient Representative
in connection with the TESTOPEL product liability litigation described above. On September 29, 2014, the Company sent a Demand Certification to the
escrow agent requesting that the Actient Escrow Funds be released to the Company. On October 7, 2014, the Actient
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Representative notified the escrow agent that it objected to the release of the Actient Escrow Funds and that such escrow funds should remain in escrow until
the dispute is resolved. The Company anticipates that the Actient Representative will file a Complaint against the Company related to this matter.

QLT Merger-Related Litigation

On June 25, 2014, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “QLT Merger Agreement”) among the Company, QLT Inc., a
British Columbia corporation (“QLT”), QLT Holding Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of QLT (“QLT HoldCo”), and QLT
Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of HoldCo (“QLT AcquireCo”). The QLT Merger Agreement provided for a
business combination whereby QLT AcquireCo would be merged with and into the Company.

On July 21, 2014, James Novak, an alleged shareholder of the Company, filed suit in the Court of Common Pleas, Chester County, Pennsylvania,
against the Company’s Board of Directors, seeking to enjoin the proposed merger between the Company and QLT on the grounds that the Board of Directors
of the Company breached their fiduciary duties by approving a proposed transaction with QLT that purportedly does not reflect the true value of the
Company. The complaint also names as defendants the Company, QLT, QLT Holdco and QLT AcquireCo for allegedly aiding and abetting the Company’s
Board of Directors’ purported breach of fiduciary duty. On July 25, 2014, Raymon Hall, an alleged shareholder of the Company, filed suit in the Court of
Common Pleas, seeking to enjoin the proposed merger with QLT on the grounds that the Board of Directors of the Company breached their fiduciary duties
by approving a proposed transaction that purportedly does not reflect the true value of the Company. Plaintiff has also brought suit against QLT, QLT Holdco
and QLT AcquireCo for allegedly aiding and abetting the Company directors’ purported breach of fiduciary duty. On July 28, 2014, James Wernicke, an
alleged shareholder of the Company, filed suit in the Court of Common Pleas against the Company Board of Directors, seeking to enjoin the proposed merger
between the Company and QLT on the grounds that the Company’s Board of Directors breached their fiduciary duties by approving a proposed transaction
with QLT that purportedly does not reflect the true value of the Company. The complaint also names as defendants the Company and QLT for allegedly aiding
and abetting the Company’s Board of Directors’ purported breach of fiduciary duty. On August 21, 2014, Plaintiff Hall filed an amended complaint. On
August 25, 2014, Plaintiff Novak filed an amended complaint. In addition to the claims described above, both amended complaints include certain purported
disclosure claims related to the disclosures made in the preliminary proxy statement/prospectus included in the registration statement on Form S-4 filed with
the SEC on August 4, 2014.

Concurrently with the execution of the Endo Merger Agreement on October 8, 2014, the Company delivered to QLT written notice terminating the QLT
Merger Agreement. In conjunction with the termination of the QLT Merger Agreement, Endo paid to QLT, on behalf of the Company, the termination fee of
$28.4 million required pursuant to the terms of the QLT Merger Agreement, which amount is subject to reimbursement by the Company to Endo if the Endo
Merger Agreement is terminated under certain conditions. Accordingly, the QLT Merger Agreement was terminated effective October 8, 2014.

With the termination of the QLT Merger Agreement, the status of these litigations is currently unclear, but the Company believes they are without merit
and, if necessary, the Company intends to vigorously defend against these lawsuits.

General Information About Above Matters

The Company intends to vigorously defend against the foregoing matters. These pending matters have not yet progressed sufficiently through discovery
and/or development of important factual information and legal issues to enable the Company to determine a loss, if any, is probable. The Company is unable
to estimate the possible loss or range of loss for the legal proceedings described above. Litigation is unpredictable and, while it is not possible to accurately
predict or determine the eventual outcomes of these items, an adverse determination in one or more of these items currently pending could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows. The Company has incurred and expects to continue to
incur significant legal fees in the defense of these actions, which legal fees the Company currently expenses as incurred.
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Other Matters

The Company is party to various other actions and claims arising in the normal course of business. The Company believes that amounts accrued for
awards or assessments in connection with all such matters are adequate and that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s financial position or the manner in which the Company conducts its business. However, there exists a reasonable possibility of loss in
excess of the amounts accrued, the amount of which cannot currently be estimated. While the Company does not believe that the amount of such excess loss
could be material to the Company’s financial position, any such loss could have a material adverse effect on Company’s results of operations or the manner in
which the Company conducts its business in the period(s) during which the underlying matters are resolved.

10. PENDING TRANSACTION

Merger Agreement with Endo

On October 8, 2014, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Endo Merger Agreement”) with Endo International plc, a public
limited company incorporated under the laws of Ireland (“Endo”), Endo U.S. Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware (“Endo
HoldCo”), and Avalon Merger Sub Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware (“Endo AcquireCo”), providing for the merger of
Endo AcquireCo with and into the Company, with the Company as the surviving corporation and a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of Endo (the “Endo
Merger”).

The Endo Merger Agreement provides that, upon completion of the Endo Merger, each share of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Endo Merger (other than shares held by stockholders who exercise their appraisal rights under Delaware law and shares held by the
Company as treasury stock, held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company or held by Endo, Endo HoldCo, or Endo AcquireCo, which will be canceled
without consideration, and shares of the Company’s common stock subject to vesting or other lapse restrictions pursuant to the Company’s equity
compensation plan) will be converted into the right to receive, at the election of the holder thereof (subject to proration as described below): (1) a combination
of $16.625 in cash plus 0.2440 Endo ordinary shares (the “Standard Consideration”); (2) $33.25 in cash (the “Cash Election Consideration”); or (3) 0.4880
Endo ordinary shares (the “Stock Election Consideration”). Shares of the Company’s common stock with respect to which no election is made will receive the
Standard Consideration. Stockholders who make the Cash Election or the Stock Election will be subject to proration to ensure in respect of all shares of the
Company’s common stock (including shares subject to a Standard Election) does not exceed $845 million (which amount is subject to adjustment on the
terms set forth in the Endo Merger Agreement) and the total number of Endo shares issued to Company stockholders as a whole (including those stockholders
that make the Standard Election) do not exceed 18,610,000 Endo shares.

The respective Boards of Directors of the Company and Endo have unanimously approved the Endo Merger Agreement, and the Board has agreed to
recommend that the stockholders of the Company adopt and approve the Endo Merger Agreement, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Endo Merger
Agreement.

The completion of the Endo Merger is subject to the approval of stockholders of the Company. In addition, the Endo Merger is subject to other
customary closing conditions, including, among others, (i) the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, (ii) the declaration by the SEC of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 to be filed by
Endo with the SEC, and (iii) the approval of the listing on NASDAQ of the Endo shares to be issued in connection with the Endo Merger.

The Endo Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for both the Company and Endo, including in the event that the Merger is not
consummated by April 10, 2015, subject to extension by the parties to July 8, 2015 in the event that regulatory approvals have not been received. The Endo
Merger Agreement further provides that, upon termination of the Endo Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, including termination of the Merger
Agreement by Endo as a result of an adverse change in the recommendation of the Board, the Company may be required to pay Endo a termination fee of
$70,000 and reimburse Endo for the $28,400 termination fee paid to QLT in connection with the termination of the QLT Merger Agreement (described
below). Endo is required to pay the Company a termination fee of $150,000 if Endo terminates the Endo Merger Agreement due to a change in U.S. federal
tax law (whether or not such change in law is yet effective) after the date of the Endo Merger Agreement that, as a result of consummating the transactions
contemplated by the Endo Merger Agreement once effective, would have a material adverse effect on Endo or the Company terminates the Endo Merger
Agreement because Endo fails to confirm within a specified period that Endo has no right to terminate the Endo Merger Agreement following a change in tax
law.
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Termination of Merger Agreement with QLT

On June 25, 2014, the Company entered into the QLT Merger Agreement among the Company, QLT, QLT HoldCo, and QLT AcquireCo. The QLT
Merger Agreement provided for a business combination whereby QLT AcquireCo would be merged with and into the Company. Concurrently with the
execution of the Endo Merger Agreement, the Company delivered to QLT written notice terminating the QLT Merger Agreement. In conjunction with the
termination of the QLT Merger Agreement, Endo paid to QLT, on behalf of the Company, the termination fee of $28.4 million required pursuant to the terms
of the QLT Merger Agreement, which amount is subject to reimbursement by the Company to Endo if the Endo Merger Agreement is terminated under
certain conditions. Accordingly, the QLT Merger Agreement was terminated effective October 8, 2014.
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EXHIBIT 99.3
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of Endo International plc (“Endo International” or “Endo™) is presented
to illustrate the estimated effects of the consummated acquisition of Auxilium by Endo, the consummated acquisition of Paladin Labs Inc. (“Paladin”) and
related debt offerings to finance the transactions (See Note 1). The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30,
2014 and unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 are based upon, derived from and
should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Endo (which are available in Endo’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014) and historical unaudited financial statements of Auxilium (which are available in Auxilium’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014). The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2013 is based upon, derived from and should be read in conjunction with the historical audited financial statements of Endo Health
Solutions Inc. (“EHSI”) (which are available in EHSI’s 2013 Form 10-K, the historical audited financial statements of Auxilium (which are available in
Auxilium’s 2013 Form 10-K) and historical audited consolidated financial statements of Paladin (which are available in Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on
Form 8-K/A filed with the Commission on May 8, 2014). The acquisitions of Auxilium and Paladin have been treated as business combinations using the
acquisition method of accounting under the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 805, “Business Combinations,” which we refer to as ASC 805
for purposes of these pro forma financial statements. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information set forth below give effect to the
following, which we refer to, collectively, as the “Transactions”:

» the completion of the acquisition of Auxilium (see information presented in the “Auxilium Pro Forma Adjustments” column in the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined balance sheet and statement of operations);

»  the incurrence of $1,200.0 million of Senior Notes due 2025, which we refer to as the New Senior Notes, by Endo (see information presented in
the “Auxilium Pro Forma Adjustments” column in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet and statement of operations);

» the incurrence on February 28, 2014 of $1,525.0 million in term loan debt, which we refer to as the Existing Credit Facility by Endo and the
repayment of EHSI’s credit facilities, which we refer to as the EHSI Term Loan Credit Facility (see information presented in the “Paladin Pro
Forma Adjustments” column in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations);

« the incurrence on December 19, 2013 of $700.0 million of Senior Notes due January 2022, which we refer to as the 2013 Senior Notes, by Endo
(see information presented in the “Paladin Pro Forma Adjustments” column in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations);

» certain International Financial Reporting Standards, which we refer to as IFRS, to U.S. GAAP adjustments necessary to reflect legacy Paladin
under the same accounting principles as EHSI as further described in Note 2 (see information presented in the “Paladin Adjusted Historical
IFRS” and “Paladin Adjusted Historical U.S. GAAP” columns); and

+  certain other adjustments in connection with the consummation of the Paladin transaction (see information presented in the “Paladin Pro Forma
Adjustments” column in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations).

The pro forma adjustments are preliminary and are based upon available information and certain assumptions, described in the accompanying notes to
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information that management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may
differ materially from the assumptions within the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. Under ASC 805, assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at fair value. The fair value of Auxilium’s identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are based on a preliminary estimate by management of fair value as of September 30, 2014. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of
identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed will be recognized as goodwill. The establishment of the fair value of consideration for acquisitions requires
the extensive use of significant estimates and management’s judgment. Significant judgment is required in determining the estimated fair values of in-process
research and development which we refer to as IPR&D, identifiable intangible assets, certain tangible assets and certain liabilities assumed. Such a valuation
requires estimates and assumptions including, but not limited to, determining the timing and estimated costs to complete each in-process project, projecting
the timing of regulatory approvals, estimating future cash flows and direct costs in addition to developing the appropriate discount rates and current market
profit margins. Preliminary fair value estimates may change as additional information becomes available and such changes could be material.
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The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013 assume the completion of the Transactions occurred on January 1, 2013. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as
of September 30, 2014 assumes the acquisition of Auxilium and the incurrence of the New Senior Notes as if the events occurred on September 30, 2014. The
completion of the Paladin transaction and the incurrence of $1,525.0 million in debt by Endo and the repayment of EHSI’s existing credit facilities occurred
on February 28, 2014 and are reflected in the historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Endo as of September 30, 2014. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information has been prepared by management in accordance with the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) and is not necessarily indicative of the combined financial position or results of operations that would have been realized had the Transactions
occurred as of the dates indicated, nor is it meant to be indicative of any anticipated combined financial position or future results of operations that Endo will
experience after the Transactions. In addition, the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations do not include any
expected cost savings or restructuring actions which may be achievable subsequent to the Transactions or the impact of any non-recurring activity and one-
time transaction related costs or certain other adjustments which are considered significant. Certain financial information of Auxilium and Paladin as
presented in its respective consolidated financial statements has been reclassified to conform to the historical presentation in Endo’s and EHSI’s consolidated
financial statements for purposes of preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income taxes receivable
Deferred income taxes

Total current assets

Marketable securities

Property and equipment, net

Goodwill

Other intangibles, net

Deferred income taxes

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt
Deferred income taxes
Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Long-term debt, less current portion, net
Other liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Euro deferred shares
Common Stock
Additional paid-in capital
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock

Endo International plc

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet

As of September 30, 2014
(In thousands)

Total Endo International plc stockholders’ equity

Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Note:

Auxilium
Adjusted Auxilium
Endo Historical Pro Forma
Historical (Note 2) Adjustments
$ 708529 $ 74,029 $ (75,881)
215,157 — —
5,336 3,844 —
1,039,835 107,410 —
503,611 56,527 151,645
36,938 7,153 —
51,594 — 14,157
420,503 14,737 —
$ 2,981,503 $ 263,700 $ 89,921
2,584 — —
413,886 33,780 —
3,804,959 98,160 1,027,016
3,133,963 677,094 1,866,406
752 — —
251,902 73,920 34,300
$10,589,549 $1,146,654 $3,017,643
$ 273909 $ 34,755 $ —
1,836,594 157,990 (4,061)
153,229 16,926 (16,926)
1,024 — 54,213
$ 2,264,756 $ 209,671 $ 33,226
488,682 23,521 667,240
4,219,309 580,816 619,184
1,086,610 170,769 (37,797)
51 — —
15 510 (510)
3,076,343 631,292 1,299,481
(541,602)  (465,302) 432,196
(44,086) (108) 108
— (4,515) 4,515
$ 2,490,721 $ 161,877 $1,735,790
39,471 — —
$ 2,530,192 $ 161,877 $1,735,790
$10,589,549 $1,146,654 $3,017,643

Total Pro
Forma

(5a) $ 706,677
215,157

9,180
1,147,245

(5b) 711,783
44,091

(50) 65,751
435,240

$ 3,335,124
2,584

447,666

(5d) 4,930,135
(5e) 5,677,463
752

(5a) 360,122
$14,753,846
$ 308,664
(5f) 1,990,523
(58) 153,229
(5h) 55,237
$ 2,507,653
(5h) 1,179,443
(5) 5,419,309
(5f) 1,219,582
51

(53) 15
(5) 5,007,116
Gj)  (574,708)
(5)) (44,086)
(53) —
(5i) $ 4,388,388
39,471

$ 4,427,859
$14,753,846

Certain Auxilium and Paladin amounts have been reclassified to conform to Endo’s presentation. The accompanying notes are an integral part of the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.



Endo International plc
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:
Net pharmaceutical product sales
Devices revenues
Service and other revenues
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Litigation-related and other contingencies
Asset impairment charges
Acquisition-related and integration items, net
Operating (loss) income
Interest (income) expense, net
Net loss on extinguishment of debt
Other (income) expense, net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax
Income tax
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Discontinued Operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling
interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Endo International plc
Net loss per share attributable to Endo International plc
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares attributable to Endo International
plc
Basic
Diluted

Note:

Auxilium Paladin

Adjusted Adjusted Auxilium

Endo Historical Historical Pro Forma

Historical (Note 2) (Note 2) Adjustments

$ 1,660,878 $ 260,457 $ 42,552 $ —

359,425 — — —

56,928 20,704 — —

$ 2,077,231 $ 281,161 $ 42,552 $ —

976,899 133,345 21,478 62,995

603,573 206,397 10,390 —

113,772 33,519 1,299 —

1,135,443 — — —

— 16,514 — —

71,819 (12,199) 35,630 (2,427)

$ (824,275) $ (96,415) $(26,245) $ (60,568)

167,528 28,610 (1,112) 27,359

31,712 — — —

(17,731) (22)  (11,150) —

$(1,005,784) $(125,003) $(13,983) $ (87,927)

(338,592) 119  (5417)  (42,530)

$ (667,192) $(125,122) $ (8,566) $ (45,397)

2,251 — — —

$ (664,941) $(125,122) $ (8,566) $ (45,397)

2,895 — (246) —

$ (667,836) $(125,122) $ (8,320) $ (45,397)
s ¢4
$  (462)
144,604
144,604

(5k)

(5D

(5m)

(5n)

Paladin Pro
Forma

Adjustments

(5k)

(68,997) (51)

$ 63,879
2,219 (5m)
$ 61,660
22,894  (5n)
$ 38766
$ 38,766
$ 38,766
(50)
(50)

Total Pro
Forma

$ 1,963,887
359,425
77,632

$ 2,400,944

1,199,835
820,360
148,590

1,135,443
16,514
23,826

$ (943,624)

224,604
31,712
(28,903)
$(1,171,037)
(363,526)
$ (807,511)
2,251

$ (805,260)

2,649
$ (807,909)

&

(4.59)
(4.59)

@

175,901
175,901

Certain Auxilium and Paladin amounts have been reclassified to conform to Endo’s presentation. The accompanying notes are an integral part of the

unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.



Revenues:
Net pharmaceutical product sales
Devices revenues
Service and other revenues
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues
Selling, general and administrative

Endo International plc
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013
(In thousands, except per share data)

Auxilium Paladin
Adjusted Adjusted Auxilium
Endo Historical Historical Pro Forma
Historical (Note 2) (Note 2) Adjustments

$2,061,916 $382,412 $268,811 $ —
492,226 — — —
62,765 18,303 — —
$2,616,907 $400,715 $268,811 $ —

1,039,516 145,103 128,080 118,264
849,339 220,790 63,432 —

Research and development 142,472 50,211 8,373 —
Litigation-related and other contingencies 484,242 — — —
Asset impairment charges 519,011 — — —
Acquisition-related and integration items, net 7,952 52,696 —

Operating (loss) income

Interest (income) expense, net

Net loss on extinguishment of debt
Other (income) expense, net

$ (425,625) $(68,085) $ 68,926 $ (118,264)
173,601 28,655 (4,944) 45,811
11,312 — — —

(50,971) (378) 5,940

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax $ (559,567) $(96,362) $ 67,930 $ (164,075)

Income tax

(Loss) income from continuing operations

Discontinued Operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

(24,067)  (78,297) 17,562 (68,901)
$ (535,500) $(18,065) $ 50,368 $ (95,174)
(96,914) — — —
$ (632,414) $(18,065) $ 50,368 $ (95,174)

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 52,925 — 8 —
Net (loss) income attributable to Endo International plc $ (685,339) $(18,065) $ 50,360 $ (95,174)
Net loss per share attributable to Endo International plc

Basic $ (6.05)

Diluted $ (6.05)

Weighted average shares attributable to Endo International plc

Basic 113,295

Diluted 113,295

Note:

(5k)

(5m)

(5nm)

Paladin Pro

Forma

Adjustments

$

27,833
(11,021)

(16,812)

50,014

(4,846)

(61,980)

(70,742)

8,762

8,762

8,762

(5k)
(5D

(5m)
(5D

(5n)

(50)
(50)

Total Pro
Forma

$2,713,139
492,226
81,068

$3,286,433

1,458,796
1,122,540
201,056
484,242
519,011
60,648

$ (559,860)

293,137
11,312
(50,255)

$ (814,054)
(224,445)

$ (589,609)
(96,914)

$ (686,523)

52,933

$ (739,456)

RCED)
$  (4.33)

170,897
170,897

Certain Auxilium and Paladin amounts have been reclassified to conform to Endo’s presentation. The accompanying notes are an integral part of the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.



Endo International plc
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of transactions
Auxilium

On October 9, 2014, Endo announced that it had entered into the merger agreement pursuant to which it will acquire all of the outstanding shares of
common stock of Auxilium for a per share consideration of $33.25 in a cash and stock transaction valued at approximately $3,026.7 million. Subject to
aggregate cash and equity consideration limits, Auxilium stockholders were able to elect one of three options with respect to transaction consideration: the
stock election consideration, which consisted of 0.488 Endo shares per share of Auxilium common stock, the cash election consideration, which consisted of
$33.25 in cash per share of Auxilium common stock, or the standard election consideration, which consisted of $16.625 in cash and 0.244 Endo shares per
share of Auxilium common stock. The total amount of cash paid in respect of all shares of Auxilium common stock (other than excluded shares and Auxilium
restricted shares) could not exceed, subject to adjustment pursuant to the merger agreement, $845.0 million, or approximately 50% of the total equity value of
Auxilium, and the total equity consideration could not exceed 18,610,000 Endo shares, or approximately 75% of the total equity value of Auxilium. The
transaction closed on January 29, 2015.

Pursuant to the QLT loan agreement, Endo loaned to Auxilium the amount required to fund the payment of the QLT termination fee of $28.4 million to
terminate the QLT merger agreement. Auxilium terminated the QLT merger agreement effective October 8, 2014. The QLT termination fee loans are to be
repaid (together with interest thereon) on October 9, 2015.

In connection with the Auxilium acquisition, Endo issued $1,200.0 million of New Senior Notes. As of September 30, 2014, term loans under Endo’s
Existing Credit Facility amounted to $1,502.3 million.

Paladin

On November 5, 2013, EHSI announced that it had entered into an arrangement agreement to acquire Paladin in a stock and cash transaction and, on
February 28, 2014, the transaction closed and each of EHSI and Paladin was acquired by Endo International plc, a newly-formed Irish holding company.

In connection with the Paladin transaction, EHSI refinanced the EHSI Term Loan Credit Facility at closing through the Existing Credit Facility. The
Existing Credit Facility consists of a five-year senior secured term loan “A” facility in an amount up to $1.1 billion, a seven-year senior secured term loan
“B” facility in an amount up to $425.0 million, and a five-year revolving credit facility with an initial borrowing capacity of up to $750.0 million. The credit
facility contains an uncommitted expansion provision which permits up to $1.0 billion (or an unlimited amount if the secured leverage ratio, as defined in the
credit facility, is less than or equal to 2.75x) of additional revolving or term loan commitments from one or more of the lenders under the credit facility or
other lenders.

Under the Existing Credit Facility, $50.0 million is available for letters of credit and up to $50.0 million is available for swing line loans on same-day
notice, both of which may be increased to up to $75.0 million, subject to consents as described in the Existing Credit Facility.

Interest rates

The interest rates under the Existing Credit Facility are at LIBOR plus the applicable margin. For the purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial statements, LIBOR was assumed to be 0.25%, resulting in weighted average interest rates of 2.82% and 2.82% for the nine months ended
September 30, 2014 and the year ended December 31, 2013, respectively. For the purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements, Endo used the stated interest rate on the 2013 Senior Notes of 5.75% and the stated interest rate on the New Senior Notes of 6.00%.

Note 2. Basis of presentation

The acquisitions of Auxilium and Paladin acquisition were accounted for as business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting under
the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 805, “Business Combinations” (“ASC 805”). This unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information does not give effect to immaterial transactions, such as the acquisitions of Boca Pharmacal LLC, Sumavel® DosePro®, Dava Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. or Grupo Farmacéutico Somar by Endo and Actient Holdings LLC and STENDRA® by Auxilium.
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The acquisition method of accounting, based on ASC 805, uses the fair value concepts defined in ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurement,” which we refer
to as ASC 820. The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted in the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information to give effect to pro forma events that are (i) directly attributable to the acquisition, (ii) factually supportable, and (iii) with respect to the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations, expected to have a continuing impact on the consolidated results.

ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes the framework for measuring fair value for any asset acquired or liability assumed under U.S. GAAP, expands
disclosures about fair value measurements and specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on the nature of the inputs used to develop the fair value
measures. Fair value is defined in ASC 820 as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date”. This is an exit price concept for the valuation of an asset or liability. Market participants are assumed to be
buyers or sellers in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. Fair value measurement for an asset assumes the highest and best use by these
market participants, and as a result, assets may be required to be recorded which are not intended to be used or sold and/or to value assets at a fair value
measurement that do not reflect management’s intended use for those assets. Fair value measurements can be highly subjective and it is possible the
application of reasonable judgment could develop different assumptions resulting in a range of alternative estimates using the same facts and circumstances.

ASC 805 requires, among other things, that most assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination be recognized at fair value as of the
acquisition date and that the fair value of acquired IPR&D be recorded on the balance sheet. As of the date of this filing, Endo has not completed the detailed
valuation work necessary to arrive at the required estimates of the fair value of the Auxilium assets to be acquired and the liabilities to be assumed and the
related allocation of purchase price. Accordingly, the accompanying unaudited pro forma purchase price allocation is preliminary and is subject to further
adjustments as additional information becomes available and as additional analyses are performed.

The historical unaudited financial statements of Auxilium (which are available in Auxilium’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2014) and the historical audited financial statements of Auxilium (which are available in Auxilium’s 2013 Form 10-K) were prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Endo is conducting a review of Auxilium’s accounting policies in an effort to determine if differences in accounting policies require adjustment or
reclassification of Auxilium’s results of operations or reclassification of assets or liabilities to conform to Endo’s accounting policies and classifications. As a
result of that review, Endo may identify differences between the accounting policies of the two companies that, when conformed, are not expected to have a
material impact on these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. During the preparation of these unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial statements, Endo was not aware of any material differences between accounting policies of the two companies, except for certain
reclassifications necessary to conform to Endo’s financial presentation, and accordingly, this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information
does not assume any material differences in accounting policies between the two companies.
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Financial information presented in the “Auxilium Adjusted Historical” column in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet and
statement of operations has been reclassified to conform to the historical presentation in Endo’s consolidated financial statements as follows:

Reclassification included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet (in thousands):

As of September 30, 2014

Before After
Reclassification Reclassification Reclassification

Accounts receivable, other $ 23,806 $ (23,806) $ —
Accounts receivable, trade, net (includes $1,674 of cash

discounts reclassed to accrued expenses) $ 81,930 $ 25,480 $ 107,410
Inventories, non-current $ 56,828 $ (56,828) $ —
Other assets $ 17,092 $ 56,828 $ 73,920
Accounts payable $ 24,599 $ 10,156 $ 34,755
Deferred revenue, current portion $ 2,622 $ (2,622) $ —
Deferred rent, current portion $ 1,439 $ (1,439) $ —
Contingent consideration, current $ 47,434 $ (47,434) $ —
Accrued expenses (includes $1,674 of cash discounts reclassed

from accounts receivable) $ 114,977 $ 43,013 $ 157,990
Senior convertible notes $ 302,404 $  (302,404) $ —
Term loan, long-term portion $ 278,412 $ 302,404 $ 580,816
Deferred revenue, long-term portion $ 31,357 $ (31,357) $ —
Deferred rent, long-term portion $ 6,440 $ (6,440) $ —
Contingent consideration, long-term portion $ 132,972 $  (132,972) $ —
Other liabilities $ — $ 170,769 $ 170,769

Reclassification included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations (in thousands):

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014

Before After
Reclassification Reclassification Reclassification

Net revenues/pharmaceuticals $ 281,161 $  (20,704) $ 260,457
Other revenues $ — $ 20,704 $ 20,704
Amortization of purchased intangibles $ 59,444 $ (59,444) $ —
Cost of goods sold $ 73,901 $ 59,444 $ 133,345
Selling, general and administrative $ 219,713 $ (13,316) $ 206,397
Contingent consideration/acquisition-related and integration

items $  (25515) $ 13,316 $  (12,199)



For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Before After
Reclassification Reclassification Reclassification
Net revenues/pharmaceuticals $ 400,715 $  (18,303) $ 382412
Other revenues $ — $ 18,303 $ 18,303
Amortization of purchased intangibles $ 44,988 $  (44,9898) $ —

Cost of goods sold (includes $11,900 of acquisition related

costs reclassed to contingent consideration/acquisition-

related and integration items) $ 112,015 $ 33,088 $ 145,103
Selling, general and administrative (includes $29,400 of

acquisition related costs reclassed to contingent

consideration/acquisition-related and integration items) $ 250,190 $ (29,400) $ 220,790
Contingent consideration/acquisition-related and integration
items $ 11,396 $ 41,300 $ 52,696

The historical financial statements of Paladin for the two months ended February 28, 2014 and the year ended December 31, 2013 were prepared in
accordance with IFRS using the Canadian dollar as the reporting currency. Certain IFRS to U.S. GAAP adjustments have been made to the historical financial
statements of Paladin. For purposes of the unaudited financial information, the Canadian dollar denominated IFRS financial statements have been converted
to the U.S. dollar, using the average exchange rate of $0.9096 for the two months ended February 28, 2014 and $0.9710 for the year ended December 31,
2013, respectively.

Financial information presented in the “Paladin Adjusted Historical IFRS” column in the unaudited adjusted historical statement of operations has been
reclassified to conform to the historical presentation in our consolidated financial statements as follows:

Reclassification included in the Paladin unaudited adjusted historical statement of operations (in thousands of USD):

For the Two Months Ended February 28, 2014

Before After

Reclassification Reclassification Reclassification
Amortization of intangible assets $ 2,817 $ (2,817) $ —
Cost of revenues $ 18,661 $ 2,817 $ 21,478
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment $ 206 $ (206) $ —
Restructuring costs $ 961 $ (961) $ —
Selling, general and administrative $ 9,223 $ 1,167 $ 10,390
Other finance expense $ (18) $ 18 $ —
Foreign exchange loss $ (1,050) $ 1,050 $ —
Share of net loss from a joint venture $ 14 $ (14) $ —
Share of net income from associates $ (201) $ 201 $ —
Other income, net $ (9,895) $ (1,255) $ (11,150)
Interest income $ (1,602) $ 1,602 $ —
Interest expense, net $ 490 $ (1,602) $ (1,112)



Amortization of intangible assets
Cost of revenues

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Selling, general and administrative
Other finance expense

Foreign exchange loss

Share of net loss from a joint venture
Share of net income from associates
Endo arrangement transaction costs
Other income, net

Interest income

Interest expense, net

10

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Before
Reclassification
$ 19,781
$ 108,299
$ 1,256
$ 62,176
$ 1,440
$ (49)
$ 667
$ (91)
$ 4,846
$ (873)
$ (8,485)
$ 3,541

$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Reclassification

(19,781)
19,781
(1,256)

1,256
(1,440)
49
(667)
91
(4,846)
6,813
8,485
(8,485)

After
Reclassification
$ —
$ 128,080
$ _
$ 63,432
$ _
$ _
$ _
$ _
$ _
$ 5,940
$ _
$ (4,944)



Below is unaudited financial information showing adjustments to conform Paladin’s historical IFRS statements to U.S. GAAP.

Paladin Labs Inc.
Unaudited Adjusted Historical Statement of Operations
For the Two Months Ended February 28, 2014

(In thousands of USD)
Paladin Paladin
Adjusted Adjusted
Historical U.S. GAAP Historical
IFRS Adjustments U.S. GAAP
Revenues:

Net pharmaceutical product sales $ 42,552 $ — $ 42,552
Total revenues $ 42,552 $ — $ 42,552
Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenues 21,478 — 21,478

Selling, general and administrative 10,390 — 10,390

Research and development 1,299 — 1,299

Acquisition-related and integration items, net 35,630 — 35,630
Operating loss $(26,245) $ — $ (26,245)
Interest income, net (1,112) — (1,112)
Other income, net (11,150) — (11,150)
Loss before income tax $(13,983) $ — $ (13,983)
Income tax (5,509) 92(a) (5,417)
Net loss $ (8,474) $ (92) $ (8,566)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (246) — (246)
Net loss attributable to Paladin Labs Inc. $ (8,228) $ (92) $ (8,320)

(a) Reflects the period income tax effect of IFRS to U.S. GAAP adjustments.
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Paladin Labs Inc.
Unaudited Adjusted Historical Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

(In thousands of USD)
Paladin Paladin
Adjusted Adjusted
Historical U.S. GAAP Historical
IFRS Adjustments U.S. GAAP
Revenues:

Net pharmaceutical product sales $268,811 $ — $268,811
Total revenues $268,811 $ — $268,811
Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenues 128,080 — 128,080

Selling, general and administrative 63,432 — 63,432

Research and development 8,373 — 8,373
Operating income $ 68,926 $ — $ 68,926
Interest income, net (4,944) — (4,944)
Other expense, net 5,940 — 5,940
Income before income tax $ 67,930 $ — $ 67,930
Income tax 17,555 7(a) 17,562
Net income $ 50,375 $ 7) $ 50,368
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 8 — 8
Net income attributable to Paladin Labs Inc. $ 50,367 $ 7) $ 50,360

(a) Reflects the period income tax effect of IFRS to U.S. GAAP adjustments.

Note 3. Estimated acquisition consideration for Auxilium

Upon completion of the merger, each issued and outstanding share of Auxilium common stock was converted into the right to receive either $33.25 in
cash, 0.488 Endo shares or a mix of $16.625 in cash and 0.244 Endo shares, at each stockholder’s election, subject to the proration and adjustment procedures
described in the merger agreement. Auxilium stock options were settled in cash on a cashless exercise basis for Auxilium shares in an amount equal to the
positive difference, if any, between the Auxilium closing share price and the exercise price per share of Auxilium common stock applicable to such Auxilium
stock option.
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Of the 54,966,186 Auxilium shares outstanding that were eligible to make an election, 52,154,714, or 94.9%, elected to receive the stock election
consideration, 249,408, or 0.4%, elected to receive the cash election consideration, 110,448, or 0.2%, elected to receive the standard election consideration,
and the remaining 2,451,616, or 4.5%, did not make any election and thus received the standard election consideration. The result of the elections led to an
oversubscription of the stock election consideration. In accordance with the proration method described in the merger agreement, each Auxilium share for
which an election was made to receive the stock election consideration was instead entitled to receive approximately 0.3448 Endo shares and $9.75 in cash.
The acquisition consideration is as follows (in thousands, except for per share amounts):

Acquisition Consideration

Number of shares of Auxilium common stock receiving the stock election consideration 52,155
Exchange ratio—stock election 0.345
Number of Endo shares—as exchanged 17,985
Price of Endo shares on January 28, 2015 $ 81.19
Estimated fair value of 18.0 million Endo shares issued to Auxilium stockholders receiving the stock election consideration $1,460,177
Number of shares of Auxilium common stock receiving the stock election consideration 52,155
Per share cash consideration for shares of Auxilium common stock—stock election $ 9.75
Estimated cash distribution to Auxilium stockholders receiving the stock election consideration 508,747
Number of shares of Auxilium common stock receiving the cash election consideration 249
Per share cash consideration for shares of Auxilium common stock—cash election $ 33.25
Estimated cash distribution to Auxilium stockholders receiving the cash election consideration 8,293
Number of shares of Auxilium common stock receiving the standard election consideration 2,562
Exchange ratio—standard election 0.244
Number of Endo shares—as exchanged 625
Price of Endo shares on January 28, 2015 $ 81.19
Estimated fair value of 0.6 million Endo shares issued to Auxilium stockholders receiving the standard election consideration 50,755
Number of shares of Auxilium common stock receiving the standard election consideration 2,562
Per share cash consideration for shares of Auxilium common stock—standard election $ 16.63
Estimated cash distribution to Auxilium stockholders receiving the standard election consideration 42,594
Number of shares of Auxilium common stock to be paid through the delivery of Endo shares to settle the Auxilium

convertible notes 15,077
Exchange ratio for shares of Auxilium common stock related to the convertible notes 0.343
Number of Endo shares—as exchanged 5,171
Price of Endo shares on January 28, 2015 $ 81.19
Estimated fair value of 5.2 million Endo shares issued to Auxilium stockholders to settle the Auxilium convertible notes 419,841
Number of shares of Auxilium common stock to be paid in cash to settle the Auxilium convertible notes 15,077
Per share cash consideration for shares of Auxilium common stock related to the converts $ 9.88
Estimated cash distribution to Auxilium stockholders to settle the Auxilium convertible notes 148,965
Fair value of Auxilium equity awards outstanding—4.7 million at January 29, 2015 (1) 82,231
Fair value of assumed term loan 305,051
Total preliminary estimated acquisition consideration $3,026,654
Notes:

(1) Under ASC 805, the fair value of equity awards attributed to pre-combination services is accounted for as purchase price consideration. There were a
total of 4.7 million Auxilium equity awards outstanding as of January 29, 2015 with an estimated fair value of $82.2 million, which is accounted for as
purchase price consideration under ASC 805.

Note 4. Estimated purchase price allocation

The pro forma adjustments to allocate the acquisition consideration will remain preliminary until Endo’s management determines the final acquisition
consideration and the fair values of assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. The final determination of the purchase price allocation is anticipated to be
completed as soon as practicable after the closing. The final fair value adjustments necessary to value the assets acquired and liabilities assumed could differ
materially from the amounts presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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The allocation of the estimated purchase price to the fair value of Auxilium’s acquired assets and liabilities assumed as if the acquisition date was
September 30, 2014 is presented as follows (in millions):

Estimated acquisition consideration (see Note 3) $3,026.7
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Book value of Auxilium’s net assets 4a 161.9
Less settlement of pre-existing Auxilium liabilities 4a (98.5)
Less book value of Auxilium goodwill and other intangible assets 4b (775.3)
Less book value of convertible notes 4c 302.4
Less book value of the Auxilium term loan 4d 295.4
Net assets to be acquired (114.1)
Fair value adjustments of net assets acquired:
Inventory 4e 151.7
Deferred revenue and deferred rent 4f 41.9
Identifiable intangible assets:
Product rights and other intangibles 4g 2,349.3
IPR&D 4g 194.2
Deferred tax liabilities 4h (721.5)
Goodwill 4i $1,125.2

Adjustments included in the table above are for the following:

a. Reflects the acquisition of the historical book value of net assets of Auxilium as of September 30, 2014 and $118.6 million of estimated transaction costs,
including $50.2 million, net, related to the settlement of warrants and call options related to the Auxilium Convertible Notes and the QLT termination fee loan
of $28.4 million, less $20.1 million of estimated tax benefits, expected to be paid by Auxilium, which will reduce net assets to be acquired.

b. Auxilium’s historical balance sheet includes $775.3 million of goodwill and other intangible assets, which will be adjusted to fair value in purchase
accounting.

c. Reflects the book value of the Auxilium convertible notes of $302.4 million, which are assumed to be converted into Auxilium shares and included as part
of the acquisition consideration (Note 3).

d. Reflects the book value of the Auxilium term loan of $295.4 million, which was assumed and included as part of the acquisition consideration (Note 3).

e. Represents the estimated adjustment to step-up inventory to fair value. This estimated step-up in inventory is preliminary and is subject to change based
upon management’s final determination of the fair values of finished goods and work-in-process inventories. Endo will expense the fair value adjustment of
Auxilium’s inventory as the acquired inventory is sold. As there is no continuing impact of the inventory step-up on Endo’s results, the cost of goods sold
associated with the increased inventory value is not included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations.

f. Auxilium’s historical balance sheet includes of $34.0 million of deferred revenue and $7.9 million of deferred rent, which will be eliminated in purchase
accounting.

g. Of the total estimated consideration, approximately $2,349.3 million relates to definite-lived intangible assets which are estimated to be amortized over a
weighted average useful life of fourteen years. The final determination of the estimated useful lives may vary from the preliminary useful life determined for
pro forma purposes. A one year decrease in the useful lives of the definite-lived intangible assets would result in additional annual amortization expense of
$12.2 million. Amortization related to the value of the definite-lived intangible assets is reflected as a pro forma adjustment to the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined statements of operations. IPR&D of $194.2 million will be capitalized and accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets and will be
subject to impairment testing until completion or abandonment of the projects. Upon successful completion of the projects and launch of the products, Endo
will make a separate determination of useful life of the IPR&D intangibles and amortization will be recorded as an expense. As IPR&D intangibles are not
currently marketed, no amortization of these items is reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations.
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The fair value estimate for definite-lived intangible assets and IPR&D assets is preliminary and is determined based on the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset, based on the most advantageous market for the asset (i.e., its highest and best use). This preliminary fair value
estimate could include assets that are not intended to be used, may be sold or are intended to be used in a manner other than their best use. For purposes of the
accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, it is assumed that all assets will be used in a manner that represents their
highest and best use. The final fair value determination for definite-lived intangible assets and IPR&D assets may differ from this preliminary determination.

The fair value of definite-lived intangible assets is determined primarily using the “income approach”, which is a valuation technique that provides an
estimate of the fair value of an asset based on market participant expectations of the cash flows an asset would generate over its remaining useful life. Some
of the more significant assumptions inherent in the development of the definite-lived intangible assets valuations, from the perspective of a market participant,
include the estimated net cash flows for each year for each project or product (including net revenues, cost of sales, research and development costs, selling
and marketing costs and working capital/asset contributory asset charges), the appropriate discount rate to select in order to measure the risk inherent in each
future cash flow stream, the assessment of each asset’s life cycle, competitive trends impacting the asset and each cash flow stream as well as other factors.
The major risks and uncertainties associated with the timely and successful completion of the IPR&D projects include legal risk and regulatory risk. No
assurances can be given that the underlying assumptions used to prepare the discounted cash flow analysis will not change or the timely completion of each
project to commercial success will occur. For these and other reasons, actual results may vary significantly from estimated results.

h. Reflects deferred income tax liabilities primarily resulting from fair value adjustments for the identifiable intangible assets and inventory. This estimate of
deferred tax liabilities was determined based on the excess book basis over the tax basis of the fair value step-ups attributable to identifiable intangible assets
and inventory acquired at an estimated 36% blended statutory tax rate. This estimate of deferred income tax liabilities is preliminary and is subject to change
based upon the final determination of Auxilium’s blended statutory tax rate post-acquisition and management’s final determination of the fair values of
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed by jurisdiction.

i. Goodwill, currently estimated at $1,125.2 million, represents the excess of the preliminary estimated acquisition consideration expected to be transferred
over the preliminary values assigned to the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In accordance with ASC 350,
“Intangibles—Goodwill and Other”, goodwill is not amortized, but instead will be tested for impairment at least annually and whenever events or
circumstances have occurred that may indicate a possible impairment.

Note 5. Pro forma adjustments

a. The adjustment to cash and cash equivalents reflects the following (in thousands):

Debt proceeds (1) $1,200,000
Repayment of Auxilium’s existing debt (1) (305,051)
Debt issuance costs (2) (34,300)
Cash transaction costs (3) (145,700)
Total estimated purchase price to be paid in cash (4) (790,830)

Auxilium pro forma adjustments $ (75,881)

Notes:

(1) The issuance of $1,200.0 million in additional debt, which will be used for the acquisition of Auxilium and the subsequent repayment of $305.1 million
of the Auxilium assumed term loan;

(2) the estimated debt issuance costs of $34.3 million related to the issuance of additional debt;

(3) the incurrence of $27.1 million and $118.6 million, including $50.2 million, net, related to the settlement of warrants and call options related to the
Auxilium Convertible Notes and the QLT termination fee loan of $28.4 million, of estimated direct transaction costs of Endo and Auxilium,
respectively, associated with the Auxilium acquisition; and

(4) the estimated payment of $790.8 million in cash consideration to sellers for shares of Auxilium common stock (see Note 3).
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b. Represents the estimated fair value adjustment to step-up inventory to fair value. This estimated step-up in inventory is preliminary and is subject to
change based upon management’s final determination of the fair values of finished goods and work-in-process inventories. Endo will expense the fair
value adjustment of Auxilium’s inventory as the acquired inventory is sold. As there is no continuing impact of the inventory step-up on Endo’s results,
expense on the increased inventory value is not included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations.

C. Reflects an adjustment to income tax receivable primarily related to a tax benefit resulting from the estimated tax deductible portion of the Auxilium
transaction costs.

d. Represents the adjustment to reflect $1,125.2 million of goodwill, which is the excess of the preliminary estimated acquisition consideration expected
to be transferred over the preliminary values assigned to the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

e. The adjustments reflect the incremental amount necessary to record the fair value of the Auxilium intangible assets acquired of $2,543.5 million.
Approximately $2,349.3 million relates to definite-lived intangible assets which are estimated to be amortized over a weighted average useful life of 14
years. The final determination of the estimated useful lives may vary from the preliminary useful life determined for pro forma purposes. A one year
decrease in the useful lives of the definite-lived intangible assets would result in additional annual amortization expense of $12.2 million. Amortization
related to the value of the definite-lived intangible assets is reflected as a pro forma adjustment to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
statements of operations. IPR&D of $194.2 million will be capitalized and accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets and will be subject to
impairment testing until completion or abandonment of the projects. Upon successful completion of the projects and launch of the products, Endo will
make a separate determination of useful life of the IPR&D intangibles and amortization will be recorded as an expense. As IPR&D intangibles are not
currently marketed, no amortization of these items is reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations.

f. Represents an adjustment to eliminate $34.0 million of deferred revenue and $7.9 million of deferred rent.
Represents the subsequent payoff of Auxilium’s current portion of long-term debt of $16.9 million.

Reflects deferred income tax liabilities primarily resulting from fair value adjustments for the identifiable intangible assets and inventory. This estimate
of deferred tax liabilities was determined based on the excess book basis over the tax basis of the fair value step-ups attributable to identifiable
intangible assets and inventory acquired at an estimated 36% blended statutory tax rate. This estimate of deferred income tax liabilities is preliminary
and is subject to change based upon the final determination of Auxilium’s blended statutory tax rate post-acquisition and management’s final
determination of the fair values of tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed by jurisdiction.

i. The adjustment to long-term debt, less current portion, net consists of the following components (in thousands):
New Senior Notes $1,200,000
Adjustment to reflect the fair value of Auxilium debt 9,713
Endo repayment of Auxilium term loan, net of $16.9 million current portion (see 5g) (288,125)
Conversion of Auxilium convertible notes into Auxilium shares, which are included in
the acquisition consideration (302,404)
Net change $ 619,184

Endo estimates it will incur approximately $34.3 million in fees in connection with borrowings under the New Senior Notes. Accordingly, such fees are
capitalized and included in other assets in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet. Deferred debt issuance costs will be amortized
using an effective-interest method over the life of the related debt instrument, which is 10 years.

j- The adjustments to equity consist of the following components (in thousands):

Additional paid-in capital and common stock related to the issuance of common shares

of Endo to Auxilium shareholders as merger consideration (see Note 3) $1,930,773
The elimination of Auxilium’s historical shareholder’s equity (161,877)
Estimated direct transaction costs of Endo, net of estimated tax effect (33,106)
Auxilium pro forma adjustments $1,735,790

k. Reflects a net increase in amortization expense on the definite-lived intangible assets of Auxilium and Paladin, which were revalued upon acquisition.
These assets have an estimated weighted average useful life of 14 years and 11 years, respectively.
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Represents an elimination of the transactions costs associated with the Auxilium and Paladin transactions.

The net adjustments for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and the year ended December 31, 2013 consist of the following components,
assuming new financing consisting of $1,200.0 million of New Senior Notes (in thousands):

Auxilium Paladin
Nine Months Nine Months
Ended September 30, Year Ended Ended September 30, Year Ended
2014 December 31, 2013 2014 December 31, 2013

Estimated interest expense

(including the amortization of

debt issuance costs) on new

indebtedness $ 55,969 $ 74,466 $ 37,953 $ 90,907
Historical interest expense

associated with the EHSI Term

Loan Credit Facility — — (35,734) (40,893)
Historical interest expense

associated with the Auxilium

debt (28,610) (28,655) — —
Total interest expense adjustment $ 27,359 $ 45,811 $ 2,219 $ 50,014

On an as adjusted basis, after giving effect to the application of the proceeds from the New Senior Notes and the consummation of the Transactions, as
of September 30, 2014, Endo’s aggregate principal debt outstanding would have consisted of $1,505.7 million of floating rate debt and $4,071.9 million
of fixed-rate debt. Based on the pro forma amount of floating-rate debt outstanding at September 30, 2014, each 1/8% rise in interest rates would result
in approximately $1.9 million of incremental annual interest expense.

Income tax rates of approximately 36%, 36% and 27% for Endo, Auxilium and Paladin, respectively, have been used for the pro forma adjustments for
the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and for the year ended December 31, 2013. The income tax rates are the applicable blended statutory tax
rates of Endo, Auxilium and Paladin for the periods referenced. These blended state rates are estimates and do not take into account future income tax
strategies that may be applied to the combined entity.

Represents the adjustment to weighted average shares outstanding to account for the conversion of each Auxilium and Paladin outstanding share to
Endo shares (shares in thousands). The Auxilium equity awards, convertible notes and warrants and Paladin equity awards were excluded from the
diluted share calculations because their effect would have been anti-dilutive, as Endo was in a loss position for the nine months ended September 30,
2014, and for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Nine Months
Ended Year Ended
September 30, December 31,
2014 2013

Basic
Endo weighted average number of shares outstanding 144,604 113,295
Endo shares issued in replacement of Auxilium’s common shares 23,781 23,781
Endo shares issued in replacement of Paladin’s common shares (two months) 7,516 33,821
Pro forma weighted average number of basic common shares outstanding 175,901 170,897
Diluted
Endo weighted average number of shares outstanding 144,604 113,295
Endo shares issued in replacement of Auxilium’s common shares 23,781 23,781
Endo shares issued in replacement of Paladin’s common shares (two months) 7,516 33,821
Pro forma weighted average number of diluted common shares outstanding 175,901 170,897
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